THE ANALYSIS OF PARKIN IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

ANNIKA FLEUR MARGO HAYWOOD







THE ANALYSIS OF *PARKIN* IN *DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER*

A thesis presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Biology Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

Annika Fleur Margo Haywood Department of Biology May 2006



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-30631-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-30631-4

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a highly prevalent neurodegenerative disease characterized by loss of motor control and resting tremor. Mutations in a number of genes, including α -synuclein and parkin, have been associated with inherited forms of PD and many of these genes are linked to the ubiquitin/proteasome degradation system (UPS). Studies of the effects of mutations in these genes suggest that impairment of the UPS is central to PD. Expression of wild-type or PD-associated forms of human α -synuclein in Drosophila melanogaster neurons recapitulates some of the symptoms of PD such as the loss of motor control, development of neuronal inclusions, and degeneration of dopaminergic neurons. Parkin, an E3 ubiquitin protein ligase, may be involved in targeting α -synuclein for degradation. To analyse this interaction I generated transgenic flies expressing parkin under the control of the yeast enhancer upstream activating sequence (UAS). The α -synuclein and parkin transgenes were expressed in combination to examine their interaction in vivo. I showed that expression of *parkin* prevents the toxic effects of both mutant and wild-type human α -synuclein. Although the yeast protein Gal4 is a key component of the UAS/Gal4 ectopic expression system in Drosophila melanogaster, I showed that this protein can be toxic. Transgenic flies that express high levels of Gal4 in the developing eye show elevated apoptosis in the eye imaginal disc, which leads to a disorganised ommatidial array in the adult. Suppression of apoptosis by expression of the caspase inhibitor p35 prevents this. High levels of Gal4 expression in dopaminergic neurons produce larvae that have excessive apoptosis in the brain and reduced longevity in adult flies. I showed that *parkin* can suppress apoptosis and development defects in the eye. The ability of parkin to counter the toxicity of exogenous and endogenous proteins may provide great insight into our understanding of toxic protein-induced diseases.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank Dr. Brian Staveley for taking a chance on a foreign student having had only email contact with her. The help that he gave me to ensure that I settled in here in Newfoundland was beyond the call of a supervisor and I certainly appreciate that he went the extra mile. Brian or "the Brain" as we sometimes call him has been an exceptional inspiration and mentor for me throughout this Ph.D. process. I am especially grateful for the house calls with revisions of my thesis and papers when it was hard for me to come into school with my little daughter. I am also grateful to the members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Karen Mearow and Dr. Sukinder Kaur. Thank you for your support over the past five years and input into my thesis. A huge thank you must go to the members of the Staveley lab, some of who have gone on to other things and others who are still toiling away. In particular I would like to thank soon to be "teacher extraordinaire" Lisa Saunders and soon to be "Dr" Gillian Sheppard MD who were Summer NSERC students that worked, with my direction, on some aspects of the Parkinson's disease project. I would also like to thank soon to be "Drs" Jamie Kramer and Justin Moores for their help reading various chapters of my thesis as they were being put out for review as journal papers and Justin in particular for reading far more of my thesis than anyone should have been subjected to. Aslo thank you to Roy Ficken, Lisa Lee of the Deaprtment of Biology for help with photography and Scanning electron microscopy respectively, and to Kate Williams of the EM Unit, Health Sciences for assistance with sectioning of Drosophila eyes.

On a more personal note, I have to thank my family, first of all, Mum and Dad for bravely waving goodbye to me five years ago knowing that I would not likely return for some time. To my brother, Todd, for insisting that I will be a millionare with all this research and that he will come and be my valet and my sister, Sheena, for doing what sisters do best and supporting my every move and telling all her friends how smart I am.

Lastly but not least thanks to my own little family. The three dogs (Ninja, Kali and Blue) that nearly drove me nuts with their insistence that someone was at the door just when I would have a brilliant idea to write down and lovely Schultz (my cat) who believes a keyboard is meant to be walked on. I also have to thank little Brieanna (my daughter) for arriving a few days late to allow me to get more thesis work done and her room ready and for being better than coffee for keeping me awake by deciding that 2 am is an appropriate time to play for a couple of hours. Finally, Lloyd, my husband and talented electrical engineer, who spent many frustrating hours proofreading and trying to understand the "gene names italised and proteins not" concept. My thanks to all of you.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my biggest supporter of my academic career, my Grandmother Margaret Laird or as I knew her Mardy, who sadly passed away in January 2002. I thank her for all her support throughout my budding academic career and I hope that she can see me now. I finally finished my Ph.D.



Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledge	mentsiii
Dedication	iv
Table of Con	tents
List of Figure	iv
List of Table	AI ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
List of Abbre	viations
List of Abbre	VIALIOIIS
Chapter 1:	Models of Parkinson's disease1-1
1.1	Neurodegenerative diseases and Drosophila melanogaster
1.2	Introduction to Parkinson's disease1-3
1.3	Non-genetic Models of Parkinson's disease 1-5
1.4	The genetic basis of Parkinson's disease1-9
1.4.1	The structure and functions of α -synuclein
1.4.2	Protein toxicity and α -synuclein
1.4.3	Parkin functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase1-16
1.4.4	Parkin and protein detoxification1-20
1.4.5	Mutations in <i>PTEN induced kinase 1</i> are associated with Parkinson's disease 1-21
1.4.6	Mutations in DJ-1 are associated with Parkinson's disease
1.4.7	Mutations in <i>Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1</i> are associated with Parkinson's disease
1.4.8	Mutations in <i>leucine rich repeat kinase-2</i> are associated with Parkinsonism.
1.5	Genetic models of Parkinson's disease1-23
1.5.1	Mutant or altered DJ-1 models of PD 1-24
1.5.2	Mutant or altered α-synuclein models of PD1-25
1.5.3	Mutant or altered parkin models of PD1-29
1.6	Thesis Objectives1-31
1.7	References
Chapter 2:	Parkin counteracts symptoms in a <i>Drosophila</i> model of
	Parkinson's disease2-44
2.1	Introduction2-45
2.2	Materials and Methods2-48
2.2.1	Bioinformatic and sequence analysis2-48
2.2.2	Fly stocks and culture
2.2.3	In situ hybridization analysis2-50
2.2.4	Aging analysis
2.2.5	Locomotion assay
2.2.6	Scanning electron microscopy of the Drosophila eye2-51

2.2.7	Histological examination of Drosophila adult retinas2-51				
2.3	Results				
2.3.1	Characterisation of Drosophila melanogaster parkin				
2.3.2	The parkin protein is well conserved2-5				
2.3.3	Parkin suppresses degeneration of the ommatidial array in flies that express α-synuclein in the eye				
2.3.4	Directed-expression of <i>parkin</i> to dopaminergic neurons does not climbing ability	affect 2-58			
2.3.5	Parkin suppresses α -synuclein induced loss of climbing ability				
2.4	Discussion				
2.5	Conclusion				
2.6	Additional data for Chapter 2				
2.6.1	Testing of transgenic response to Gal4				
2.7	References				
Chapter 3:	Parkin reduces mutant α-synuclein-induced degener fly model of Parkinson's	ration in a 3-72			
3.1	Introduction				
3.2	Methods				
3.2.1	Fly stocks and culture				
3.2.2	Climbing ability assay				
3.2.3	Aging analysis	3-77			
3.2.4	Histological examination of adult Drosophila melanogaster retin	as 3-77			
3.3	Results				
3.3.1	Directed expression of <i>parkin</i> increases the climbing ability of fli express mutant α -synuclein	es that			
3.3.2	Directed expression of <i>parkin</i> suppresses mutant α -synuclein-inc	luced			
	degeneration of the ommatidial array				
3.4	Discussion				
3.5	References				
Chapter 4:	Analysis of <i>parkin</i> expression in the developing adult wing	t eye and 4-87			
4.1	Introduction	4-88			
4.2	Materials and Methods				
4.2.1	Fly stocks and culture				
4.2.2	Wing mounts and wing length analysis				
4.2.3	Scanning electron microscopy of the Drosophila eye				
4.3	Results	4-91			
4.4	Discussion				
4.5	References				
Chapter 5:	A method to generate truncated <i>parkin</i> transgene	5-99			
5.1	Introduction	5-100			
5.2	Materials and Methods	5-100			
5.2.1	Generation of plasmid with a truncated form of <i>parkin</i>	5-100			
		vi			

5.3	References)2
Chapter 6:	Dopa decarboxylase (<i>Ddc</i>)- <i>Gal4</i> dramatically reduces life	12
	span	13
6.1	Introduction)4
6.2	Materials and Methods)5
6.2.1	Fly stocks and culture)))(
6.2.2	Aging analysis	10 16
63	Locomotion assay)0)6
6.4	References	10
Chapter 7:	Analysis of apoptosis in <i>Drosophila melanogaster</i> with	-
	multiple inserts of the <i>Dac-Gal4</i> transgene	. 1
7.1	Introduction7-1	12
7.2	Materials and Methods7-1	13
7.2.1	Fly stocks and culture	13
7.2.2	Acridine Orange staining of <i>Drosophila</i> larval brains	15
7.2.3	Visualisation of GFP in <i>Drosophila</i> larval brains	15
7.3	Results and Discussion	13
/.4	Kelerences	19
Chapter 8:	Gal4-induced cell death is suppressed by <i>parkin</i> 8-12	.0
8.1	Introduction8-12	21
8.2	Materials and Methods	23
8.2.1	Fly stocks and culture	23
8.2.2	Scanning electron microscopy of the <i>Drosophila</i> eye	23
8.2.3	Histological examination of <i>Drosophild</i> adult retinas	24 54
0.2.4 9.3	Activitie Orange staining of imaginal discs	24)/
831	High levels of Gald expression cause anoptosis)4
832	Expression of <i>parkin</i> prevents Gal4-induced ommatidial disarray 8-1	26
8.3.3	Expression of <i>DIAP2</i> does not prevent Gal4-induced defects	28
8.3.4	Parkin mildly suppresses Gal4-induced disorganisation of the ommatidial	
	array	28
8.3.5	Expression of parkin prevents Gal4-induced apoptosis	30
8.4	Discussion	30
8.5	References	32
Chapter 9:	Concluding discussion and future directions9-13	\$5
9.1	How do α-synuclein and parkin interact?	36
9.2	The Gal4 phenomenon: Can it be used to model toxic protein-induced	20
93	UISCASCS:	50 40
9.3 9.4	Future research Q-1	τυ 42
9.5	References	44

List of Figures

Figure 1-1	Schematic diagram of a dopaminergic neuron showing the cellular targets of toxic compounds in PD models
Figure 1-2	Diagrammatic representation of a possible explanation for the formation of Lewy bodies
Figure 1-3	: Schematic diagram of ubiquitin/proteasome pathway1-18
Figure 1-4	: Schematic diagram of the UAS/Gal4 expression system in Drosophila
Figure 2-1	: Dipteran and mammalian parkin proteins are well conserved
Figure 2-2	: Expression of <i>parkin</i> suppresses α -synuclein-induced retinal degeneration2-57
Figure 2-3	Expression of α -synuclein with and without parkin does not affect the external morphology of the eye
Figure 2-4	: Expression of <i>parkin</i> does not affect climbing ability or life span
Figure 2-5	: Expression of <i>parkin</i> suppresses α -synuclein-induced loss of climbing ability 2-62
Figure 2-6	: Model of parkin-directed ubiquitination of α -synuclein
Figure 2-7	: Transgenic Drosophila melanogaster express parkin
Figure 3-1	Expression of <i>parkin</i> increases climbing ability of flies expressing <i>α-synuclein</i>
Figure 3-2	: Expression of <i>parkin</i> suppresses α -synuclein-induced retinal degeneration 3-82
Figure 4-1	Expression of <i>parkin</i> in the morphogenetic furrows does not affect the adult eye
Figure 4-2	Expression of <i>parkin</i> early in the developing eye results in slightly smaller adult eyes
Figure 4-3	Expression of parkin in the developing wing does not alter the overall structure of the wing or wing length
Figure 4-4	: Expression of <i>parkin</i> in the dorsal wing margin reduces the size of the wing 4-96
Figure 6-1	: <i>Ddc-Gal4</i> reduces life span
Figure 6-2	: Ddc-Gal4 heterozygotes have normal locomotor (climbing) activity
Figure 7-1	Dopaminergic specific expression of GFP shows staining in the dopaminergic neurons and seroteroneurgic neurons
Figure 7-2	Expression from multiple copies of a transgene of <i>Gal4</i> in dopaminergic neurons shows increased apoptosis in the brain lobes
Figure 8-1	Expression of <i>p35</i> inhibits developmental defects and apoptosis in <i>GMR-Gal4</i> homozygotes
Figure 8-2	: Expression of <i>parkin</i> prevents Gal4-induced ultra-structure disarray
Figure 8-3	Expression of <i>parkin</i> prevents <i>Gal4</i> -induced apoptosis in the developing eye imaginal disc but only mildly suppresses retinal disarray
Figure AI-	1: Survival of flies expressing wild type (<i>PI3K</i>) and dominant negative <i>PI3K</i> (<i>PI3K</i> ^{DN}) in the dopaminergic neurons
Figure AI-	2: The measurement of climbing ability of flies expressing wild type (<i>PI3K</i>) and dominant negative $PI3K$ ($PI3K^{DN}$) in the dopaminergic neurons

List of Tables

Fable 1-1: Genes associated with Parkinson's disease	10
Table 3-1: Comparison of the non-linear fitted curves for climbing ability showing slopes (K),
standard error (SE), and confidence intervals (CI)	80
Table 4-1: Wing length of flies that express parkin in the developing wing pouch via the C5-	
Gal4 wing transgene	97
Table 4-2: Wing length of flies that express parkin in the presumptive dorsal region of the	
wing imaginal disc via the <i>ap-Gal4</i> transgene	97
Table 7-1: Mating scheme to obtain larval Drosophila with multiple copies of the Ddc-Gal4	
transgene	14

х

List of Abbreviations

μL	microlitres
6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine
A30Pa-synuclein	alanine to proline amino acid exchange at position 30 of human α -synuclein
A53Tα-synuclein	alanine to threonine amino acid exchange at position 53 of human α -
·	synuclein
ADPD	Autosomal Dominant Parkinson's disease
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance between groups
ар	apterous
ÂRJP	Autosomal Recessive Juvenile Parkinsonian
BDGP	Berkley Drosophila Genome Project
CHIP	carboxy terminus of the HSP/HSC70 interacting protein
CSPa	cystein string protein a
СуО	Curly of Oscar – a multiply inverted balancer chromosme II in Drosophila
dADP	Deoxyadenosine diphosphate
dATP	deoxyadenosine triphosphate
Ddc	DOPA decarboxylase
DIAP 2	Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis 2
DIG	Digoxigenin
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
E1	ubiquitin activating enzyme
E2	ubiquitin conjugating enzyme
E3	ubiquitin ligase enzyme
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ey	eyeless
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
GMR	glass mediated receptor
Gprk2	G-protein coupled receptor kinase
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide
HSP	Heat Shock Protein
IBR	inbetween ring domain
InR	insulin receptor
K	lysine
LRRK2	gene name for dadarin
mL	millilitres
MPP	1-methly-4-phenyl-2,3-diydropyridinium
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
NAC	non-β amyloid component
NaOH	sodium hydroxide
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnolgy Information
Pael-R	Pael receptor
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PBT	phosphate buffered saline with 0.1% Tween20
PCR	polymerase chain reaction

PD	Parkinson's disease
RB	ringbox
RING	Really interesting new gene
ROCO	Roc (Ras of complex proteins)/COR (c-terminal of Roc)
ROS	reactive oxygen species
rpr	reaper
selegiline	L-deprenyl
SEM	scanning electron micrograph
SNARE	soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein (SNAP)
	receptor
SNCA	Gene name for α -synuclein
TM3	third chromosome multiply inverted – a Drosophila balance chromosome
Tween-20	Polyoxyethylenesorbitan monolaurate
UAS	upstream activating sequence
UbcH7or 8	ubiquitin conjugating enzyme human 7 or 8
UBL	ubiquitin binding domain
Uch-L1	Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase- L1
UPD	unique parkin domain
UPR	unfolded protein response
WTα-synuclein	wild-type human α -synuclein

Chapter 1: Models of Parkinson's disease

1.1 Neurodegenerative diseases and *Drosophila melanogaster*

As the mean age of the population increases, age-related diseases such as Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease and sporadic cancers are gaining in prominence. Most of these diseases have a genetic basis, or at the least a genetic bias, and to this end research has been undertaken to learn the genetic factors that contribute to age-related diseases. There is much to be gained by observation of the behaviour patterns of aging humans and by post-mortem analysis, however it is not practical nor ethical to conduct experiments with chemicals that have unknown toxicologies, to do invasive procedures, or to conduct selective breeding studies to look at genetic interactions. The development of disease models in an organism that is short-lived, and easy to manipulate, analyse, and sacrifice, is a reasonable approach to understanding age-related disease. Evidence supports that study of disease models is an extremely valuable approach in the investigation of many health problems. In order to understand the pathology of a disease and to test potential therapeutic compounds, a disease should be modeled in an organism that facilitates ready analysis. Understanding the mechanisms involved in disease pathology enables rational selection of possible therapeutic agents.

Models of several neurodegenerative diseases have been developed using a range of methods and organisms (Chan, 2004; Marsh and Thompson, 2004). As an alternative to humans, disease phenotypes, both behavioural and morphological, can be replicated in other organisms. In order to develop disease models, both behavioural and biochemical analysis must be feasible and reproducible, and the findings must be translatable into implications for the disease. Model organisms, such as *Drosophila melanogaster*, have up to 77% of genes

involved in human diseases (Fortini *et al.*, 2000; Reiter *et al.*, 2001) and the basic cellular mechanisms, in terms of structure and function, are often highly conserved. Over-expression of human disease genes in flies has been successful in modelling the pathology of amyloid β_{1-42} in Alzheimer's disease, α -synuclein in PD and expanded polyglutamine tract proteins similar to those found in Huntington's disease (Driscoll and Gerstbrein, 2003). The generation of transgenic flies is relatively simple, and cost effective, and both molecular and behavioural studies are feasible, which make them ideal model organisms to find or evaluate potential therapeutic strategies of many neurodegenerative diseases.

1.2 Introduction to Parkinson's disease

PD is a neurodegenerative disorder, first described nearly two centuries ago (Parkinson, 1817) that is characterized by muscle tremors in stationary limbs, bradykinesia and rigidity. As the disease develops, the balance and memory of the affected person becomes progressively impaired until a premature death (Spacey and Wood, 1999). Post-mortem analysis of affected patients reveals the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons and the presence of filamentous protein inclusions (Lewy bodies) within the cell bodies and neurites of the substantia nigra pars compacta region of the brain (Spacey and Wood, 1999). Notably, not all PD patients have Lewy bodies (Hayashi *et al.*, 2000; Takahashi *et al.*, 1994) and conversely, some non-PD-symptomatic patients were shown to have Lewy bodies (Forno and Langston, 1993; Gibb and Lees, 1988; Goldberg and Lansbury, 2000). In recent years, many forms of PD, particularly those with early onset, have been shown to have an inherited basis. Approximately 5-10% of all disease cases of PD have an inherited basis (Mizuno *et al.*, 2001).

Animal models, many generated by chemical means and, more recently, by genetic methods have been invaluable in the study of PD (Betarbet et al., 2002). For example, mice or rats treated with methamphetamine show a reduction of dopamine production, while treatments with 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA), 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), paraquat, rotenone or 3-nitrotyrosine, result in the loss of dopaminergic neurons. The loss of these neurons is generally through oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, a feature of PD. A genetic model through over-expression of human wild-type α -synuclein in mice results in the accumulation of α -synuclein-rich protein-inclusions, loss of dopaminergic neurons and impaired motor performance (Masliah et al., 2000). A primate model of PD was recently developed via specific expression of human α -synuclein in the substantia nigra of adult marmosets (Kirik *et al.*, 2003). Directed expression of mutant α -synuclein, the form associated with familial PD (human α -synuclein A53T), in Drosophila melanogaster led to degeneration of dopaminergic neurons (Feany and Bender, 2000; Giasson et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2002b). Drosophila parkin null mutants have reduced life spans and locomotor defects along with increased sensitivity to oxidative stress and overall smaller cell size (Greene et al., 2003; Pesah et al., 2004). Recent reports have described Drosophila DJ-1 mutants that have oxidative stress-induced locomotor dysfunction and disrupted oxidative stress responses along with increased sensitivity to environmental toxins (Menzies et al., 2005; Meulener et al., 2005; Park et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2005). While all of these models incorporate features of PD, none of them completely captures the all aspects of the disease; nevertheless much insight has been gained from each model.

1.3 Non-genetic Models of Parkinson's disease

Several animal models of PD were developed through the exposure to various chemical compounds in a variety of well-studied organisms. While many chemicals were explored, only three, MPTP, rotenone, and 6-OHDA, produced an approximate reproduction of disease symptoms when model organisms were exposed to these substances. Notably, the examination of each of these models has led to revision of the theories of potential causes of PD and evaluation of therapeutic agents.

An illicit drug preparation that left three human subjects with severe permanent PD like symptoms was found to accidentally contain MPTP (Langston *et al.*, 1999; Weingarten, 1988). MPTP crosses the blood-brain barrier and is metabolized to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-2,3- diydropyridinium (MPP⁺) by monoamine oxidase-B in astrocytes. MPP+ is then selectively taken into dopaminergic neurons via dopamine transporters (Figure 1-1) (Javitch *et al.*, 1985). These patients were shown to be responsive to levodopa treatment, a typical treatment for PD, in the earliest stages of their illness. Rhesus monkeys treated with MPTP showed symptoms similar to those of human PD patients that were subsequently relieved by treatment with levodopa (Burns *et al.*, 1983). Pathologically, loss of nerve cells in the pars compacta of the substantia nigra and reduced dopamine content in the striatum of the brain were observed. Mice treated with MPTP showed an increase in reactive oxygen species, dopaminergic neuron loss and *NADPH oxidase* up-regulation, traits that are also associated with PD (Wu *et al.*, 2003). MPTP-treated mice show an increase in the pro-apoptotic protein, Bax, and mutant mice that lack *Bax* are resistant to MPTP induced PD (Vila *et al.*, 2001). The MPTP model has given credence to the idea that oxidative stress plays an important role in PD pathogenesis



Figure 1-1: Schematic diagram of a dopaminergic neuron showing the cellular targets of toxic compounds in PD models.

The cell represents a substantia nigral dopaminergic neuron with the cell body in the substantia and terminal in the striatum. 6-OHDA can be targeted to the striatum and its action is through oxidative stress mechanism. MPTP is taken up through the dopamine transporters and inhibits complex 1 of the electron transport chain. Rotenone inhibits complex 1 also. Mutations in α -synuclein can result in toxic oligomers of the protein. Mutations in parkin lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress induced apoptosis. Adapted from Bertarbet *et al.*, (2002).

and that apoptosis is the likely method of dopaminergic cell death. A conceptual discrepancy with this model is that MPTP administration does not recapitulate the progressive nature of PD; rather the onset of symptoms begins very shortly after a large dose of MPTP. Animals that are administered small MPTP doses long-term can recover from motor behaviour defects, suggesting that perhaps, a moderate toxic dosing regime may mimic the progressive nature of the disease.

An increased risk of developing PD has been found among agriculture and horticulture workers (Lee *et al.*, 2002a; Tuchsen and Jensen, 2000) and two pesticides have been speculated to cause PD. Rotenone is a naturally occurring compound that is used as an "organic" insecticide (Betarbet *et al.*, 2000). It is a lipophilic compound that can cross the blood-brain barrier, and it is a potent inhibitor of mitochondrial electron transport chain complex 1 (Figure 1-1). Ir has been used to model PD both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Rotenonetreated rats showed selective degeneration of striatal dopaminergic neurons (reviewed in Betarbet *et al.*, 2000). The nigral neurons in these rats showed an accumulation of fibrillar cytoplasmic inclusions that contain both ubiquitin and α -synuclein. The resulting behavioural phenotypes included a flexed or stooped posture, rigidity, and spontaneously shaking paws similar to the resting tremor seen in PD. *In vitro* experiments have shown that rotenone can induce a conformational change in α -synuclein and increase the rate of fibril formation (Uversky *et al.*, 2001), a pathological feature of α -synuclein-induced PD. This particular model reproduces all the main features of PD, including the progressive and systematic degeneration of the nigrostriatal pathway. For non-inherited PD, this model may become a

very powerful model of PD and be an ideal testing ground for preliminary drug trials, as most of the pathogenic mechanisms of the disease are captured.

A specific neurotoxin, 6-OHDA, uses the same catecholamine transport system as dopamine, and affects catecholaminergic pathways through an oxidative stress mechanism to induce PD-like symptoms (Figure 1-1) (Ungerstedt, 1968). While 6-OHDA has been used to induce PD-like symptoms in a wide range of model organisms, from Caenorhabditis elegans to nonhuman primates, the majority of research has been conducted with rats. As 6-OHDA is unable to cross the blood-brain barrier, this chemical must be injected into the brain in order to target nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons. The dopaminergic neurons start to degrade within 24 hours and dopamine is fully depleted from the striatum 2-3 days later (reviewed in Betarbet et al., 2002). The extent of the lesion is dependent upon the amount of 6-OHDA injected and it is possible to have a slower degeneration of neurons by injecting into the striatum as opposed to the nigrostriatal tract (Przedborski et al., 1995). This model has been used to test alternative non-drug therapies such as acupuncture, which was demonstrated to have protective effects against neuronal death (Park et al., 2003). The interesting feature of this model is the routine experimental protocol of injecting 6-OHDA into one hemisphere and leaving the other hemisphere as an internal control. While this model has some limitations, it has been effectively used to test the behavioural effects of widely used pharmacological challenges such as amphetamines, apomorphine, selective receptor agonists, and levodopa, and the effects of treatments that can promote recovery like neuropeptides and neurotrophins (reviewed in Schwarting and Huston, 1996). The 6-OHDA model produces sudden death of neurons instead of the progressive degeneration of neurons seen in PD. In addition, neither Lewy bodies nor other cytoplasmic inclusions have been observed in this model. In other

words, although this model has some valid applications, the progressive nature of PD is not recapitulated.

While the MPTP, rotenone and 6-OHDA models are not the only models of PD they have been the most heavily studied and also appear to have the closest similarity to the pathology of non-inherited PD of the chemical-induced models. The progressive nature of the rotenone model of PD is of particular interest as this is a feature that was not captured in either the MPTP or 6-OHDA models. While the lack of Lewy bodies in the 6-OHDA model questions whether this is indeed a suitable model of PD, it has been successfully used to test important aspects of PD, such as the effects of selective receptor agonists, levodopa and neurotrophins (reviewed in Schwarting and Huston, 1996). These models all have limitations and should be used with great caution in the study of PD. Using the knowledge of the genetic basis of some PD to generate gentic models of the disease appears to be the next logical step in our understanding of PD.

1.4 The genetic basis of Parkinson's disease

Mutations in a number of genes including α-synuclein, parkin, ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase 1 (UCH-L1), PTEN induced kinase 1(PINK1), DJ-1 and leucine rich repeat kinase-2 (LRRK2) are known to be associated with PD and several more chromosomal loci have been implicated (Table 1-1) (reviewed in Cookson, 2005; Gasser, 2005; Healy et al., 2004; Morris, 2005). There are two underlying common features among some of these genes. Firstly, several of the genes listed encode proteins that are involved in the ubiquitin proteasome

Locus (inheritance)	Gene name	Map position	Gene Function	Phenotype
Park1/4 ¹ (dominant)	SNCA ²	4q21	Synaptic? Lipid binding	PD/DLBD ³ , onset - 30-60 yrs ⁴ , rapid course
Park 2 (recessive)	Parkin	6q25	E3 ubiquitin ligase	Parkinsonism, onset - teens-40 yrs, slow course, no LB^3 except one case
Park 3 (dominant)	Unknown	2p13		PD, dementia, onset – 50-60 yrs, LB ⁻ tangles and plaques
Park 5 (dominant)	UCHL1 ⁵	4p14	Ubiquitin hydrolase/ligase	Typical PD, onset ~50 yrs, pathology unknown
Park 6 (recessive)	PINK1 ⁶	1p35-37	Protein kinase Oxidative stress Regulates <i>parkin</i>	Parkinsonism, onset 30-50 yrs, pathology unknown
Park 7 (recessive)	DJ-1	1p38	Oxidative stress response	Parkinsonism, onset 20-40 yrs, slow course, pathology unknown
Park 8 (dominant)	LRRK2 ⁷	12cen		Parkinsonism, onset 40-60 yrs, variable tau and α -synuclein pathology
Park 10 (dominant?)	Unknown	1p32		Unknown pathology
Park 11 (dominant?)	Unknown	2p34		Unknown pathology

Table 1-1: Genes associated with Parkinson's disease

¹Park 4 – is a *SNCA* triplication; ²*SNCA* – gene name for α -synuclein; ³ DLBD – dementia with Lewy body disease, LB – Lewy bodies; ⁴yrs- years old, ⁵Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1; ⁶ *PTEN induced kinase* 1; ⁷ *LRRK2* – gene name for dadarin. Adapted from Cookson, M.R. (2005) and Gasser, T. (2005).

degradation system (UPS). The UPS is a mechanism that the cell uses to rid itself of damaged, misfolded or otherwise unwanted proteins by tagging and targeting these proteins to the proteasome, where they are degraded to amino acids (reviewed in Hershko and Ciechanover, 1998). Secondly, two of the genes have been implicated in oxidative stress mechanisms. Overall, both oxidative stress mechanisms and the UPS have been shown to play a role in the typical pathology of PD.

1.4.1 The structure and functions of α-synuclein

In a large Italian family, a single base pair change in *SNCA* was found to be associated with Autosomal Dominant PD (ADPD) (Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1996; Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1997). This original mutation results in an amino acid change from alanine to threonine at position 53 (A53T) in α -synuclein (Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1997). Two further mutations, an alanine to proline exchange at amino acid 30 (A30P) (Kruger *et al.*, 1998) and a glutamic acid to lysine (E46K) (Zarranz *et al.*, 2004) have also been identified. Finally, triplication of *SNCA* was found to be associated with ADPD (Singleton *et al.*, 2003). These mutations are all relatively rare and do not seem to be involved in non-inherited cases of PD (Chan *et al.*, 1998). Nevertheless understanding how these mutations are associated with PD is necessary.

The α -synuclein protein is an abundant 140 amino acid cytosolic protein found mostly at the pre-synaptic terminal of neurons in either a vesicle bound or soluble form (Clayton and George, 1998; Jakes *et al.*, 1994). Mutant forms of the protein are generally found in the same locations but they have been also identified in the neuronal cell body and neurites throughout

the brain (Kahle *et al.*, 2000). Originally α -synuclein was identified as a non- β amyloid component of Alzheimer's disease amyloid plaques (Ueda *et al.*, 1993).

Immunocytochemistry has revealed α -synuclein to be a major component of Lewy bodies and indeed staining for α -synuclein is more extensive than for ubiquitin, which has previously been used as a marker for Lewy bodies (Spillantini *et al.*, 1997; Spillantini *et al.*, 1998). There are three basic structural domains in α -synuclein: an acidic carboxy-terminal domain, an amino-terminal domain organised around 7 copies of an 11 amino acid motif and a hydrophobic centre region, identified in amyloid plaques (Borden, 1998). The repeated motif in the amino-terminal domain, an amphipathic α -helical structure, and is also called class A2 lipid-binding domain. α -Synuclein has a mainly unfolded tertiary structure but it undergoes large conformational changes in the presence of phospholipids and binds to synaptic vesicles (Davidson *et al.*, 1998; Weinreb *et al.*, 1996). This abundant protein is likely to be directly involved in protein-lipid interactions and may be involved in reuptake of dopamine.

 α -Synuclein acts to reduce the activity of tyrosine hydroxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme in dopamine biosynthesis (Perez *et al.*, 2002). This suggests that loss of α -synuclein, either through loss-of-function mutations or aggregation, would reduce the regulation of dopamine synthesis and the resulting increase of dopamine would increase deleterious reactive dopamine metabolite levels. A more recent study has shown the α -synuclein can ameliorate the neurodegeneration caused by cysteine-string-protein- α (CSP- α) deficiency in mice (Chandra *et al.*, 2005). The data suggests that α -synuclein acts downstream of CSP α in a cellautonomous manner that also requires phospholipid-binding activity of α -synuclein (Chandra

et al., 2005). These recent studies indicate that α -synuclein has a role in the protection of nerve terminals from injury, possibly in combination with CSP α and SNARE proteins on the presynaptic membrane interface.

Phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in α -synuclein is thought to be important in regulating synaptic function and plasticity (Gurd, 1997; O'Dell *et al.*, 1991). α -Synuclein is phosphorylated on both serine and tyrosine residues (Ellis *et al.*, 2000; Nakamura *et al.*, 2001; Okochi *et al.*, 2000; Pronin *et al.*, 2000). The G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 (Gprk2) phosphorylates Ser129 in α -synuclein *in vivo* and enhances α -synuclein toxicity (Chen and Feany, 2005). Other reports show that co-expression of *parkin* with α -synuclein and *synphilin-1* in cell culture formed inclusions that had ubiquitin tags, which were decreased in number with the expression of S129A α -synuclein (Smith *et al.*, 2005). These reports indicate that phosphorylation of α -synuclein at S129 may be important for the formation of inclusions in PD or that it alters targeting to the proteasome.

1.4.2 Protein toxicity and *a-synuclein*

Over-expression studies of wild type and mutant α -synuclein in human neuroblastoma (SH-SY5Y) cells and other cultured neurons show that these α -synuclein species can induce apoptosis (El-Agnaf *et al.*, 1998a; Saha *et al.*, 2000). Wild type α -synuclein forms an insoluble fibrillar aggregate with an antiparallel β -sheet structure *in vitro*, which is greatly enhanced by both the A30P and A53T amino acid substitutions (Conway *et al.*, 1998; El-Agnaf *et al.*, 1998b; Narhi *et al.*, 1999). The *in vitro* fibril formation of α -synuclein does not

follow a one-step transition rather there appears to be an increase in β -sheet conformation of the otherwise unfolded α -synuclein and oligomerization of the protein into protofibrils (Figure 1-2). Subsequently, the protofibrils may either take on a spherical protofibril/oligomer bodies (Conway *et al.*, 2000; Goldberg and Lansbury, 2000; Harper *et al.*, 1997a; Harper *et al.*, 1997b, 1999). Interestingly, solutions of mouse and human α -synuclein form fibrils at a slower rate in the presence of the human A30P and A53T forms of α -synuclein, which leads to an increase of non-fibrillar oligomers (Rochet *et al.*, 2000). The unanswered question remains, which, if any, forms of α -synuclein are toxic? It remains unknown whether it is simply the aggregation of the protein that leads to cell death or whether there are other factors involved.

Pathological examinations of human brains have found two observations that do not correlate with the theory that Lewy bodies are the species that cause PD. Firstly, the substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons that contained Lewy bodies appear 'healthier', using both morphological and biochemical analysis, compared to the surrounding neurons (Tompkins *et al.*, 1997; Tompkins and Hill, 1997). Indeed, quantitative analysis revealed aggresomes in 60% of non-apoptotic cells but only in 10% of apoptotic cells that express α -synuclein, and α synuclein-induced apoptosis was not coupled with increased prevalence of aggresome-bearing cells (Tanaka *et al.*, 2004). Secondly, incidental Lewy bodies have been identified in the brains of aged individuals who had no symptoms of PD or any other neurodegenerative disease (Forno and Langston, 1993; Gibb and Lees, 1988; Goldberg and Lansbury, 2000). Experimental perturbations that reduce the number of nuclear inclusions (detected by light



Figure 1-2: Diagrammatic representation of a possible explanation for the formation of Lewy bodies.

Unfolded α-synuclein could change conformation to β-sheet, which can form oligomers/protofibrils or form fibrils and continue on to form Lewy bodies. Adapted from Goldberg and Langbury (2000).

conformation, or full fibrillization takes place followed by further aggregation into Lewy microscopy) actually increase the severity of disease-related abnormalities (Goldberg and Lansbury, 2000). PA700, the regulatory complex of the 26S proteasome, is likely to interact with the oligomers of α -synuclein preventing complete fibrillisation (Ghee *et al.*, 2000; Ghee et al., 2005), which also provides another link to the UPS system. Other studies show that blocking phosphorylation at S129 substantially increases aggregate formation and because increased number of inclusion bodies are correlated with reduced toxicity, inclusion bodies may protect neurons from α -synuclein toxicity (Chen and Feany, 2005). Perhaps the fibrillar inclusions sequester toxic species and/or divert α -synuclein from toxic assembly pathways as shown in Figure 1-2. Studies in animal models of other neurodegenerative diseases also support this theory. For instance, the detection of Alzheimer's-like abnormalities before fibrillar plaques appear has been reported in two different transgenic mouse models (Hsia et al., 1999; Moechars et al., 1999). In polyglutamine-repeat diseases, nuclear import of mutant ataxin-1 is required for disease pathogenesis but formation of inclusions was not (Klement et al., 1998). In Huntington's disease, Huntingtin protein acts in the nucleus to induce apoptosis but this neuronal death does not correlate with the inclusion formation (Saudou et al., 1998). It appears that soluble oligomers are the principal pathogenic species that drive neuronal dysfunction (reviewed in Walsh and Selkoe, 2004) and it is generally accepted that the oligometric species of α -synuclein are indeed the toxic forms of the protein.

1.4.3 Parkin functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase

A variety of point mutations and large deletions in the *parkin* gene have been associated with Autosomal Recessive Juvenile Parkinsonism (ARJP), the second inherited form of PD

identified (Kitada et al., 1998). This form of the disease is specifically characterized by an early age of onset (~40 years old) and the relative absence of Lewy bodies (Hayashi et al., 2000; Ishikawa and Tsuji, 1996; Mori et al., 1998). Autopsy findings have rarely shown typical Lewy body pathology in PD patients that possess mutant forms of *parkin* (Farrer *et al.*, 2001). The parkin protein has been localized to the neurons in the substantia nigra but also to unaffected regions of the brain such as the cerebellum and glial cells (Gu et al., 2000). This widespread distribution of the protein does not correlate with the specific loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra when certain mutations occur in *parkin*. Lysates of specific brain segments showed *parkin* expression in the substantia nigra, putamen and frontal brain segments of control patients but a complete loss of *parkin* expression in the substantia nigra from ARJP patients. However, it should be noted that the expression of *parkin* in parts of the brain (putamen, frontal cortex) was significantly lower than in dopaminergic neurons and was not decreased in ARJP patients (Shimura et al., 1999). On the sub-cellular level, dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra were immuno-reactive for parkin protein in the cytoplasm, granular structure (golgi) and the neuronal processes (Shimura et al., 1999). Why do mutations in parkin lead to the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons and yet does not appear to affect other parts of the brain.

The *parkin* gene encodes a 465 amino acid protein (Kitada *et al.*, 1998) that functions as an ubiquitin ligase, which is an integral part of the protein degradation machinery (Shimura *et al.*, 2000). Ubiquitin ligases act as mediators between a specific target protein to be degraded and an ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme, which tags the target protein with ubiquitin in a process called ubiquitination (Figure 1-3). Ubiquitination is a post-translational modification that uses ATP and three enzymes, ubiquitin activating enzyme (E1), ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2)



Figure 1-3: Schematic diagram of ubiquitin/proteasome pathway.

UPD-unique parkin domain; E1-Ub-activating enzyme; E2-Ub-conjugatin enzyme; UBL-Ublike domain. Parkin is a RING-type E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase that binds to E2 ubiquitinconjugating enzymes, through its RING-IBR-RING motif. The UBL/UPD region of parkin segment binds the target protein to be degraded. Adapted from Tanaka *et al.*, (2001) and Shimura *et al.*, (2000). and ubiquitin ligase (E3) (Hershko and Ciechanover, 1998). Parkin contains a Really interesting new gene (RING) and inbetween RING (IBR) finger motif (RING-IBR-RING) (Imai *et al.*, 2000), which has been found in other E3 ligases (Lorick *et al.*, 1999). This motif acts to recruit specific E2-ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (Joazeiro *et al.*, 1999; Lorick *et al.*, 1999; Yang *et al.*, 2000; Yokouchi *et al.*, 1999), including ubiquitin conjugating enzyme human 7 and 8 (UbcH7 and UbcH8) for parkin. The polyubiquitinated protein is recognized and degraded by the multiple-subunit-protease 26S-proteasome complex (Figure 1-3). This protein degradation produces short peptides and amino acids and the polyubiquitin chains are returned to the monomeric state by ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydroxylases.

The regulation of parkin activity is likely to involve at least two mechanisms, S-nitrosylation and phosphorylation (Chung *et al.*, 2004; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2004). S-nitrosylation is evident in the brains of patients with PD and diffuse Lewy body disease and has been shown to inhibit the ubiquitin ligase activity of parkin (Chung *et al.*, 2004). This inhibition could contribute to the degenerative process in these disorders by impairing the ubiquitination of parkin substrates (Chung *et al.*, 2004). A recent study showed that induction of stress due to the presence of unfolded proteins in cells resulted in reduced parkin phosphorylation; unphosphorylated parkin has increased ubiquitin ligase activity compared with phosphorylated (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2004). Overall levels of phosphorylation and nitrosylation appear to contribute to the level of ubiquitin ligase activity that parkin has in the cell.
1.4.4 Parkin and protein detoxification

The accumulation of proteins due to the failure of ubiquitin-dependant processes of protein degradation has been proposed as a major factor in the destruction of neurons in sporadic and familial PD (Cookson, 2005; McNaught and Jenner, 2001; McNaught et al., 2001). The absence of parkin protein in the substantia nigra of ARJP patients combined with the neuronal cell death in this area of the brain suggests a possible cell-protective role of parkin. As one line of defence there is an increase in parkin protein in response to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Imai et al., 2000). ER stress, caused by the accumulation of misfolded proteins in the ER, can initiate cell death, however, parkin can prevent this via its E3 activity (Imai et al., 2000; Mori, 2000). Specifically, a substrate of parkin, the Pael receptor (Pael-R) [a G-protein coupled receptor], when over-expressed in cells becomes unfolded, insoluble, and leads to ER stress-induced cell death (reviewed in Takahashi and Imai, 2003 and Takahashi et al., 2003). Parkin ubiquitinates a number of substrates, including, most notably, itself (Imai et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2000b), a glycosylated form of α -synuclein (Shimura et al., 2001), the Pael-R (Imai et al., 2001), CDCrel-1 (Zhang et al., 2000b) and the α -synuclein-binding protein, synphilin-1 (Chung et al., 2001). Moreover, CHIP (carboxyl terminus of the HSP/HSC70 interacting protein), which acts as an E4 multiubiquitin assembly protein, forms a complex with parkin, heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) and Pael-R, and positively regulates the ubiquitin ligase activity of parkin (Imai et al., 2002). CHIP and HSP70 suppress cell death due to the presence of unfolded Pael-R through coordination of ubiquitination and the molecular chaperone system. Over-expression of *parkin* in the presence of proteasome inhibitors leads to the accumulation of large protein inclusions that stain for α -synuclein, synphilin-1, parkin,

molecular chaperones and proteasome subunits (Junn *et al.*, 2002). The role of parkin in assigning proteins for breakdown seems to be at the heart of ARJP cellular defects.

1.4.5 Mutations in *PTEN induced kinase 1* are associated with Parkinson's disease Mutations in *PINK1* lead to early-onset Parkinson's disease (Hatano *et al.*, 2004; Rohe *et al.*, 2004; Valente *et al.*, 2004a; Valente *et al.*, 2004b). Initially two mutations, in the sequence that codes for the kinase domain, a nonsense mutation, and missence mutation were identified. A number of novel mutations have since been discovered in unrelated families (Hatano *et al.*, 2004; Rohe *et al.*, 2004). PINK1 protein is localized to the mitochondria and may phosphorylate mitochondrial proteins in response to cellular stress, protecting against apoptotic mitochondrial dysfunction. However the altered forms of PINK1 do not have this protective effect (Valente *et al.*, 2004a). Consistent with their role in PD for example, a significantly higher number of sporadic early-onset PD patients were identified as carriers of single heterozygous mutations in *PINK1* (Valente *et al.*, 2004b). Mutations in *PINK1* are relatively common and in a variety of ethnic populations and appear to have an important role in inherited PD.

1.4.6 Mutations in DJ-1 are associated with Parkinson's disease

Mutations in the highly conserved gene, *DJ-1*, are associated with autosomal recessive early onset Parkinson's disease (Bonifati *et al.*, 2003). *DJ-1* is ubiquitously expressed throughout the mouse central nervous system (Shang *et al.*, 2004) and functions as a homodimer; one of the mutations found in the gene prevents dimerization of the protein (Gorner *et al.*, 2004;

Moore *et al.*, 2003; Olzmann *et al.*, 2004). *DJ-1* appears to be involved in anti-oxidative stress as mutations in this gene produce proteins that show reduced or no ability to prevent hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)-induced cell death (Taira *et al.*, 2004; Takahashi-Niki *et al.*, 2004). There are conflicted views as to whether DJ-1 is degraded via the proteasomal pathway (Gorner *et al.*, 2004; Miller *et al.*, 2003). Nevertheless understanding the function and breakdown of the DJ-1 protein is paramount in determining the prevention of PD associated with *DJ-1* mutations.

1.4.7 Mutations in *Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1* are associated with Parkinson's disease

Uch-L1 is a thiol protease that is involved in the cleavage of ubiquitin from ubiquitin-tagged proteins and facilitates the recycling of ubiquitin tags (Chung and Baek, 1999). This enzyme shows dimerization-dependent, ubiquitin ligase activity (Liu *et al.*, 2002). *Uch-L1* is expressed in nerve cells and testes/ovaries in mice where it co-localizes with monoubiquitin and can elongate the half-life of ubiquitin (Osaka *et al.*, 2003). Mutations in *Uch-L1* are associated with ADPD (Leroy *et al.*, 1998). Aggresomes of Uch-L1 and other proteins are formed in response to proteasome impairment (Ardley *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly, a polymorphism in *Uch-L1* appears to confer protection against sporadic PD in Caucasian and Asian populations (Lincoln *et al.*, 1999; Satoh and Kuroda, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2000a). Once again mutations in a gene that is associated with the proteasome degradation pathway are also associated with PD.

1.4.8 Mutations in leucine rich repeat kinase-2 are associated with Parkinsonism

A genome-wide linkage analysis of a Japanese family with ADPD pinpointed a locus mapped to 12p11.2-q13.1 and called *Park 8* (Funayama *et al.*, 2002). Two groups subsequently determined that the gene, which causes this form of PD, that encodes a large, multifunctional protein called leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) also known as dadarin (Paisan-Ruiz *et al.*, 2004; Zimprich *et al.*, 2004). In patients with ADPD, mutations in *LRRK2* are the most frequently found mutation (reviewed in Gasser, 2005). Clinically, patients with these genetic alterations have symptoms that look like typical PD, however the pathology of this form of PD is variable. Along with the normal pathological changes seen in Lewy body PD, diffuse Lewy body disease, nigral degeneration without distinctive histopathology and progressive supranuclear palsy-like tau were also observed and it is thought that mutations in *LRRK2* may be involved in other neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's (Zimprich *et al.*, 2004). The protein product of *LRRK2* has been assigned to a group of recently identified ROCO [Roc (Ras of complex proteins)/COR (c-terminal of Roc)] family of proteins (Bosgraaf and Van Haastert, 2003) and it contains a protein kinase domain.

1.5 Genetic models of Parkinson's disease

With the discovery that some forms of PD have a genetic basis, a plethora of genetic models of the disease have been developed. To date these models have been based largely upon mutation of the α -synuclein, parkin or DJ-1 genes. The generation of animals that have a nonfunctional gene or "knock outs" has resulted in further understanding of PD progression and provides excellent models in which potential therapeutic strategies can be tested. These

models have been developed in a variety of organisms ranging from *Drosophila melanogaster* to non-human primates. Of particular note is a series of models in *Drosophila* developed by ectopic expression of normal or mutant forms of α -synuclein.

1.5.1 Mutant or altered DJ-1 models of PD

PD, such as the role of oxidative stress, are coming to light.

Most studies on the effects of DJ-1 mutations suggest that it functions in oxidative stress responses. The recent development of mice with DJ-1 null mutations corroborates this theory. In one study DJ-1 null mice show increased sensitivity to oxidative insults, such as H_2O_2 , which is abrogated by the over-expression of DJ-1 (Kim et al., 2005). In another study DJ-1 null mice did not show significant loss of dopaminergic neurons but did show a change in the function of these neurons (Chen et al., 2005; Goldberg et al., 2005). These mice also showed a loss of motor skill in an age-dependent manner (Chen et al., 2005; Goldberg et al., 2005). In C. elegans, when DJ-1 is "knocked down", the nematodes are more sensitive to mitochondrial complex I inhibitors, such as rotenone, although no increase in sensitivity was noted with paraquat (a nonselective herbicide), or etoposide, a topoisomerase inhibitor (Ved et al., 2005). A series of groups have examined the effect of mutations in *DJ-1* in *Drosophila*. All of these groups showed that homozygous mutant flies had increased sensitivity to oxidative stress (Menzies et al., 2005; Meulener et al., 2005; Park et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2005). Furthermore, these flies had locomotor deficiencies and many of the other hallmarks of mutant DJ-1-induced PD (Menzies et al., 2005; Meulener et al., 2005; Park et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2005). With these relatively new PD models, many insights into the biology of DJ-1-induced

1.5.2 Mutant or altered *a-synuclein* models of PD

Mice with loss-of-function mutations in α -synuclein appear to develop normally. These mice do not show any dopaminergic neuron or synaptic loss, nor are any Lewy bodies observed. However, these mice do have slightly altered stimulus dependent dopamine release (Abeliovich *et al.*, 2000). The data suggests that α -synuclein is a negative regulator of dopamine release, in agreement with the observations that α -synuclein is likely to regulate dopamine biosynthesis (Perez *et al.*, 2002).

In another study of mice, neuronally expressed human α -synuclein formed both cytoplasmic inclusions and intranuclear deposits in the neocortex, substantia nigra and hippocampus, although human PD patients have been noted to only have cytoplasmic inclusions (Masliah *et al.*, 2000). A loss of dopaminergic terminals and motor abnormalities were also observed in the human α -synuclein mice, indicating a possible causal effect of the accumulation of α -synuclein inclusions. In particular, this difference has highlighted that lines that express lower levels of human α -synuclein do not show the same dopaminergic neuronal and behavioural deficits (Masliah *et al.*, 2000). Interestingly, expression of either wild type or mutant forms of human α -synuclein in mice resulted in no neuronal inclusions although altered dopaminergic neuron terminals were observed (Richfield *et al.*, 2002). In addition, mice that express mutant α -synuclein showed a reduced locomotor response with exposure to repeated doses of amphetamines, a response that may be due to a reduction of dopamine transporters and a resulting progressive motor impairment (Richfield *et al.*, 2002). These resistant animals were characterized by increased levels of HSP70, a chaperone protein that has been shown to counteract paraquat toxicity in other PD experimental models and could

therefore contribute to neuroprotection in α -synuclein transgenic mice. These results indicate a differentiation between toxic-induced α -synuclein aggregation and neurodegeneration. These experiments support a role for α -synuclein in toxic insults and suggest that its involvement in human neurodegenerative processes may arise not only from a gain of toxic function, as previously proposed, but also from a loss of defensive properties (Manning-Bog *et al.*, 2003). An α -synuclein rat model of PD (Lo Bianco *et al.*, 2002) was used to analyse the ability of parkin to suppress symptoms of the disease (Lo Bianco *et al.*, 2004). In these experiments, lentiviral vector delivered parkin prevented dopaminergic degeneration.

A recently developed primate model of PD forced the expression of human α -synuclein in the substantia nigra of adult marmosets (Kirik *et al.*, 2003). In this model, a severe neuronal pathology was observed, that included α -synuclein-positive cytoplasmic inclusions and granular deposits as well as swollen, dystrophic, and fragmented neurites. At a time 16 weeks post-transduction of the human gene, 30-60% of dopaminergic neurons were lost and severe motor impairments had developed, which indicates the progressive nature of this model, a feature missing from most other PD models (Kirik *et al.*, 2003). As non-human primates are so similar to humans, this model offers exciting new opportunities for the exploration of new therapeutic targets.

Models of PD have been generated in *Drosophila melanogaster* by generating transgenic flies that conditionally express wild type, A53T or A30P forms of human α -synuclein (Feany and Bender, 2000). In these models, the expression of the α -synuclein transgenes is dependent on transcriptional activation by the yeast protein, Gal4 (Figure 1-4) (Brand and Perrimon, 1993).



the dopaminergic neurons

Figure 1-4: Schematic diagram of the UAS/Gal4 expression system in Drosophila.

This bipartite system uses two independent transgenic fly lines; one that contains the gene of interest cloned downstream from the UAS promoter which is silent in the absence of Gal4, the other that has a tissue specific promoter region fused to the *Gal4* gene such that Gal4 protein is produced in a tissue specific manner, in this case dopaminergic neruons. The resulting offspring from a cross of these two flies produce Gal4 protein in specific tissues; Gal4 in turn binds to the UAS sequence and activates transcription of the downstream gene. Adapted from Phelps and Brand (1998).

Notably Drosophila melanogaster lack an identified homologue of α -synuclein. Flies that express any form of α -synuclein, in either a pan-neural pattern or dopaminergic neuron specific manner, show a marked age dependent loss of dorsal-medial dopaminergic neurons (Feany and Bender, 2000). Cytoplasmic inclusions were observed in α -synuclein flies approximately 20 days after eclosure. Behaviourally normal flies exhibit a strong negative geotaxis that can be measured by timing the speed at which flies climb the sides of a sterile vial. α -Synuclein flies begin to lose their climbing ability at 25 days old compared with 45 days for control flies. These features all recapitulate the main behavioural and pathological phenotypes observed in PD patients. Subsequent experiments with this Drosophila model have shown that a number of pharmacological agents such as the dopamine precursor levodopa, dopamine receptor agonists (bromocriptine, pergolide and SK&F38393) and the anticholinergic atropine, all restore or partially restore the age-dependent loss of climbing ability (Pendleton et al., 2002). Furthermore, co-expression of the molecular chaperone HSP70 with α -synuclein prevented dopaminergic neuronal degeneration (Auluck et al., 2002). Interference with endogenous chaperone activity accelerated toxicity of α -synuclein indicating a role of chaperones in the pathology of PD. Enhancement of endogenous heat shock protein, by feeding flies geldanamycin, a chemical that interferes with HSP90 (a negative regulator of some heat shock factors), prevented dopaminergic cell death but not the appearance of Lewy bodies (Auluck and Bonini, 2002). These results indicate that the Drosophila model is particularly good at capturing both biochemical and behavioural features of PD and so could be used as a first point of reference when testing out potential new drug therapies.

1.5.3 Mutant or altered parkin models of PD

Mice with loss-of-function *parkin* mutations have nigrostriatal deficits but there is no apparent degeneration in the substantia nigra, a result that is inconsistent with observations in human patients (Goldberg *et al.*, 2003). An increase in extracellular dopamine and no change in the levels of parkin substrates such as CDCrel-1, synphilin-1, and α -synuclein were also observed in the *parkin* deficient mice (Goldberg *et al.*, 2003), as was a decrease in the abundance and consequently activity of proteins involved in mitochondrial function or oxidative stress (Palacino *et al.*, 2004). These mice also show a delayed weight gain. Taken together, these findings show that parkin is intimately involved in dopamine regulation and mitochondrial function (Goldberg *et al.*, 2003; Palacino *et al.*, 2004). The mouse model of parkin-induced PD has many but not all of the features of the disease found in humans but not all. Nevertheless it is likely to be useful in understanding this form of PD.

The *Drosophila* homologue of *parkin* has been identified and the putative protein product is 59% similar to the human protein (Greene *et al.*, 2003). It carries both the target protein-binding domain and the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme-binding domain and also probably functions as an ubiquitin ligase. Transcripts of *parkin* were found at all developmental stages of the fly life cycle. A recently developed fly PD model has a mutant allele of the *Drosophila* homologue of *parkin*, which was generated using P-element mutagenesis (Greene *et al.*, 2003). This model recapitulates some of the normal PD symptoms such as reduced lifespan and locomotor defects, however it has other defects such as male sterility, not normally seen in humans (Greene *et al.*, 2003). Interestingly, the locomotor defects resulted from severe disruption of muscle integrity and were not limited to the flight

muscles but affected climbing as well. Upon closer examination of the cellular structure, swollen mitochondria manifesting severe disruption and disintegration of the cristae were observed. Furthermore, the cells were undergoing apoptosis, a typical response of cells when mitochondrial dysfunction and release of cytochrome c is observed (Martin, 2001; Tatton and Olanow, 1999). As the sterility aspect of this model is not a feature of PD that is seen in humans and it is possible that *parkin* is involved in other cellular functions in *Drosophila* that are performed by a different ubiquitin ligase in humans. Examination of the *parkin* mutants reveals that they have a reduced cell size that results in a lower total mass. Furthermore they show a greater sensitivity to oxidative stress (Pesah *et al.*, 2004). More recent evidence suggests that the oxidative stress response is induced in *parkin* mutants rather than the ER stress pathway (Greene *et al.*, 2005). Mitochondrial dysfunction was a feature observed in some of the chemically induced models of PD and is one of the key features in the *Drosophila* model of ARJP. This feature of the disease has now been genetically induced and finding factors that initiate this dysfunction will be important.

A common pathway in inherited forms of PD has been revealed with the discovery that the α synuclein protein physically interacts with parkin (Petrucelli *et al.*, 2002; Shimura *et al.*, 2001). Indeed *parkin* over-expression protects cells from toxicity associated with expression of mutant α -synuclein (Petrucelli *et al.*, 2002). The mutations in α -synuclein may be factors that prevent the protein from being targeted for degradation. Mutant parkin protein is unable to bind, and hence, mediate ubiquitination of α Sp22 (a form of α -synuclein), which leads to accumulation of α -synuclein protein and, possibly, to the cells demise (Shimura *et al.*, 2001).

1.6 Thesis Objectives

Analysis of *Drosophila* models of PD may yet provide the most insight into the commonalities of inherited forms of PD. This organism is simple to genetically manipulate and yet complex enough to provide biochemical through to behavioural data. Importantly, the majority of the genes associated with PD have homologues in *Drosophila*. The overall goal in this thesis was to analyse *parkin* in *Drosophila melanogaster* and in particular in *Drosophila* models of PD. My interest in *parkin* came about, as, at the inception of this project, mutations in this gene appeared to be quite predominant in inherited forms of PD. When this project was initiated a genetic model of PD in *Drosophila* through ectopic expression of α -synuclein (Feany and Bender, 2000) had just been developed. I wanted to use this already established model of α synuclein associated PD, to increase our understanding of the nature of the disease, and the mutations that are associated with the disease and to identify ways to prevent the progression of the disease. This particular model proved to be an invaluable tool in which to invoke the ectopic expression of *parkin* to study aspects of PD including prevention or suppression of the PD symptoms found in these flies.

The initial goals of the project were to clone and characterize the *Drosophila parkin* homologue and to generate transgenic *Drosophila* with *parkin* under the control of the UAS enhancer element. I analysed the effects of *parkin* expression in a variety of *Drosophila* tissues in terms of behavioural and physical phenotypes and life span. I hypothesized that the PD-like phenotypes found in the α -synuclein-induced *Drosophila* PD model could be suppressed through expression of *parkin*. Analysis of the effects of the *in vivo* interaction

between *parkin* and either wild type or PD associated mutant α -synuclein in terms of behaviour, life span and morphological changes was therefore undertaken.

Previous work has shown that excessive *Gal4* expression can cause developmental defects in the Drosophila eye (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). If increased expression of *Gal4* alone could cause development defects then perhaps excessive *Gal4* expression in the dopaminergic neurons could act as a toxic protein and be used as a model of toxic protein induced-PD. Further characterization of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgenic line that expresses *Gal4* in a dopaminergic neuronal pattern was initiated to analyse the effects of varying numbers of Gal4 transgenes. This analysis studied the behavioural effect of various levels of *Gal4* expression throughout the life span of the flies and also the expression patterns of the transgene.

If parkin can suppress the effects of α -synuclein expression then parkin may be able to suppress the phenotypes caused by excessive Gal4. Analysis of the effects of *parkin* expression in the developing eye with multiple copies of both transgenes was undertaken to see if parkin could suppress phenotypes caused by excessive expression of *Gal4*. If true this would suggest that parkin may prevent other defects caused by toxic proteins

1.7 References

- Abeliovich, A., Schmitz, Y., Farinas, I., Choi-Lundberg, D., Ho, W. H., Castillo, P. E., Shinsky, N., Verdugo, J. M., Armanini, M., Ryan, A., Hynes, M., Phillips, H., Sulzer, D., and Rosenthal, A. (2000). Mice lacking alpha-synuclein display functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Neuron* 25, 239-52.
- Ardley, H. C., Scott, G. B., Rose, S. A., Tan, N. G., and Robinson, P. A. (2004). UCH-L1 aggresome formation in response to proteasome impairment indicates a role in inclusion formation in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 90, 379-91.

- Auluck, P. K., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Pharmacological prevention of Parkinson disease in Drosophila. *Nat Med* 8, 1185-6.
- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Chaperone suppression of alpha-synuclein toxicity in a Drosophila model for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 295, 865-8.
- Betarbet, R., Sherer, T. B., MacKenzie, G., Garcia-Osuna, M., Panov, A. V., and Greenamyre, J. T. (2000). Chronic systemic pesticide exposure reproduces features of Parkinson's disease. *Nat Neurosci* 3, 1301-6.
- Betarbet, R., Sherer, T. B., and Greenamyre, J. T. (2002). Animal models of Parkinson's disease. *Bioessays* 24, 308-18.
- Bonifati, V., Rizzu, P., van Baren, M. J., Schaap, O., Breedveld, G. J., Krieger, E., Dekker, M. C., Squitieri, F., Ibanez, P., Joosse, M., van Dongen, J. W., Vanacore, N., van Swieten, J. C., Brice, A., Meco, G., van Duijn, C. M., Oostra, B. A., and Heutink, P. (2003). Mutations in the DJ-1 gene associated with autosomal recessive early- onset parkinsonism. *Science* 299, 256-9.
- Borden, K. L. (1998). Structure/function in neuroprotection and apoptosis. Ann Neurol 44, S65-71.
- Bosgraaf, L., and Van Haastert, P. J. (2003). Roc, a Ras/GTPase domain in complex proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1643, 5-10.
- Brand, A. H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development* **118**, 401-415.
- Burns, R. S., Chiueh, C. C., Markey, S. P., Ebert, M. H., Jacobowitz, D. M., and Kopin, I. J. (1983). A primate model of parkinsonism: selective destruction of dopaminergic neurons in the pars compacta of the substantia nigra by N-methyl-4- phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 80, 4546-50.
- Chan, A. W. (2004). Transgenic nonhuman primates for neurodegenerative diseases. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2, 39.
- Chan, P., Jiang, X., Forno, L. S., Di Monte, D. A., Tanner, C. M., and Langston, J. W. (1998). Absence of mutations in the coding region of the alpha-synuclein gene in pathologically proven Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 50, 1136-1137.
- Chandra, S., Gallardo, G., Fernandez-Chacon, R., Schluter, O. M., and Sudhof, T. C. (2005). alpha-Synuclein Cooperates with CSPalpha in Preventing Neurodegeneration. *Cell* **123**, 383-96.
- Chen, L., Cagniard, B., Mathews, T., Jones, S., Koh, H. C., Ding, Y., Carvey, P. M., Ling, Z., Kang, U. J., and Zhuang, X. (2005). Age-dependent motor deficits and dopaminergic dysfunction in DJ-1 null mice. *J Biol Chem* 280, 21418-26.
- Chen, L., and Feany, M. B. (2005). Alpha-synuclein phosphorylation controls neurotoxicity and inclusion formation in a Drosophila model of Parkinson disease. *Nat Neurosci* 8, 657-63.
- Chung, C. H., and Baek, S. H. (1999). Deubiquitinating enzymes: their diversity and emerging roles. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **266**, 633-40.
- Chung, K. K., Zhang, Y., Lim, K. L., Tanaka, Y., Huang, H., Gao, J., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2001). Parkin ubiquitinates the alpha-synuclein-interacting protein, synphilin- 1: implications for Lewy-body formation in Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* 7, 1144-50.

- Chung, K. K., Thomas, B., Li, X., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J. C., Marsh, L., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2004). S-nitrosylation of parkin regulates ubiquitination and compromises parkin's protective function. *Science* **304**, 1328-31.
- Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (1998). The synucleins: a family of proteins involved in synaptic function, plasticity, neurodegeneration and disease. *Trends Neurosci* **21**, 249-254.
- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. (1998). Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* **4**, 1318-1320.
- Conway, K. A., Lee, S. J., Rochet, J. C., Ding, T. T., Williamson, R. E., and Lansbury, P. T., Jr. (2000). Acceleration of oligomerization, not fibrillization, is a shared property of both alpha-synuclein mutations linked to early-onset Parkinson's disease: implications for pathogenesis and therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 571-6.
- Cookson, M. R. (2005). The biochemistry of Parkinson's disease. Annu Rev Biochem 74, 29-52.
- Davidson, W. S., Jonas, A., Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (1998). Stabilization of alphasynuclein secondary structure upon binding to synthetic membranes. *J Biol Chem* 273, 9443-9.
- Driscoll, M., and Gerstbrein, B. (2003). Dying for a cause: invertebrate genetics takes on human neurodegeneration. *Nat Rev Genet* **4**, 181-94.
- El-Agnaf, O. M., Jakes, R., Curran, M. D., Middleton, D., Ingenito, R., Bianchi, E., Pessi, A., Neill, D., and Wallace, A. (1998a). Aggregates from mutant and wild-type alphasynuclein proteins and NAC peptide induce apoptotic cell death in human neuroblastoma cells by formation of beta-sheet and amyloid-like filaments. *FEBS Letters* 440, 71-75.
- El-Agnaf, O. M., Jakes, R., Curran, M. D., and Wallace, A. (1998b). Effects of the mutations Ala30 to Pro and Ala53 to Thr on the physical and morphological properties of alphasynuclein protein implicated in Parkinson's disease. *FEBS Letters* **440**, 67-70.
- Ellis, C. E., Schwartzberg, P. L., Grider, T. L., Fink, D. W., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2000). Alpha-synuclein is phosphorylated by members of the Src family of protein tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem 14, 14.
- Farrer, M., Chan, P., Chen, R., Tan, L., Lincoln, S., Hernandez, D., Forno, L., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Petrucelli, L., Hussey, J., Singleton, A., Tanner, C., Hardy, J., and Langston, J. W. (2001). Lewy bodies and parkinsonism in families with parkin mutations. *Ann Neurol* 50, 293-300.
- Feany, M. B., and Bender, W. W. (2000). A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* **404**, 394-398.
- Forno, L. S., and Langston, J. W. (1993). Neurodegeneration 2, 19-24.
- Fortini, M. E., Skupski, M. P., Boguski, M. S., and Hariharan, I. K. (2000). A survey of human disease gene counterparts in the Drosophila genome. *J Cell Biol* **150**, F23-30.
- Funayama, M., Hasegawa, K., Kowa, H., Saito, M., Tsuji, S., and Obata, F. (2002). A new locus for Parkinson's disease (PARK8) maps to chromosome 12p11.2-q13.1. Ann Neurol 51, 296-301.
- Gasser, T. (2005). Genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 18, 363-9.
- Ghee, M., Fournier, A., and Mallet, J. (2000). Rat alpha-synuclein interacts with Tat binding protein 1, a component of the 26S proteasomal complex. *J Neurochem* **75**, 2221-4.

- Ghee, M., Melki, R., Michot, N., and Mallet, J. (2005). PA700, the regulatory complex of the 26S proteasome, interferes with alpha-synuclein assembly. *Febs J* **272**, 4023-33.
- Giasson, B. I., Duda, J. E., Quinn, S. M., Zhang, B., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2002). Neuronal alpha-synucleinopathy with severe movement disorder in mice expressing A53T human alpha-synuclein. *Neuron* 34, 521-33.
- Gibb, W., and Lees, A. (1988). The relevance of the Lewy body in the pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinon's disease. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* 51, 745-752.
- Goldberg, M. S., and Lansbury, P. T. J. (2000). Is there a cause-and-effect relationship between alpha-synuclein fibrillization and Parkinson's disease? *Nat Cell Biol* **2**, E115-E119.
- Goldberg, M. S., Fleming, S. M., Palacino, J. J., Cepeda, C., Lam, H. A., Bhatnagar, A.,
 Meloni, E. G., Wu, N., Ackerson, L. C., Klapstein, G. J., Gajendiran, M., Roth, B. L.,
 Chesselet, M. F., Maidment, N. T., Levine, M. S., and Shen, J. (2003). Parkin-deficient
 mice exhibit nigrostriatal deficits but not loss of dopaminergic neurons. *J Biol Chem*278, 43628-35.
- Goldberg, M. S., Pisani, A., Haburcak, M., Vortherms, T. A., Kitada, T., Costa, C., Tong, Y., Martella, G., Tscherter, A., Martins, A., Bernardi, G., Roth, B. L., Pothos, E. N., Calabresi, P., and Shen, J. (2005). Nigrostriatal dopaminergic deficits and hypokinesia caused by inactivation of the familial Parkinsonism-linked gene DJ-1. *Neuron* 45, 489-96.
- Gorner, K., Holtorf, E., Odoy, S., Nuscher, B., Yamamoto, A., Regula, J. T., Beyer, K., Haass, C., and Kahle, P. J. (2004). Differential effects of Parkinson's disease-associated mutations on stability and folding of DJ-1. *J Biol Chem* 279, 6943-51.
- Greene, J. C., Whitworth, A. J., Kuo, I., Andrews, L. A., Feany, M. B., and Pallanck, L. J. (2003). Mitochondrial pathology and apoptotic muscle degeneration in Drosophila parkin mutants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **100**, 4078-4083.
- Greene, J. C., Whitworth, A. J., Andrews, L. A., Parker, T. J., and Pallanck, L. J. (2005). Genetic and genomic studies of Drosophila parkin mutants implicate oxidative stress and innate immune responses in pathogenesis. *Hum Mol Genet* 14, 799-811.
- Gu, W. J., Abbas, N., Lagunes, M. Z., Parent, A., Pradier, L., Bohme, G. A., Agid, Y., Hirsch, E. C., Raisman-Vozari, R., and Brice, A. (2000). Cloning of rat parkin cDNA and distribution of parkin in rat brain. *J Neurochem* 74, 1773-1776.
- Gurd, J. W. (1997). Protein tyrosine phosphorylation: implications for synaptic function. *Neurochem Int* **31**, 635-49.
- Harper, J. D., Lieber, C. M., and Lansbury, P. T. (1997a). Atomic force microscopic imaging of seeded fibril formation and fibril branching by the Alzheimer's disease amyloid-beta protein. *Chem Biol* **4**, 951-959.
- Harper, J. D., Wong, S. S., Lieber, C. M., and Lansbury, P. T. (1997b). Observation of metastable Abeta amyloid protofibrils by atomic force microscopy. *Chem Biol* 4, 119-112.
- Harper, J. D., Wong, S. S., Lieber, C. M., and Lansbury, P. T. (1999). Assembly of A beta amyloid protofibrils: an in vitro model for a possible early event in Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemistry* 38, 8972-8980.
- Hatano, Y., Li, Y., Sato, K., Asakawa, S., Yamamura, Y., Tomiyama, H., Yoshino, H., Asahina, M., Kobayashi, S., Hassin-Baer, S., Lu, C. S., Ng, A. R., Rosales, R. L.,

Shimizu, N., Toda, T., Mizuno, Y., and Hattori, N. (2004). Novel PINK1 mutations in early-onset parkinsonism. *Ann Neurol* 56, 424-7.

- Hayashi, S., Wakabayashi, K., Ishikawa, A., Nagai, H., Saito, M., Maruyama, M., Takahashi, T., Ozawa, T., Tsuji, S., and Takahashi, H. (2000). An autopsy case of autosomalrecessive juvenile parkinsonism with a homozygous exon 4 deletion in the parkin gene. *Mov. Disord* 15, 884-8.
- Healy, D. G., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., and Wood, N. W. (2004). PINK, PANK, or PARK? A clinicians' guide to familial parkinsonism. *Lancet Neurol* **3**, 652-62.
- Hershko, A., and Ciechanover, A. (1998). The Ubiquitin System. Ann Rev Biochem 67, 425-479.
- Hsia, A. Y., Masliah, E., McConlogue, L., Yu, G. Q., Tatsuno, G., Hu, K., Kholodenko, D., Malenka, R. C., Nicoll, R. A., and Mucke, L. (1999). Plaque-independent disruption of neural circuits in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 3228-3233.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., and Takahashi, R. (2000). Parkin suppresses unfolded protein stressinduced cell death through Its E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase activity. J Biol Chem 275, 35661-35664.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., Inoue, H., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., and Takahashi, R. (2001). An unfolded putative transmembrane polypeptide, which can lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress, is a substrate of Parkin. *Cell* **105**, 891-902.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., Hatakeyama, S., Akagi, T., Hashikawa, T., Nakayama, K. I., and Takahashi, R. (2002). CHIP is associated with Parkin, a gene responsible for familial Parkinson's disease, and enhances its ubiquitin ligase activity. *Mol Cell* **10**, 55-67.
- Ishikawa, A., and Tsuji, S. (1996). Clinical analysis of 17 patients in 12 Japanese families with autosomal-recessive type juvenile parkinsonism. *Neurology* **47**, 160-166.
- Jakes, R., Spillantini, M. G., and Goedert, M. (1994). Identification of two distinct synucleins from human brain. *FEBS Letters* **345**, 27-32.
- Javitch, J. A., D'Amato, R. J., Strittmatter, S. M., and Snyder, S. H. (1985). Parkinsonisminducing neurotoxin, N-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6 - tetrahydropyridine: uptake of the metabolite N-methyl-4-phenylpyridine by dopamine neurons explains selective toxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **82**, 2173-7.
- Joazeiro, C. A., Wing, S. S., Huang, H., Leverson, J. D., Hunter, T., and Liu, Y. C. (1999). The tyrosine kinase negative regulator c-Cbl as a RING-type, E2-dependent ubiquitinprotein ligase. *Science* **286**, 309-312.
- Junn, E., Lee, S. S., Suhr, U. T., and Mouradian, M. M. (2002). Parkin accumulation in aggresomes due to proteasome impairment. *J Biol Chem* 277, 47870-7.
- Kahle, P. J., Neumann, M., Ozmen, L., Muller, V., Jacobsen, H., Schindzielorz, A., Okochi, M., Leimer, U., van Der Putten, H., Probst, A., Kremmer, E., Kretzschmar, H. A., and Haass, C. (2000). Subcellular localization of wild-type and Parkinson's disease-associated mutant alpha -synuclein in human and transgenic mouse brain. *J Neurosci* 20, 6365-73.
- Kim, R. H., Smith, P. D., Aleyasin, H., Hayley, S., Mount, M. P., Pownall, S., Wakeham, A., You-Ten, A. J., Kalia, S. K., Horne, P., Westaway, D., Lozano, A. M., Anisman, H., Park, D. S., and Mak, T. W. (2005). Hypersensitivity of DJ-1-deficient mice to 1methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyrindine (MPTP) and oxidative stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102, 5215-20.

- Kirik, D., Annett, L. E., Burger, C., Muzyczka, N., Mandel, R. J., and Bjorklund, A. (2003). Nigrostriatal alpha-synucleinopathy induced by viral vector-mediated overexpression of human alpha-synuclein: a new primate model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100, 2884-9.
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., Yokochi, M., Mizuno, Y., and Shimizu, N. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* 392, 605-8.
- Klement, I. A., Skinner, P. J., Kaytor, M. D., Yi, H., Hersch, S. M., Clark, H. B., Zoghbi, H. Y., and Orr, H. T. (1998). Ataxin-1 nuclear localization and aggregation: role in polyglutamine-induced disease in SCA1 transgenic mice. *Cell* 95, 41-53.
- Kramer, J. M., and Staveley, B. E. (2003). GAL4 causes developmental defects and apoptosis when expressed in the developing eye of Drosophila melanogaster. *Genet Mol Res* 2, 43-7.
- Kruger, R., Kuhn, W., Muller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kosel, S., Przuntek, H., Epplen, J. T., Schols, L., and Riess, O. (1998). Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alphasynuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Gen* 18, 106-108.
- Langston, J. W., Forno, L. S., Tetrud, J., Reeves, A. G., Kaplan, J. A., and Karluk, D. (1999). Evidence of active nerve cell degeneration in the substantia nigra of humans years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine exposure. *Ann Neurol* **46**, 598-605.
- Lee, E., Burnett, C. A., Lalich, N., Cameron, L. L., and Sestito, J. P. (2002a). Proportionate mortality of crop and livestock farmers in the United States, 1984-1993. Am J Ind Med 42, 410-20.
- Lee, M. K., Stirling, W., Xu, Y., Xu, X., Qui, D., Mandir, A. S., Dawson, T. M., Copeland, N. G., Jenkins, N. A., and Price, D. L. (2002b). Human alpha-synuclein-harboring familial Parkinson's disease-linked Ala- 53 --> Thr mutation causes neurodegenerative disease with alpha- synuclein aggregation in transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 8968-73.
- Leroy, E., Boyer, R., Auburger, G., Leube, B., Ulm, G., Mezey, E., Harta, G., Brownstein, M. J., Jonnalagada, S., Chernova, T., Dehejia, A., Lavedan, C., Gasser, T., Steinbach, P. J., Wilkinson, K. D., and Polymeropoulos, M. H. (1998). The ubiquitin pathway in Parkinson's disease. *Nature* 395, 451-2.
- Lincoln, S., Vaughan, J., Wood, N., Baker, M., Adamson, J., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Lynch, T., Hardy, J., and Farrer, M. (1999). Low frequency of pathogenic mutations in the ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase gene in familial Parkinson's disease. *Neuroreport* 10, 427-9.
- Liu, Y., Fallon, L., Lashuel, H. A., Liu, Z., and Lansbury, P. T., Jr. (2002). The UCH-L1 gene encodes two opposing enzymatic activities that affect alpha-synuclein degradation and Parkinson's disease susceptibility. *Cell* **111**, 209-18.
- Lo Bianco, C., Ridet, J. L., Schneider, B. L., Deglon, N., and Aebischer, P. (2002). alpha -Synucleinopathy and selective dopaminergic neuron loss in a rat lentiviral-based model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **99**, 10813-8.
- Lo Bianco, C., Schneider, B. L., Bauer, M., Sajadi, A., Brice, A., Iwatsubo, T., and Aebischer, P. (2004). Lentiviral vector delivery of parkin prevents dopaminergic degeneration in an alpha-synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **101**, 17510-5.

- Lorick, K. L., Jensen, J. P., Fang, S., Ong, A. M., Hatakeyama, S., and Weissman, A. M. (1999). RING fingers mediate ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2)-dependent ubiquitination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 11364-11369.
- Manning-Bog, A. B., McCormack, A. L., Purisai, M. G., Bolin, L. M., and Di Monte, D. A. (2003). Alpha-synuclein overexpression protects against paraquat-induced neurodegeneration. *J Neurosci* 23, 3095-9.
- Marsh, J. L., and Thompson, L. M. (2004). Can flies help humans treat neurodegenerative diseases? *Bioessays* 26, 485-96.
- Martin, L. J. (2001). Neuronal cell death in nervous system development, disease, and injury (Review). Int J Mol Med 7, 455-78.
- Masliah, E., Rockenstein, E., Veinbergs, I., Mallory, M., Hashimoto, M., Takeda, A., Sagara, Y., Sisk, A., and Mucke, L. (2000). Dopaminergic loss and inclusion body formation in alpha-synuclein mice: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Science* 287, 1265-9.
- McNaught, K. S., and Jenner, P. (2001). Proteasomal function is impaired in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 297, 191-4.
- McNaught, K. S., Olanow, C. W., Halliwell, B., Isacson, O., and Jenner, P. (2001). Failure of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2, 589-94.
- Menzies, F. M., Yenisetti, S. C., and Min, K. T. (2005). Roles of Drosophila DJ-1 in survival of dopaminergic neurons and oxidative stress. *Curr Biol* **15**, 1578-82.
- Meulener, M., Whitworth, A. J., Armstrong-Gold, C. E., Rizzu, P., Heutink, P., Wes, P. D., Pallanck, L. J., and Bonini, N. M. (2005). Drosophila DJ-1 mutants are selectively sensitive to environmental toxins associated with Parkinson's disease. *Curr Biol* 15, 1572-7.
- Miller, D. W., Ahmad, R., Hague, S., Baptista, M. J., Canet-Aviles, R., McLendon, C., Carter, D. M., Zhu, P. P., Stadler, J., Chandran, J., Klinefelter, G. R., Blackstone, C., and Cookson, M. R. (2003). L166P mutant DJ-1, causative for recessive Parkinson's disease, is degraded through the ubiquitin-proteasome system. J Biol Chem 278, 36588-95.
- Mizuno, Y., Hattori, N., Mori, H., Suzuki, T., and Tanaka, K. (2001). Parkin and Parkinson's disease. *Curr Opin Neurol* 14, 477-82.
- Moechars, D., Dewachter, I., Lorent, K., Reverse, D., Baekelandt, V., Naidu, A., Tesseur, I.,
 Spittaels, K., Haute, C. V., Checler, F., Godaux, E., Cordell, B., and Van Leuven, F.
 (1999). Early phenotypic changes in transgenic mice that overexpress different mutants of amyloid precursor protein in brain. *J Biol Chem* 274, 6483-6492.
- Moore, D. J., Zhang, L., Dawson, T. M., and Dawson, V. L. (2003). A missense mutation (L166P) in DJ-1, linked to familial Parkinson's disease, confers reduced protein stability and impairs homo-oligomerization. *J Neurochem* **87**, 1558-67.
- Mori, H., Kondo, T., Yokochi, M., Matsumine, H., Nakagawa-Hattori, Y., Miyake, T., Suda, K., and Mizuno, Y. (1998). Pathologic and biochemical studies of juvenile parkinsonism linked to chromosome 6q. *Neurology* 51, 890-2.
- Mori, K. (2000). Tripartite management of unfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell* **101**, 451-454.
- Morris, H. R. (2005). Genetics of Parkinson's disease. Ann Med 37, 86-96.
- Nakamura, T., Yamashita, H., Takahashi, T., and Nakamura, S. (2001). Activated Fyn phosphorylates alpha-synuclein at tyrosine residue 125. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **280**, 1085-92.

- Narhi, L., Wood, S. J., Steavenson, S., Jiang, Y., Wu, G. M., Anafi, D., Kaufman, S. A., Martin, F., Sitney, K., Denis, P., Louis, J., Wypych, J., Biere, A. L., and Citron, M. (1999). Both Familial Parkinson's Disease Mutations Accelerate alpha-Synuclein Aggregation. J Biol Chem 274, 9843-9846.
- O'Dell, T. J., Kandel, E. R., and Grant, S. G. (1991). Long-term potentiation in the hippocampus is blocked by tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Nature* **353**, 558-60.
- Okochi, M., Walter, J., Koyama, A., Nakajo, S., Baba, M., Iwatsubo, T., Meijer, L., Kahle, P. J., and Haass, C. (2000). Constitutive phosphorylation of the Parkinson's disease associated alpha-synuclein. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 390-7.
- Olzmann, J. A., Brown, K., Wilkinson, K. D., Rees, H. D., Huai, Q., Ke, H., Levey, A. I., Li, L., and Chin, L. S. (2004). Familial Parkinson's disease-associated L166P mutation disrupts DJ-1 protein folding and function. *J Biol Chem* 279, 8506-15.
- Osaka, H., Wang, Y. L., Takada, K., Takizawa, S., Setsuie, R., Li, H., Sato, Y., Nishikawa, K., Sun, Y. J., Sakurai, M., Harada, T., Hara, Y., Kimura, I., Chiba, S., Namikawa, K., Kiyama, H., Noda, M., Aoki, S., and Wada, K. (2003). Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 binds to and stabilizes monoubiquitin in neuron. *Hum Mol Genet* 12, 1945-58.
- Paisan-Ruiz, C., Jain, S., Evans, E. W., Gilks, W. P., Simon, J., van der Brug, M., Lopez de Munain, A., Aparicio, S., Gil, A. M., Khan, N., Johnson, J., Martinez, J. R., Nicholl, D., Carrera, I. M., Pena, A. S., de Silva, R., Lees, A., Marti-Masso, J. F., Perez-Tur, J., Wood, N. W., and Singleton, A. B. (2004). Cloning of the gene containing mutations that cause PARK8-linked Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 44, 595-600.
- Palacino, J. J., Sagi, D., Goldberg, M. S., Krauss, S., Motz, C., Wacker, M., Klose, J., and Shen, J. (2004). Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage in parkin-deficient mice. *J Biol Chem* 279, 18614-22.
- Park, H. J., Lim, S., Joo, W. S., Yin, C. S., Lee, H. S., Lee, H. J., Seo, J. C., Leem, K., Son, Y. S., Kim, Y. J., Kim, C. J., Kim, Y. S., and Chung, J. H. (2003). Acupuncture prevents 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neuronal death in the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system in the rat Parkinson's disease model. *Exp Neurol* 180, 93-8.
- Park, J., Kim, S. Y., Cha, G. H., Lee, S. B., Kim, S., and Chung, J. (2005). Drosophila DJ-1 mutants show oxidative stress-sensitive locomotive dysfunction. *Gene*.
- Parkinson, J. (1817). An essay on the Shaking Palsy. In "A Manual of Diseases of the Nervous System" (W. R. Gowers, Ed.), pp. 6366-6657. Blakiston, Philadelphia.
- Pendleton, R. G., Parvez, F., Sayed, M., and Hillman, R. (2002). Effects of pharmacological agents upon a transgenic model of Parkinson's disease in Drosophila melanogaster. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 300, 91-6.
- Perez, R. G., Waymire, J. C., Lin, E., Liu, J. J., Guo, F., and Zigmond, M. J. (2002). A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J Neurosci* 22, 3090-9.
- Pesah, Y., Pham, T., Burgess, H., Middlebrooks, B., Verstreken, P., Zhou, Y., Harding, M., Bellen, H., and Mardon, G. (2004). Drosophila parkin mutants have decreased mass and cell size and increased sensitivity to oxygen radical stress. *Development* 131, 2183-94.
- Petrucelli, L., O'Farrell, C., Lockhart, P. J., Baptista, M., Kehoe, K., Vink, L., Choi, P., Wolozin, B., Farrer, M., Hardy, J., and Cookson, M. R. (2002). Parkin protects against the toxicity associated with mutant alpha- synuclein: proteasome dysfunction selectively affects catecholaminergic neurons. *Neuron* 36, 1007-19.

- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Higgins, J. J., Golbe, L. I., and Nussbaum, R. L. (1996). Mapping of a gene for Parkinson's disease to chromosome 4q21-q23. *Science* **274**, 1197-1198.
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, R., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E. S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A., Papapetropulos, T., Johnson, W. G., Lazzarini, A. M., Duvoisin, R. C., Di Ioria, G., Golbe, L. I., and Nussbaum, R. L. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-Synuclein Gene Identified in Families with Parkinson's Disease. *Science* 276, 2045-2047.
- Pronin, A. N., Morris, A. J., Surguchov, A., and Benovic, J. L. (2000). Synucleins are a novel class of substrates for G protein-coupled receptor kinases. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 26515-22.
- Przedborski, S., Levivier, M., Jiang, H., Ferreira, M., Jackson-Lewis, V., Donaldson, D., and Togasaki, D. M. (1995). Dose-dependent lesions of the dopaminergic nigrostriatal pathway induced by intrastriatal injection of 6-hydroxydopamine. *Neuroscience* 67, 631-47.
- Reiter, L. T., Potocki, L., Chien, S., Gribskov, M., and Bier, E. (2001). A systematic analysis of human disease-associated gene sequences in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genome Res* **11**, 1114-25.
- Richfield, E. K., Thiruchelvam, M. J., Cory-Slechta, D. A., Wuertzer, C., Gainetdinov, R. R., Caron, M. G., Di Monte, D. A., and Federoff, H. J. (2002). Behavioral and neurochemical effects of wild-type and mutated human alpha-synuclein in transgenic mice. *Exp Neurol* 175, 35-48.
- Rochet, J. C., Conway, K. A., and Lansbury, P. T. (2000). Inhibition of fibrillization and accumulation of prefibrillar oligomers in mixtures of human and mouse alpha-synuclein. *Biochemistry* **39**, 10619-26.
- Rohe, C. F., Montagna, P., Breedveld, G., Cortelli, P., Oostra, B. A., and Bonifati, V. (2004). Homozygous PINK1 C-terminus mutation causing early-onset parkinsonism. Ann Neurol 56, 427-31.
- Saha, A. R., Ninkina, N. N., Hanger, D. P., Anderton, B. H., Davies, A. M., and Buchman, V. L. (2000). Induction of neuronal death by alpha-synuclein. *Eur J Neurosci* 12, 3073-7.
- Satoh, J., and Kuroda, Y. (2001). A polymorphic variation of serine to tyrosine at codon 18 in the ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 gene is associated with a reduced risk of sporadic Parkinson's disease in a Japanese population. *J Neurol Sci* **189**, 113-7.
- Saudou, F., Finkbeiner, S., Devys, D., and Greenberg, M. E. (1998). Huntingtin acts in the nucleus to induce apoptosis but death does not correlate with the formation of intranuclear inclusions. *Cell* **95**, 55-66.
- Schwarting, R. K., and Huston, J. P. (1996). The unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine lesion model in behavioral brain research. Analysis of functional deficits, recovery and treatments. *Prog Neurobiol* 50, 275-331.
- Shang, H., Lang, D., Jean-Marc, B., and Kaelin-Lang, A. (2004). Localization of DJ-1 mRNA in the mouse brain. *Neurosci Lett* **367**, 273-7.
- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Yoshikawa, M., Kitada, T., Matsumine, H., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Yamamura, Y., Shimizu, N., and Mizuno, Y. (1999).
 Immunohistochemical and subcellular localization of Parkin protein: absence of protein in autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism patients. *Ann Neurol* 45, 668-672.

- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Iwai, K., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., and Suzuki, T. (2000). Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat Gen* 25, 302-305.
- Shimura, H., Schlossmacher, M. G., Hattori, N., Frosch, M. P., Trockenbacher, A., Schneider, R., Mizuno, Y., Kosik, K. S., and Selkoe, D. J. (2001). Ubiquitination of a new form of alpha-synuclein by parkin from human brain: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 293, 263-9.
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., Hulihan, M., Peuralinna, T., Dutra, A., Nussbaum, R., Lincoln, S., Crawley, A., Hanson, M., Maraganore, D., Adler, C., Cookson, M. R., Muenter, M., Baptista, M., Miller, D., Blancato, J., Hardy, J., and Gwinn-Hardy, K. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* **302**, 841.
- Smith, W. W., Margolis, R. L., Li, X., Troncoso, J. C., Lee, M. K., Dawson, V. L., Dawson, T. M., Iwatsubo, T., and Ross, C. A. (2005). Alpha-synuclein phosphorylation enhances eosinophilic cytoplasmic inclusion formation in SH-SY5Y cells. *J Neurosci* 25, 5544-52.
- Spacey, S. D., and Wood, N. W. (1999). The genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 12, 427-432.
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M. Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). alpha-Synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* **388**, 839-840.
- Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M., and Goedert, M. (1998). alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with lewy bodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **95**, 6469-73.
- Taira, T., Saito, Y., Niki, T., Iguchi-Ariga, S. M., Takahashi, K., and Ariga, H. (2004). DJ-1 has a role in antioxidative stress to prevent cell death. *EMBO Rep* **5**, 213-8.
- Takahashi-Niki, K., Niki, T., Taira, T., Iguchi-Ariga, S. M., and Ariga, H. (2004). Reduced anti-oxidative stress activities of DJ-1 mutants found in Parkinson's disease patients. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **320**, 389-97.
- Takahashi, H., Ohama, E., Suzuki, S., Horikawa, Y., Ishikawa, A., Morita, T., Tsuji, S., and Ikuta, F. (1994). Familial juvenile parkinsonism: clinical and pathologic study in a family. *Neurology* **44**, 437-441.
- Takahashi, R., and Imai, Y. (2003). Pael receptor, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol* **250 Suppl 3**, III25-9.
- Takahashi, R., Imai, Y., Hattori, N., and Mizuno, Y. (2003). Parkin and endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **991**, 101-6.
- Tanaka, M., Kim, Y. M., Lee, G., Junn, E., Iwatsubo, T., and Mouradian, M. M. (2004). Aggresomes formed by alpha-synuclein and synphilin-1 are cytoprotective. *J Biol Chem* 279, 4625-31.
- Tatton, W. G., and Olanow, C. W. (1999). Apoptosis in neurodegenerative diseases: the role of mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1410, 195-213.
- Tompkins, M. M., Basgall, E. J., Zamrini, E., and Hill, W. D. (1997). Apoptotic-like changes in Lewy-body-associated disorders and normal aging in substantia nigral neurons. *Amer Jour Path* **150**, 119-31.
- Tompkins, M. M., and Hill, W. D. (1997). Contribution of somal Lewy bodies to neuronal death. *Brain Research* 775, 24-29.
- Tuchsen, F., and Jensen, A. A. (2000). Agricultural work and the risk of Parkinson's disease in Denmark, 1981- 1993. Scand J Work Environ Health 26, 359-62.

- Ueda, K., Fukushima, H., Masliah, E., Xia, Y., Iwai, A., Yoshimoto, M., Otero, D. A. C., Kondo, J., Ihara, Y., and Saitoh, T. (1993). Molecular cloning of cDNA encoding an unrecognized component of amyloid in Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90, 11282-11286.
- Ungerstedt, U. (1968). 6-Hydroxy-dopamine induced degeneration of central monoamine neurons. *Eur J Pharmacol* 5, 107-10.
- Uversky, V. N., Li, J., and Fink, A. L. (2001). Pesticides directly accelerate the rate of alphasynuclein fibril formation: a possible factor in Parkinson's disease. *FEBS Lett* **500**, 105-8.
- Valente, E. M., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., Caputo, V., Muqit, M. M., Harvey, K., Gispert, S., Ali, Z., Del Turco, D., Bentivoglio, A. R., Healy, D. G., Albanese, A., Nussbaum, R., Gonzalez-Maldonado, R., Deller, T., Salvi, S., Cortelli, P., Gilks, W. P., Latchman, D. S., Harvey, R. J., Dallapiccola, B., Auburger, G., and Wood, N. W. (2004a). Hereditary early-onset Parkinson's disease caused by mutations in PINK1. Science 304, 1158-60.
- Valente, E. M., Salvi, S., Ialongo, T., Marongiu, R., Elia, A. E., Caputo, V., Romito, L., Albanese, A., Dallapiccola, B., and Bentivoglio, A. R. (2004b). PINK1 mutations are associated with sporadic early-onset parkinsonism. *Ann Neurol* 56, 336-41.
- Ved, R., Saha, S., Westlund, B., Perier, C., Burnam, L. G., Sluder, A., Hoener, M., Rodrigues, C. M., Alfonso, A., Steer, C., Liu, L., Przedborski, S., and Wolozin, B. (2005). Similar patterns of mitochondrial vulnerability and rescue induced by genetic modification of alpha -synuclein, parkin and DJ-1 in C. elegans. J Biol Chem.
- Vila, M., Jackson-Lewis, V., Vukosavic, S., Djaldetti, R., Liberatore, G., Offen, D., Korsmeyer, S. J., and Przedborski, S. (2001). Bax ablation prevents dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the 1-methyl- 4- phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 2837-42.
- Walsh, D. M., and Selkoe, D. J. (2004). Oligomers on the brain: the emerging role of soluble protein aggregates in neurodegeneration. *Protein Pept Lett* **11**, 213-28.
- Weingarten, H. L. (1988). 1-Methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): one designer drug and serendipity. *J Forensic Sci* 33, 588-95.
- Weinreb, P. H., Zhen, W., Poon, A. W., Conway, K. A., and Lansbury, P. T. J. (1996). NACP, a protein implicated in Alzheimer's disease and learning, is natively unfolded. *Biochemistry* 35, 13709-13715.
- Wu, D. C., Teismann, P., Tieu, K., Vila, M., Jackson-Lewis, V., Ischiropoulos, H., and Przedborski, S. (2003). NADPH oxidase mediates oxidative stress in the 1-methyl-4phenyl- 1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 29, 29.
- Yamamoto, A., Friedlein, A., Imai, Y., Takahashi, R., Kahle, P. J., and Haass, C. (2004). Parkin phosphorylation and modulation of its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. *J Biol Chem*.
- Yang, Y., Fang, S., Jensen, J. P., Weissman, A. M., and Ashwell, J. D. (2000). Ubiquitin protein ligase activity of IAPs and their degradation in proteasomes in response to apoptotic stimuli. *Science* 288, 874-877.
- Yang, Y., Gehrke, S., Haque, M. E., Imai, Y., Kosek, J., Yang, L., Beal, M. F., Nishimura, I., Wakamatsu, K., Ito, S., Takahashi, R., and Lu, B. (2005). Inactivation of Drosophila DJ-1 leads to impairments of oxidative stress response and phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/Akt signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102, 13670-5.

- Yokouchi, M., Kondo, T., Houghton, A., Bartkiewicz, M., Horne, W. C., Zhang, H., Yoshimura, A., and Baron, R. (1999). Ligand-induced ubiquitination of the epidermal growth factor receptor involves the interaction of the c-Cbl RING finger and UbcH7. J Biol Chem 274, 31707-31712.
- Zarranz, J. J., Alegre, J., Gomez-Esteban, J. C., Lezcano, E., Ros, R., Ampuero, I., Vidal, L., Hoenicka, J., Rodriguez, O., Atares, B., Llorens, V., Gomez Tortosa, E., del Ser, T., Munoz, D. G., and de Yebenes, J. G. (2004). The new mutation, E46K, of alphasynuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. *Ann Neurol* 55, 164-73.
- Zhang, J., Hattori, N., Leroy, E., Morris, H. R., Kubo, S., Kobayashi, T., Wood, N. W., Polymeropoulos, M. H., and Mizuno, Y. (2000a). Association between a polymorphism of ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) gene and sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 6, 195-197.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, J., Chung, K. K., Huang, H., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2000b). Parkin functions as an E2-dependent ubiquitin- protein ligase and promotes the degradation of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 97, 13354-9.
- Zimprich, A., Biskup, S., Leitner, P., Lichtner, P., Farrer, M., Lincoln, S., Kachergus, J.,
 Hulihan, M., Uitti, R. J., Calne, D. B., Stoessl, A. J., Pfeiffer, R. F., Patenge, N.,
 Carbajal, I. C., Vieregge, P., Asmus, F., Muller-Myhsok, B., Dickson, D. W.,
 Meitinger, T., Strom, T. M., Wszolek, Z. K., and Gasser, T. (2004). Mutations in
 LRRK2 cause autosomal-dominant parkinsonism with pleomorphic pathology. *Neuron* 44, 601-7.

Chapter 2: Parkin counteracts symptoms in a

Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease

A version of this chapter has been published in BMC Neuroscience (Haywood and Staveley, 2004).

2.1 Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that is characterized by muscle tremors in stationary limbs, bradykinesia (slowed movement) and difficulty initiating and sustaining movements, and affects 1–2% of the population older than sixty years of age (Dawson, 2000; Giasson and Lee, 2001; Lansbury and Brice, 2002; Parkinson, 1817; Spacey and Wood, 1999). As the disease progresses, both the sense of balance and the memory of the affected individual deteriorate. Post-mortem analysis reveals the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons from the substantia nigra region of the brain. Filamentous protein inclusions, known as Lewy bodies, are found within the neuronal cell bodies of the affected area in most but not all PD patients (Giasson and Lee, 2001). Although the majority of PD cases appear to be sporadic, about 5–15% have been determined to have an inherited basis (de Silva *et al.*, 2000; Mizuno *et al.*, 2001). Recently, mutations in a number of genes have been identified as causes of PD, and many of these genes are associated with the ubiquitin/proteasome protein degradation pathway.

Mutations in the gene encoding the α -synuclein protein lead to the development of Autosomal Dominant PD (ADPD) (Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1996; Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1997). The α -synuclein protein is an abundant 140 amino acid, cytosolic protein found at the pre-synaptic region of neurons (Clayton and George, 1998; Jakes *et al.*, 1994). α -synuclein appears to be involved in the biosynthesis of dopamine (Baptista *et al.*, 2003; Perez *et al.*, 2002). Mutations in the α -synuclein gene (Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1996; Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1997) may lead to enhanced oligomerization and fibril formation of the α -synuclein protein (Conway *et al.*, 2000a; Conway *et al.*, 2000b).

Autosomal Recessive Juvenile Parkinson's disease (ARJP), another inherited form of PD, has been attributed to a number of point mutations and deletions of the parkin gene (Kitada et al., 1998; Munoz et al., 2000; Nisipeanu et al., 1999). ARJP is specifically characterized by a very early age of onset, mostly before forty years of age, and the absence of Lewy bodies (Hayashi et al., 2000; Ishikawa and Tsuji, 1996; Mori et al., 1998). In humans, the parkin gene encodes a 465 amino acid protein (Kitada et al., 1998) that functions as one of a number of E3 ubiquitin protein ligases, components of the ubiquitin/proteasome degradation pathway (Shimura et al., 2000). Ubiquitin protein ligases act to identify damaged, misfolded, and shortlived proteins to mediate the ubiquitination (the sequential attachment of a number of ubiquitin monomers) of these proteins, which are targeted to the proteasome (Hershko and Ciechanover, 1998; Pickart, 2001). Experiments in tissue culture have demonstrated that parkin can ubiquitinate a number of substrates including a glycosylated form of α -synuclein (Shimura et al., 2001), the Pael receptor (Imai et al., 2001), CDCrel-1 (Zhang et al., 2000), the α -synuclein-binding protein synphilin-1 (Chung *et al.*, 2001), and parkin itself (Imai *et al.*, 2000; Zhang et al., 2000). The loss of parkin may lead to an accumulation of one or a number of proteins in sufficient quantities to cause neuronal cell death.

The interaction of parkin with α -synuclein suggests a common mechanism underlying inherited forms of PD. Indeed, elevated expression of *parkin* protects neuronal explants from the toxicity associated with expression of α -synuclein (Petrucelli *et al.*, 2002; Shimura *et al.*, 2001). The disease inducing-forms of α -synuclein may prevent its own degradation and result in toxic accumulation. In ARJP, functional parkin protein is lost along with the ability to mediate the ubiquitination of glycosylated α -synuclein and may lead to the accumulation of

this protein (Shimura *et al.*, 2001). Our working hypothesis is that aspects of parkin-mediated protein degradation are compromised in PD.

The first *Drosophila melanogaster* model of PD was generated by the conditional expression of human α -synuclein in transgenic *Drosophila* (Feany and Bender, 2000). Flies that express α -synuclein, in either a pan-neural or dopaminergic neuron specific manner, show a marked age-dependent loss of dorsal-medial dopaminergic neurons. Cytoplasmic inclusions were observed in α -synuclein-expressing flies approximately 20 days after eclosion. While control flies exhibit a strong negative geotaxis, these transgenic flies prematurely lose their climbing ability. In addition, expression of α -synuclein in the developing eye results in precocious degeneration of the retina. In this model expression of a number of genes are dysregulated prior to the onset of neurodegeneration (Scherzer *et al.*, 2003). These features recapitulate the main behavioural and pathological phenotypes of PD and provide an excellent model system to study the biological basis of the disease.

The *Drosophila* α -synuclein based model has been used to investigate a number of aspects of PD. Pharmacological agents, such as the dopamine precursor levodopa, dopamine receptor agonists (bromocriptine, pergolide and SK&F38393), and the anticholinergic atropine, were demonstrated to modify the age-dependent loss of climbing ability (Pendleton *et al.*, 2002). Co-expression of the molecular chaperone *HSP70* gene with α -synuclein prevented dopaminergic neuronal degeneration (Auluck *et al.*, 2002). Interference with endogenous chaperone activity accelerated the toxicity of α -synuclein demonstrating a role for chaperones in the pathology of the disease. Suppression of HSP90, a negative regulator of heat shock

factor 1, by feeding flies geldanamycin prevents dopaminergic neuronal cell death (Auluck and Bonini, 2002). Recently, the expression of human *parkin* has been shown to suppress the loss of dopaminergic neurons induced by α -synuclein in Drosophila (Yang et al., 2003). This model has proven to be an effective tool in the investigation of the biological basis of PD.

To investigate the role of *parkin* in the α -synuclein-based model of Parkinson's disease in *Drosophila*, we have characterized and expressed the *Drosophila* homologue of *parkin* in this model. Our results demonstrate that *parkin* can counteract the effects of α -synuclein on climbing activity and retinal degeneration.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Bioinformatic and sequence analysis

The *Drosophila melanogaster* homologue of *parkin* was identified through a search of the Berkeley *Drosophila* Genome Project queried with the human parkin amino acid sequence, AB009973.1. A clone of the *Drosophila parkin* cDNA (SD01679) was obtained from Research Genetics (Stapleton *et al.*, 2002), sub-cloned and sequenced (Cortec DNA Service Laboratories Inc., Kingston, ON, Canada). The intron/exon map was constructed by comparison of the cDNA to the corresponding genomic region. Other homologues of *parkin* were identified with the tblastn algorithm (Altschul *et al.*, 1997) of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) using the theoretical translation of SD01679 cDNA. The blast2 sequence comparison program (NCBI) was used to compare the *Rattus norvegicus* (NM_020093.1), *Mus musculus* (AB019558.1) and *Anopheles gambiae* (XM316606.1) parkin

protein sequences individually with the *D. melanogaster* parkin protein sequence (Altschul *et al.*, 1997). The multi-alignment of the five parkin homologues from *D. melanogaster*, *A. gambiae*, *R. norvegicus*, *M. musculus* and *Homo sapiens* was constructed by editing the results from the multialign ClustalW program from the Pôle Bio-Informatique Lyonnaise (Thompson *et al.*, 1994).

2.2.2 Fly stocks and culture

Dr. M. Feany (Harvard Medical School) and Dr. J. Hirsh (University of Virginia) generously provided *UAS-α-synuclein* (Feany and Bender, 2000) and *Ddc-Gal4*^{4.36} flies (Li *et al.*, 2000) respectively. The *glass mediated receptor* (*GMR*)-*Gal4* flies (Freeman, 1996) were obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center at University of Indiana, Bloomington. A *BglII/XhoI* fragment containing the *parkin* cDNA (SD01679) was subcloned into the *pUAST* vector to generate the *UAS-parkin* transgene. Two independent transgenic lines were generated using heat shock π as a source of transposase and standard injection techniques into w^{1118} embryos. Double transgenic lines with *UAS-α-synuclein*; *UAS-parkin*^{1.1} and *UAS-αsynuclein*; *UAS-parkin*^{2.1} were generated using standard techniques. To drive expression of the transgenes, *Ddc-Gal4* (for expression in the dopaminergic neurons) or *GMR-Gal4* (for expression in the eye) homozygous females were crossed to w^{1118} males (control) or *UAS-αsynuclein* males with or without *UAS-parkin*^{1.1} or *UAS-parkin*^{2.1}. All flies were cultured on standard cornmeal/yeast/molasses/agar media at 25°C.

2.2.3 In situ hybridization analysis

Third instar larvae were dissected in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), fixed in 4% formaldehyde and dehydrated in methanol and ethanol. The carcases were probed with a DIG labelled anti-sense *parkin* RNA probe generated from a linear cut plasmid containing the entire *parkin* cDNA using the Roche Applied Science DIG Northern starter kit and reduced in size with carbonate buffer treatment. To visualize *parkin* RNA alkaline phosphatase labelled anti-DIG anti-bodies were incubated with the carcases and subjected to alkaline phosphate treatment as per the Roche Applied Science DIG application manual. The eye discs were dissected out completely and examined under light microscopy. The genotypes of the larvae examined were 1) w^{1118} ; 2) w^{1118} ; *GMR-Gal4/+*; *UAS-parkin*^{1.1}/+; and 3) w^{1118} ; *GMR-Gal4/+*; *UAS-parkin*^{2.1}/+ and at least ten of each genotype were examined.

2.2.4 Aging analysis

Adult males were collected under gaseous carbon dioxide anaesthetic and aged in small groups (~10 or less per vial) upon standard cornmeal/yeast/molasses/agar media at 25°C in upright standard plastic shell vials. The flies were scored for viability every two to three days and transferred to fresh media without anaesthesia (Staveley *et al.*, 1990). The numbers of individuals aged are as follows: $UAS-\alpha$ -synuclein/+; Ddc-Gal4/+ = 191; $UAS-\alpha$ -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{2.1}/Ddc-Gal4 = 292; $UAS-\alpha$ -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/Ddc-Gal4 = 204; w^{1118} ; Ddc-Gal4/+ = 173; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/Ddc-Gal4 = 262; and UAS-parkin^{2.1}/Ddc-Gal4 = 227.

2.2.5 Locomotion assay

Flies were assayed for their ability to climb as described by Feany and Bender (Feany and Bender, 2000). Every five days, forty male flies from a cohort of flies were assayed for their ability to climb six centimetres in eighteen seconds in a sterile plastic vial. Twenty trials were carried out for each time point. Data shown represent the results from flies tested over ninety days.

2.2.6 Scanning electron microscopy of the Drosophila eye

Flies were of each genotype 1) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; 2) w^{1118} ; UAS- α synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/+; and 3) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UASparkin^{2.1}/+ aged and frozen in a -70°C ethanol bath. Whole flies were mounted, desiccated overnight and coated in gold before photography at 150 times magnification with a Hitachi S-570 SEM as per standard methods. For each condition at least six flies were analysed.

2.2.7 Histological examination of Drosophila adult retinas

Adult flies 1) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; 2) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UASparkin^{1.1}/+; and 3) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UAS-parkin^{2.1}/+ were aged (one or thirty days after eclosion), fixed in Karnovsky's fixative and embedded in epon. Tangential retinal sections were prepared at a thickness of 0.5 µm and stained with toluidine blue, examined by light microscopy and photographed at magnification of 800 times.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Characterisation of Drosophila melanogaster parkin

The *Drosophila melanogaster parkin* homologue was identified through a search of the Berkeley Drosophila Genome Project (BDGP) utilizing the tBlastn search algorithm. The *parkin* gene is located on the left arm of the third chromosome, in the polytene chromosome section 78C within the genomic scaffolding region AE003593 (BDGP), and consists of 6 exons over 2.2 kb (Figure 2-1A). A search of the genome for additional *parkin* homologues revealed none. Our analysis confirmed the sequence of *parkin* to be identical to that reported by the BDGP (AY058754.1). Two potential initiation codons for the parkin protein are separated by 42 base pairs at the 5' region of the transcript. As the second potential start codon is preceded by CAAA, a match to the *Drosophila* Kozak consensus sequence (C/A)AA(A/C)ATG) of translation initiation (Cavener, 1987), we have assigned this as the most likely start codon. Furthermore, of the preceding fourteen potential codons only two use preferred codons (Moriyama and Powell, 1997) (data not shown). The *Drosophila parkin* gene was reported by Greene and colleagues (Greene *et al.*, 2003), while the current experiments were being conducted.

G	enor	nic sequence //- E 003593 244	s 244.2	243,8	243.5	243.2	242.8	V V 242,5	242.2	КЪ	
					+	Ubiquitin like	e domain (UBD)				
3	D. A. R. H.	melanogaster gambiae norvegieus musculus sapiens	MLELLQFGGKTLTWTLSTY MLAIFSFGKKLSNSLSVY HIVF HIVF HIVF	VRZHOKTLTVNLER VRZNTCHTLAVDLER VRENSETGEPVEVDS VRENSETGEFVEVDS VRENSERGEPVEVDS	OND INIVALIANO INDI KOVKENAPR DISTROLAEVAN DISTROLAEVAN DISTROLAEVAN DISTROLAEVAN	LELQYODLETITAG LELEPGELETITAG QVPADQLEVITAG QVPADQLEVITAG QVPADQLEVITAG	RELEDATTIECTU RELEDATTIECTU RELERENTYIECTU RELERENTYICE RELERENTYICE RELERENTYICE	GOOSVLEATRL8P- GOOSIINVVKSNPT BOOSIVHIVQ-RPQ BOOSIVHIVQ-RPQ DOOSIVHIVQ-RPN V4001VNIVQ-RPN	AITTPO RESHETNASO RESHETNASO REGORMENTO	92 97 985 985 985 985	
							Uniou	e narkin domain	(UPD)		
	D. A. R. H.	melanogaster gambiae norvegieus musculus sapiens	QRQKIQSATLETE-EPS HRQAKPALNATIS EPSPE GDHQSTPESSIW PRSLT GDHQSTSESSIW SRSLT GDDPRNAAGOCER PQSLT	LSDEASKPINETLLE BOOGHERDISETNSE RVDLSSBILPADSVG RVDLSSBILPADSVG RVDLSSBILPADSVG	LQLESSE-RLNITD LTVLDEENGDQS AVILDTDSKSDSE LAVILDTDSKSDSE AVILDTDSKSDSE	EERVR	TVICE-QCDKLCN PVYCS-QCEKVCTO TVYCKGPCEKVQPO TYYCKGPCEKVQPO TVYCKGPCQKVQPO	VICT ROAT	VERDIT M LAGES LAGES	181 190 181 184	
			Unique parkin domain (UPD)					RINGI			
	D. A. R.	melanogaster gambiae norvegieus	DVIKSRRIPGHCEBLEVAC DVIKERRITGHCENYEVPC DVIIPNHHBGECQSPDCPG	VDNAAGDPPFAEFF VENDEGEPPFTEFT TR	CAE VSGGE OFA	AFINIIKN FYNYD AFISIIKT SYNF VALNIITN FRST VALNITTS BRST	CLACTOVEDTVLVP CLACTOVESTILVP CLACTOVESPVLVP CLACTOVESPVLVP	PCASQHVTCIDCPH PCVAGHVSCLDCPH QCNHRHVICLDCPH QCNHRHVICLDCPH	EYCESELGEE QTOVTELLEE LYCVTELNOF LYCVTELNOF	8 283 8 290 8 271 8 274	
	н. Н.	sapiens	INTERNING BOORPHORE	T8	CGA PTS-DEETP	VALBLIAT BRNTT	*::***	OCNSRRVICIOCEN	LYCVIRIND	27:	
	н. В.	sapiens	DVLIPHRESECGEPCCP	T8AIF71	COA PTS-DEETP	VALBLIAT	Inhetween PINC	domain (IBP)	LYCVTRINDI	275	
	H.H. D.A.R.H.H.	melanogaster gambiae norvegieus musculus sapiens	OPHIPHOPOLITILPCPAGE OPHIPHOPOLITILPCPAGE OPHIPHOPOLITILPCPAGE OPHIPHOPOLITILPCPAGE OPHIPHOPOLITILPCVAGE OPHIPHOPOLITILPCVAGE OPHIPHOPOLITILPCVAGE	RSFIESIGNYHLLT: SSFIESIGNYHLLT: SSFIESIGNYHLLH: SSLIKELENFFILG: SSLIKELENFFILG: SSLIKELENFFILG:		VLQAGGVLCPQPGC VLQAGGVLCPQPGC VLQAGGVLCPRPGC VLQAGGVLCPRPGC VLQAGGVLCPRPGC	Inhetween RING	COMPANY CLOCKY	LYCVIALNO BYCLOOTHIC ISCLOOTHIC IDCREATHE IDCREATHE RECREATHE	275 386 376 376 376 376	
	N. H. D. A. R. M. H.	melanogaster gambiae norvegieus musculus sapiens	OFMONIPOLICIES OF PHONE OF PHO	RSFIEBINNYALLTF NSFIEBINNYALLTF NSFIEDVUNPALLN NSLINELENFRIG NSLINELENFRIG NSLINELENFRIG		VALUAGEVLCPQPGC VLCAGEVLCPQPGC VLCAGEVLCPRPGC VLCAGEVLCPRPGC VLCAGEVLCPRPGC	Inbetween RING	domain (IBR) como convec como convec convec como convec convec como convec convec como convec c	DICLOSTHI BOCLOSTHI BOCKSATHE DOCKSATHE RECKSATHE	275 386 375 386 375 375 375	
	H.H. D.A. R. H.H. D. A. R. H.H. D.	melanogaster gambiae norvegieus musculus sapiens melanogaster	QPHPHPDPQTTLPCPAGE QPHPHPDPQTTLPCPAGE QPHPHPDPQTTLPCPAGE QPHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE QPHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE QPHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE QPHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE QFHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE QFHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE QFHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE QFHDAQLGYSLPCVAGE	TSAEFTI HSFIEEINNYNLLTY HSFIEDVHFFNLLTY HSLINELENFFNLG HSLINELENFFNLG HSLINELENFFNLG HSLINELENFFNLG HSLINELENFFNLG		VLQAGEVLCPQPGC VLQAGEVLCPQPGC VLQAGEVLCPRPGC VLQAGEVLCPRPGC VLQAGEVLCPRPGC TPTENDGGCHEMVC	Inhetween RING	COMPANY CLOCKER COMPANY CLOCKER CLOCKE	LYCVIELNOI BOCLQOTHIC BOCKGATHE DOCKGATHE BOCKGATHE BOCKGATHE BOCKGATHE BOCKGATHE	275 386 375 386 376 376	
	H. H. D. A. R. H. H. D. A. R.	masculus sapiens melanogaster gambise norvegieus masculus sapiens melanogaster gambiae norvegieus	OFICLPBGTGAIATISCETTV GFICHEPOFOTTLPCPAOCE OFICHEPOFOTTLPCPAOCE	TSAEFT BSFIELMNFMLLTF MSFIELWHFMLLNF MSLIKELMHFMILG MSLIKELMHFMILG 1 ************************************		VALHLIATI BRIT VLQASGVLCPQPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG VLQHSGVLCPRPGG		CONSERVICIOCEN	LVCVTRINC) ROF LQOTHIC SCLOSTHIC PDCKRATHE DCKRATHE RECKRATHE - 468 - 475 V 464	375 386 375 376 376 376	
	H. H. D. A. R. H.	melanogaster gambiae norvegieus musculus sapiens melanogaster gambiae norvegieus musculus	OF HEROTGASATISCETTV OF HEROTGASATISCETTV OF HEROTGASATISCETTV OF HEROTGASATISCETTV DE LEBOTGASATISCETTV DE LEBOTGASATISCETTV DE LEBOTGASATISCETTV DE LEBOTGASATISCETTV DE DESLE - PSGATGATEV	TSAEFT BSFIELIHFHILTF HSFIELIHFHILTF HSLIKELHFHILG HSLIKELHFHILG HSLIKELHFHILG HSLIKELHFHILG DPNRAALADHDEAS DPLRASLAFHDEATT DQRABCAHMEAS DERAECANMEAS	EXCAN PTS-DEXT	VALALITATI BRITA VLQAOGVLCPQPOC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGVLCPROC VLQAOGULCP		CONSTRUCTORY CONST	LYCVTHIND BOCLOGTHI BOCKEATHE DOCKEATHE RECKEATHE RECKEATHE + 468 - 475 V 464 V 463 V 464	37 38 37 37 37 37 37	

Figure 2-1: Dipteran and mammalian parkin proteins are well conserved.

A - Schematic representation of the *Drosophila melanogaster* parkin transcription unit and its location in the genomic scaffolding region AE003593. B - ClustalW alignment of the *Drosophila melanogaster* parkin with homologues from *Anopheles gambiae*, *Rattus norvegicus*, *Mus musculus* and *Homo sapiens*. Highlighted are the Ubiquitin-like Domain (UBL) (green box); the Unique Parkin Domain (UPD) (red box); RING1 and RING2 (blue boxes); In-Between Ring Domain (IRB) (black box). "*" and red lettering indicates amino acids that are identical in all sequences in the alignment. ":" and green lettering indicates conserved substitutions. "." and blue lettering indicates semi-conserved substitutions.

2.3.2 The parkin protein is well conserved

The *Drosophila melanogaster* parkin protein has been reported to be 42% identical to human parkin (Greene *et al.*, 2003) (Figure 2-1B). Parkin protein homologues were identified from *R. norvegicus* (NM_020093.1) and *M. musculus* (AB019558.1) via the tblastn algorithm of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Both the *R. norvegicus* and *M. musculus* homologues were found to have 44% identity and 60% similarity to *D. melanogaster* parkin when analysed by the blast2 algorithm (Figure 2-1B). In addition, we have determined that the *A.s gambiae* sequence XM316606.1 (Holt *et al.*, 2002) is a homologue of *parkin*. Like *D. melanogaster*, the *A. gambiae* transcript has two potential in-frame translation start sites. The Kozak sequence prior to the first ATG is very poor, however the second site closely resembles the consensus sequence and therefore it is very likely the start site. We determined that the theoretical *A. gambiae* parkin protein has 65% identity and 79% similarity to *D. melanogaster* parkin (Figure 2-1B). The parkin protein appears to be highly conserved at the amino acid sequence level.

Alignment of *D. melanogaster* parkin protein sequences with the *A. gambiae*, *R. norvegicus*, *M. musculus* and *H. sapiens* homologues reveals conservation of the protein throughout a number of characteristic domains, including the <u>Ub</u>iquitin-like Domain (UBL), the <u>U</u>nique <u>Parkin Domain (UPD)</u>, the <u>Really Interesting New Gene finger 1 (RING1) domain, the In-Between Ring (IBR) domain, and the RING2 domain (Figure 2-1B). In the amino-terminal region of the proteins, the first 15 amino acids are well conserved between *A. gambiae* and *D. melanogaster*, but absent in the mammalian proteins. The human UBL shows very high similarity (62%) to human ubiquitin (Kitada *et al.*, 1998). Correspondingly the *Drosophila*</u>

UBL (Figure 2-1B, green box) was found to have 43% identity and 67% similarity to *Drosophila* ubiquitin (AAA29007; data not shown). The second highly conserved region is unique to parkin and has been termed the unique parkin domain (UPD) (Kahle *et al.*, 2000) (Figure 2-1, red box). *D. melanogaster* and *A. gambiae* share a similar eight amino acid insertion in the UPD (Figure 2-1B). There are two RING-finger domains that are defined by the consensus sequence $C-X_2-C-X_{9...39}-C-X_{1...3}-H-X_{2...3}-C/H-X_2-C-X_{4...48}-C-X_2-C$ where X can be any amino acid (Figure 2-1B, blue boxes) (Freemont, 2000). These RING-finger domains flank a cysteine-rich domain designated the In-Between Ring (IBR) domain (Figure 2-1B, black box) (Morett and Bork, 1999). These three domains are responsible for binding to specific E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes (Imai *et al.*, 2000; Shimura *et al.*, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2000). Between the RING1 and the IBR domains there is an eighteen amino acid stretch of high conservation with the sequence

(N/H)S(L/F)I(K/E)(E/D)(I/L)HHF(K/R)(L/I)LX(R/E)E(E/Q)Y. A 41 amino acid segment separates the IBR and RING2 domains, and while the first half of this segment is not well conserved the second half is highly conserved with the sequence

AX(E/Q)ARW(D/E)XA(S/T)(N/K)X(T/A)IKX(S/T)TKP. The carboxy-terminus is well conserved and has the following sequence M(G/A)XHWF(G/D)(-/V), suggesting a possible conserved function for the tail of the protein. As parkin undergoes self-ubiquitination (Zhang *et al.*, 2000), conserved potential ubiquitination sites (lysine residues) were identified. There is a lysine residue that is completely conserved at K-42 of the dipterans and this corresponding residue is K-27 in mammals (Figure 2-1B, black arrow). The mouse and rat *parkin* homologues have been recently compared to *Drosophila parkin* (Bae *et al.*, 2003), however a number of the above features were not discussed. Overall parkin appears to be highly
conserved between mammalian and dipteran species suggesting conservation of function among these species.

2.3.3 Parkin suppresses degeneration of the ommatidial array in flies that express α -*synuclein* in the eye

We generated stable transgenic flies that can conditionally express *parkin* when the UAS/Gal4 expression system is utilized (Brand and Perrimon, 1993). In situ hybridization was used to confirm *parkin* expression in transgenic *Drosophila* (data not shown). Expression of *parkin* was directed to the developing eye using the GMR-Gal4 transgene resulting in no obvious alteration of the eye (data not shown). In vitro and cell culture research suggests that parkin can prevent α-synuclein-induced toxicity (Oluwatosin-Chigbu et al., 2003; Petrucelli et al., 2002). Expression of human α -synuclein in the Drosophila eye causes premature deterioration of the retina (Feany and Bender, 2000). To examine if parkin could prevent α -synucleininduced degeneration, we co-expressed *parkin* with human α -synuclein in the developing eye. Cross-sections of the retinas of one-day-old flies that express α -synuclein appear to be intact, as previously described (Figure 2-2A) (Feany and Bender, 2000). The retinas of one-day-old flies that express both α -synuclein and parkin also appear normal (Figure 2-2B and C). As previously described, the retinas of thirty-day-old flies that express α -synuclein show signs of premature degeneration (Feany and Bender, 2000). Degeneration of the normal architecture of the eye is apparent (Figure 2-2D, black arrows) and reflects the disruption of the normal placement and alignment of the photoreceptors and supporting cells. In contrast, thirty-day-old flies that express α-synuclein and parkin maintain their ommatidial arrays and morphology

(Figure 2-13 and F). This observation demonstrates that Riversed expression of partic

supported to committee dependent Segmentilité di lite (manufilité anny

Textual darange cars be ensuring he community as anticatal feet manner the immunement.





Volume with hyper while Descent Allia and the strong magnetices protection, which is minimum Pay, mochanical attenuisming the Descent and Lines. 1972) Mitpuel or al., 1976). To end a to measure minimum ability, frice and placed in a weak perify topped to the bottom and allowed to similar

Figure 2-2: Expression of parkin suppresses α -synuclein-induced retinal degeneration. Flies that express α -synuclein with and without parkin were aged to 1 or 30 days old. They were fixed and embedded in epon. Tangential sections (0.5 µm thick) of the retina were cut, stained with toludine blue and examined by light microscopy. Panels A-C represent one-dayold flies and panels D-F represent thirty-day-old flies. Black arrows indicate degeneration of the ommatidial architecture. The genotypes are (A,D) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4, (B,E) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/+, and (C,F) w^{1118} ; UAS- α synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UAS-parkin^{2.1}/+. Scale bar is 15 µm. (Figure 2-2E and F). This observation demonstrates that directed expression of *parkin* suppresses α -synuclein-dependent degeneration of the ommatidial array.

Retinal damage can be observed by examining an optical effect termed the pseudopupil, which is lost in aged flies that express α -synuclein (Feany and Bender, 2000). We examined flies that co-express α -synuclein and parkin, and there appeared to be some retention of this optical effect compared with flies that express α -synuclein alone (data not shown). Scanning electron microscopy of eyes revealed no obvious deterioration of the surface in flies that express α synuclein (Figure 2-3A and D) or flies that co-express α -synuclein and parkin (Figure 2-3B, C, E and F). Although α -synuclein causes degeneration of the ommatidial array, the external structure of the eye is unaffected.

2.3.4 Directed-expression of *parkin* to dopaminergic neurons does not affect climbing ability

Young wild-type adult *Drosophila* exhibit a strong negative geotaxis, which is increased by mechanical stimulation (Le Bourg and Lints, 1992; Miquel *et al.*, 1976). In order to measure climbing ability, flies are placed in a vial, gently tapped to the bottom and allowed to climb up the sides (Feany and Bender, 2000). When *parkin* is expressed in the dopaminergic neurons, these flies do not show any change in their climbing ability over their life span when compared with controls (Figure 2-4A). In addition, expression of *parkin* in dopaminergic neurons does not alter life span (Figure 2-4B). These results demonstrate that *parkin* expression in the dopaminergic neurons has little effect upon climbing ability or life span.



Figure 2-3: Expression of α -synuclein with and without parkin does not affect the external morphology of the eye.

Scanning electron microscopy of flies that express α -synuclein with and without parkin shows no change in their external morphology over thirty days. Panels A-C represent one-day-old flies and panels D-F represent thirty-day-old flies. The genotypes are (A, D) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4, (B, E) w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UAS- α -synucle





2.3.5 Parkin suppresses α -synuclein induced loss of climbing ability

Flies that express α -synuclein, specifically in their dopaminergic neurons through the activity of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene, were assayed for their climbing ability over their life span, and were found to prematurely lose their climbing ability (Figure 2-5A). Co-expression of *parkin* with α -synuclein suppresses this premature loss of climbing ability (Figure 2-5A). This suggests that *parkin* expression can act to prevent the deleterious effects of α -synuclein expression.

Aging assays were carried out in tandem with the climbing assays described above in order to account for changes in climbing ability as a result of premature senescence. Median survival age for flies that express α -synuclein is similar to flies that co-express α -synuclein with parkin (Figure 2-5B). This indicates that differences in climbing ability were not due to differences in life span.

2.4 Discussion

Drosophila parkin has a high degree of similarity to the mammalian and *A. gambiae* homologues. The five characteristic domains of the parkin protein, the <u>Ubiquitin-like</u> Domain (UBL), <u>Unique Parkin Domain (UPD), Really Interesting New Gene finger 1 (RING1) domain, <u>In-Between Ring (IBR)</u> domain and RING2 all show a high degree of similarity. In addition, the two dipterans, *D. melanogaster* and *A. gambiae*, have a highly conserved extra segment of 15 amino acids at the amino-terminal of the protein. The regions between the three carboxy-terminus domains are also highly conserved, which may indicate conservation of</u>



Figure 2-5: Expression of *parkin* suppresses α -synuclein-induced loss of climbing ability Panel A - Aged flies that express *parkin* and α -synuclein climb significantly better than flies that express α -synuclein (P<0.001, one-way analysis of variance with supplementary Newman-Keuls test). Genotypes are w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/+; Ddc-Gal4/+ (green open square), w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/Ddc-Gal4 (red open triangle), w^{1118} ; UAS- α -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{2.1}/Ddc-Gal4 (blue upside down open triangle). The error bars show the standard error of the mean of twenty trials at each point. Please note that the error bars are mostly within the symbols. B - The life span of flies that express α -synuclein with and without parkin does not differ. The genotypes are marked the same as in panel A.

function. Patients with ARJP caused by mutations in the UBL domain exhibit signs of lost substrate binding (Shimura et al., 2000). The UBL domain also appears to be involved in binding the Rpn10 subunit of the 26S proteasome as the R42P amino acid substitution in this domain was identified in ARJP patients and results in impaired proteasome binding of parkin (Figure 2-6) (Sakata et al., 2003). Alterations of the RING1, RING2 and IBR domains of parkin result in an almost complete loss of ubiquitin conjugating enzyme H7 (UbcH7)-binding activity, which indicates that all three domains are functionally important in recruiting specific E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes (Tanaka et al., 2001). The RING1 and RING2 domains are thought to collaborate to trap UbcH7 (Figure 2-6) (Tanaka et al., 2001). Amino acid substitutions in the RING1 domain change the subcellular localization of parkin and enhance cytoplasmic and nuclear inclusions (Cookson et al., 2003). In addition, the amino acid substitutions C289G and C418R, which replace conserved cysteine residues in the RING domains, significantly decrease the solubility of parkin in cells (Gu et al., 2003). Ubiquitination generally occurs near the amino-terminus of proteins and ubiquitin monomers are attached to lysine residues (Pickart, 2001). Several lysine residues are absolutely conserved, including one in the UBL and two in the UPD, and these may be targets for ubiquitination. The existence of orthologues of mammalian *parkin* in invertebrates but not plants nor fungi (Marin and Ferrus, 2002) suggests an animal specific function for parkin activity. The highly conserved protein domains and sub-domains suggest the probable conservation of each domain's function, and given the high degree of similarity we suggest that the function of the *Drosophila* parkin protein is similar to that of the human parkin protein.



Figure 2-6: Model of parkin-directed ubiquitination of α-synuclein.

The parkin protein consists of two functionally distinct regions. The UBL/UPD region binds target proteins such as glycosylated α -synuclein. The RING-box (RING1-IBR-RING2) region recruits specific E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes, which add ubiquitin monomers to the target protein. In addition to substrate binding the UBL domain interacts with the proteasome. Ubiquitin tagged α -synuclein is directed to the proteasome and degraded into polypeptides and ubiquitin monomers. UBL – <u>Ub</u>iquitin-like Domain, UPD – <u>U</u>nique Parkin Domain, RING1 or 2 – Really Interesting New Gene finger 1 or 2 domain, IBR – In-Between Ring domain.

We demonstrate that the directed expression of *parkin* in the dopaminergic neurons and developing eyes leads to no obvious adverse effects. The unaltered phenotype observed when *parkin* is expressed in dopaminergic neurons is likely due to substrate specificity and to the ability of the parkin protein to target itself for degradation (Zhang *et al.*, 2000). Under conditions of over-expression, parkin does not seem to target and tag essential proteins for degradation promiscuously. This may represent an excellent fail-safe mechanism the cell has developed to balance the levels of both parkin and its substrates.

The *Drosophila* model of ADPD has been used to examine the effect of various pharmacological agents (Auluck and Bonini, 2002; Pendleton *et al.*, 2002) and other genetic aspects of the disease (Auluck *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2003). We expressed *parkin* along with α -synuclein and found the suppression of α -synuclein-induced retinal degeneration and premature loss of climbing. These results indicate that parkin may target α -synuclein for degradation *in vivo* (Figure 2-6). Although co-immunoprecipitation studies have shown that parkin does not interact with or ubiquitinate non-modified α -synuclein (Chung *et al.*, 2001), parkin will ubiquitinate O-glycosylated α -synuclein (Shimura *et al.*, 2001). Since we show suppression of the α -synuclein-induced phenotype, we believe that ectopically expressed α -synuclein is modified in *Drosophila*, enabling its ubiquitination by parkin. A model of the modification of α -synuclein and subsequent ubiquitination by parkin is presented in Figure 2-6.

In order to select rational potential therapeutic agents, the molecular mechanisms behind disease progression must be characterized. Gene function studies with homologues of disease-

causing genes in model organisms have been made practical through the advent of genome projects. Over-expression of *parkin* has no apparent adverse consequences and it suppresses the α -synuclein-induced PD symptoms in *Drosophila*. If this relationship is conserved in humans, we suggest that up-regulation of *parkin* should be a viable treatment for PD, and the selection of therapeutic strategies should be directed towards this end.

2.5 Conclusion

Our experiments demonstrate that the directed expression of the *parkin* gene counteracts the PD-like symptoms in the α -synuclein-induced Drosophila model of PD. Manipulation of the ubiquitin/proteasome degradation pathway in such a specific manner apparently remedies the toxic accumulation of α -synuclein. This study demonstrates the success of selective targeting of toxic proteins for degradation as an approach to address neurodegenerative conditions such as Parkinson's disease. The development of therapies that regulate *parkin* expression or parkin protein activity may be crucial in the treatment of PD.

2.6 Additional data for Chapter 2

2.6.1 Testing of transgenic response to Gal4

Generation of the stable transgenic lines that allow the conditional expression of *parkin* have been described previously (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). Expression of *parkin* was directed to the developing eye using the *GMR-Gal4* transgene (Freeman, 1996). *In situ* hybridization of *parkin* was performed on the eye discs of *GMR-Gal4*/+; *UAS-parkin*/+ and control *GMR-Gal4*/+; +/+ third instar larvae to determine transgenic expression (Figure 2-7). The blue

vertical stripe in the eye disc shows expression of the transgene (Figure 2-7B, black arrow), consistent with the expression of *GMR-Gal4* in a wave behind the morphogenetic furrow (Freeman, 1996). This demonstrates that the *parkin* transgenes are transcribed in response to Gal4.



Figure 2-7: Transgenic Drosophila melanogaster express parkin.

Third instar larval eye imaginal discs were subjected to *in situ* hybridisation with a probe to *parkin*. A, w¹¹¹⁸ control eye imaginal disc; B, *GMR-Gal4/+;UAS-parkin*^{2.1}/+ eye imaginal disc expressing *parkin*.

2.7 References

- Altschul, S. F., Madden, T. L., Schaffer, A. A., Zhang, J., Zhang, Z., Miller, W., and Lipman, D. J. (1997). Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Res* 25, 3389-402.
- Auluck, P. K., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Pharmacological prevention of Parkinson disease in Drosophila. *Nat Med* 8, 1185-6.
- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Chaperone suppression of alpha-synuclein toxicity in a Drosophila model for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 295, 865-8.
- Bae, Y. J., Park, K. S., and Kang, S. J. (2003). Genomic organization and expression of parkin in Drosophila melanogaster. *Exp Mol Med* **35**, 393-402.
- Baptista, M. J., O'Farrell, C., Daya, S., Ahmad, R., Miller, D. W., Hardy, J., Farrer, M. J., and Cookson, M. R. (2003). Co-ordinate transcriptional regulation of dopamine synthesis genes by alpha-synuclein in human neuroblastoma cell lines. *J Neurochem* 85, 957-68.
- Brand, A. H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development* **118**, 401-415.
- Cavener, D. R. (1987). Comparison of the consensus sequence flanking translational start sites in Drosophila and vertebrates. *Nucleic Acids Res* 15, 1353-61.
- Chung, K. K., Zhang, Y., Lim, K. L., Tanaka, Y., Huang, H., Gao, J., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2001). Parkin ubiquitinates the alpha-synuclein-interacting protein, synphilin- 1: implications for Lewy-body formation in Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* 7, 1144-50.
- Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (1998). The synucleins: a family of proteins involved in synaptic function, plasticity, neurodegeneration and disease. *Trends Neurosci* 21, 249-254.
- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. (1998). Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* **4**, 1318-1320.
- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. T. (2000a). Fibrils formed in vitro from alphasynuclein and two mutant forms linked to Parkinson's disease are typical amyloid. *Biochemistry* **39**, 2552-2563.
- Conway, K. A., Lee, S. J., Rochet, J. C., Ding, T. T., Williamson, R. E., and Lansbury, P. T., Jr. (2000b). Acceleration of oligomerization, not fibrillization, is a shared property of both alpha-synuclein mutations linked to early-onset Parkinson's disease: implications for pathogenesis and therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 571-6.
- Cookson, M. R., Lockhart, P. J., McLendon, C., O'Farrell, C., Schlossmacher, M., and Farrer, M. J. (2003). RING finger 1 mutations in Parkin produce altered localization of the protein. *Hum Mol Genet* 12, 2957-65.

Dawson, T. M. (2000). New Animal Models for Parkinson's Disease. Cell 101, 115-118.

- de Silva, H. R., Khan, N. L., and Wood, N. W. (2000). The genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Genet Dev 10, 292-8.
- Feany, M. B., and Bender, W. W. (2000). A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* 404, 394-398.
- Freeman, M. (1996). Reiterative use of the EGF receptor triggers differentiation of all cell types in the Drosophila eye. *Cell* 87, 651-60.

Freemont, P. S. (2000). RING for destruction? Curr Biol 10, R84-7.

- Giasson, B. I., and Lee, V. M. (2001). Parkin and the molecular pathways of Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* **31**, 885-8.
- Greene, J. C., Whitworth, A. J., Kuo, I., Andrews, L. A., Feany, M. B., and Pallanck, L. J. (2003). Mitochondrial pathology and apoptotic muscle degeneration in Drosophila parkin mutants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **100**, 4078-4083.
- Gu, W. J., Corti, O., Araujo, F., Hampe, C., Jacquier, S., Lucking, C. B., Abbas, N., Duyckaerts, C., Rooney, T., Pradier, L., Ruberg, M., and Brice, A. (2003). The C289G and C418R missense mutations cause rapid sequestration of human Parkin into insoluble aggregates. *Neurobiol Dis* 14, 357-64.
- Hayashi, S., Wakabayashi, K., Ishikawa, A., Nagai, H., Saito, M., Maruyama, M., Takahashi, T., Ozawa, T., Tsuji, S., and Takahashi, H. (2000). An autopsy case of autosomalrecessive juvenile parkinsonism with a homozygous exon 4 deletion in the parkin gene. *Mov Disord* 15, 884-8.
- Haywood, A. F., and Staveley, B. E. (2004). parkin counteracts symptoms in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *BMC Neurosci* 5, 14.
- Hershko, A., and Ciechanover, A. (1998). The Ubiquitin System. Ann Rev Biochem 67, 425-479.
- Holt, R. A., Subramanian, G. M., Halpern, A., Sutton, G. G., Charlab, R., Nusskern, D. R., Wincker, P., Clark, A. G., Ribeiro, J. M., Wides, R., Salzberg, S. L., Loftus, B., Yandell, M., Majoros, W. H., Rusch, D. B., Lai, Z., Kraft, C. L., Abril, J. F., Anthouard, V., Arensburger, P., Atkinson, P. W., Baden, H., de Berardinis, V., Baldwin, D., Benes, V., Biedler, J., Blass, C., Bolanos, R., Boscus, D., Barnstead, M., Cai, S., Center, A., Chaturverdi, K., Christophides, G. K., Chrystal, M. A., Clamp, M., Cravchik, A., Curwen, V., Dana, A., Delcher, A., Dew, I., Evans, C. A., Flanigan, M., Grundschober-Freimoser, A., Friedli, L., Gu, Z., Guan, P., Guigo, R., Hillenmeyer, M. E., Hladun, S. L., Hogan, J. R., Hong, Y. S., Hoover, J., Jaillon, O., Ke, Z., Kodira, C., Kokoza, E., Koutsos, A., Letunic, I., Levitsky, A., Liang, Y., Lin, J. J., Lobo, N. F., Lopez, J. R., Malek, J. A., McIntosh, T. C., Meister, S., Miller, J., Mobarry, C., Mongin, E., Murphy, S. D., O'Brochta, D. A., Pfannkoch, C., Qi, R., Regier, M. A., Remington, K., Shao, H., Sharakhova, M. V., Sitter, C. D., Shetty, J., Smith, T. J., Strong, R., Sun, J., Thomasova, D., Ton, L. Q., Topalis, P., Tu, Z., Unger, M. F., Walenz, B., Wang, A., Wang, J., Wang, M., Wang, X., Woodford, K. J., Wortman, J. R., Wu, M., Yao, A., Zdobnov, E. M., Zhang, H., Zhao, Q., Zhao, S., Zhu, S. C., Zhimulev, I., Coluzzi, M., della Torre, A., Roth, C. W., Louis, C., Kalush, F., Mural, R. J., Myers, E. W., Adams, M. D., Smith, H. O., Broder, S., Gardner, M. J., Fraser, C. M., Birney, E., Bork, P., Brey, P. T., Venter, J. C., Weissenbach, J., Kafatos, F. C., Collins, F. H., and Hoffman, S. L. (2002). The genome sequence of the malaria mosquito Anopheles gambiae. Science 298, 129-49.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., and Takahashi, R. (2000). Parkin suppresses unfolded protein stressinduced cell death through Its E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase activity. *J Biol Chem* 275, 35661-35664.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., Inoue, H., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., and Takahashi, R. (2001). An unfolded putative transmembrane polypeptide, which can lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress, is a substrate of Parkin. *Cell* **105**, 891-902.
- Ishikawa, A., and Tsuji, S. (1996). Clinical analysis of 17 patients in 12 Japanese families with autosomal-recessive type juvenile parkinsonism. *Neurology* **47**, 160-166.

- Jakes, R., Spillantini, M. G., and Goedert, M. (1994). Identification of two distinct synucleins from human brain. *FEBS Letters* **345**, 27-32.
- Kahle, P. J., Leimer, U., and Haass, C. (2000). Does failure of parkin-mediated ubiquitination cause juvenile parkinsonism? *Trends Biochem Sci* 25, 524-7.
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., Yokochi, M., Mizuno, Y., and Shimizu, N. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* 392, 605-8.
- Lansbury, P. T., Jr., and Brice, A. (2002). Genetics of Parkinson's disease and biochemical studies of implicated gene products. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 14, 653-60.
- Le Bourg, E., and Lints, F. A. (1992). Hypergravity and aging in Drosophila melanogaster. 4. Climbing activity. *Gerontology* **38**, 59-64.
- Li, H., Chaney, S., Roberts, I. J., Forte, M., and Hirsh, J. (2000). Ectopic G-protein expression in dopamine and serotonin neurons blocks cocaine sensitization in Drosophila melanogaster. *Curr Biol* **10**, 211-214.
- Marin, I., and Ferrus, A. (2002). Comparative genomics of the RBR family, including the Parkinson's disease-related gene parkin and the genes of the ariadne subfamily. *Mol Biol Evol* **19**, 2039-50.
- Miquel, J., Lundgren, P. R., Bensch, K. G., and Atlan, H. (1976). Effects of temperature on the life span, vitality and fine structure of Drosophila melanogaster. *Mech Ageing Dev* 5, 347-70.
- Mizuno, Y., Hattori, N., Mori, H., Suzuki, T., and Tanaka, K. (2001). Parkin and Parkinson's disease. *Curr Opin Neurol* 14, 477-82.
- Morett, E., and Bork, P. (1999). A novel transactivation domain in parkin. *Trends Biochem Sci* 24, 229-31.
- Mori, H., Kondo, T., Yokochi, M., Matsumine, H., Nakagawa-Hattori, Y., Miyake, T., Suda, K., and Mizuno, Y. (1998). Pathologic and biochemical studies of juvenile parkinsonism linked to chromosome 6q. *Neurology* 51, 890-2.
- Moriyama, E. N., and Powell, J. R. (1997). Codon usage bias and tRNA abundance in Drosophila. *J Mol Evol* **45**, 514-23.
- Munoz, E., Pastor, P., Marti, M. J., Oliva, R., and Tolosa, E. (2000). A new mutation in the parkin gene in a patient with atypical autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Neurosci Lett* **289**, 66-8.
- Nisipeanu, P., Inzelberg, R., Blumen, S. C., Carasso, R. L., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., and Mizuno, Y. (1999). Autosomal-recessive juvenile parkinsonism in a Jewish Yemenite kindred: mutation of Parkin gene. *Neurology* 53, 1602-1604.
- Oluwatosin-Chigbu, Y., Robbins, A., Scott, C. W., Arriza, J. L., Reid, J. D., and Zysk, J. R. (2003). Parkin suppresses wild-type alpha-synuclein-induced toxicity in SHSY-5Y cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **309**, 679-84.

Parkinson, J. (1817). An essay on the Shaking Palsy. *In* "A Manual of Diseases of the Nervous System" (W. R. Gowers, Ed.), pp. 6366-6657. Blakiston, Philadelphia.

- Pendleton, R. G., Parvez, F., Sayed, M., and Hillman, R. (2002). Effects of pharmacological agents upon a transgenic model of Parkinson's disease in Drosophila melanogaster. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **300**, 91-6.
- Perez, R. G., Waymire, J. C., Lin, E., Liu, J. J., Guo, F., and Zigmond, M. J. (2002). A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J Neurosci* 22, 3090-9.
- Petrucelli, L., O'Farrell, C., Lockhart, P. J., Baptista, M., Kehoe, K., Vink, L., Choi, P., Wolozin, B., Farrer, M., Hardy, J., and Cookson, M. R. (2002). Parkin protects against

the toxicity associated with mutant alpha- synuclein: proteasome dysfunction selectively affects catecholaminergic neurons. *Neuron* **36**, 1007-19.

- Pickart, C. M. (2001). Mechanisms underlying ubiquitination. Annu Rev Biochem 70, 503-33.
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Higgins, J. J., Golbe, L. I., and Nussbaum, R. L. (1996). Mapping of a gene for Parkinson's disease to chromosome 4q21-q23. *Science* 274, 1197-1198.
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, R., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E. S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A., Papapetropulos, T., Johnson, W. G., Lazzarini, A. M., Duvoisin, R. C., Di Ioria, G., Golbe, L. I., and Nussbaum, R. L. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-Synuclein Gene Identified in Families with Parkinson's Disease. *Science* 276, 2045-2047.
- Sakata, E., Yamaguchi, Y., Kurimoto, E., Kikuchi, J., Yokoyama, S., Yamada, S., Kawahara, H., Yokosawa, H., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., Tanaka, K., and Kato, K. (2003). Parkin binds the Rpn10 subunit of 26S proteasomes through its ubiquitin-like domain. *EMBO Rep* 4, 301-6.
- Scherzer, C. R., Jensen, R. V., Gullans, S. R., and Feany, M. B. (2003). Gene expression changes presage neurodegeneration in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *Hum Mol Genet* **12**, 2457-66.
- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Iwai, K., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., and Suzuki, T. (2000). Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat Gen* **25**, 302-305.
- Shimura, H., Schlossmacher, M. G., Hattori, N., Frosch, M. P., Trockenbacher, A., Schneider, R., Mizuno, Y., Kosik, K. S., and Selkoe, D. J. (2001). Ubiquitination of a new form of alpha-synuclein by parkin from human brain: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 293, 263-9.
- Spacey, S. D., and Wood, N. W. (1999). The genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 12, 427-432.
- Stapleton, M., Carlson, J., Brokstein, P., Yu, C., Champe, M., George, R., Guarin, H., Kronmiller, B., Pacleb, J., Park, S., Wan, K., Rubin, G. M., and Celniker, S. E. (2002). A Drosophila full-length cDNA resource. *Genome Biol* 3, RESEARCH0080.
- Staveley, B. E., Phillips, J. P., and Hilliker, A. J. (1990). Phenotypic consequences of copperzinc superoxide dismutase overexpression in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genome* 33, 867-72.
- Tanaka, K., Suzuki, T., Chiba, T., Shimura, H., Hattori, N., and Mizuno, Y. (2001). Parkin is linked to the ubiquitin pathway. *J Mol Med* **79**, 482-94.
- Thompson, J. D., Higgins, D. G., and Gibson, T. J. (1994). CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. *Nucleic Acids Res* 22, 4673-4680.
- Yang, Y., Nishimura, I., Imai, Y., Takahashi, R., and Lu, B. (2003). Parkin suppresses dopaminergic neuron-selective neurotoxicity induced by Pael-R in Drosophila. *Neuron* 37, 911-24.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, J., Chung, K. K., Huang, H., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2000). Parkin functions as an E2-dependent ubiquitin- protein ligase and promotes the degradation of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 97, 13354-9.

Chapter 3: Parkin reduces mutant α-synucleininduced degeneration in a fly model of Parkinson's

A version of this chapter is in press in Genome (Haywood and Staveley, 2006)

3.1 Introduction

The neurodegenerative disorder Parkinson's disease (PD) is characterized by the progressive loss of motor control, difficulty initiating and sustaining movements and the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons from the substantia nigra region of the brain (Dawson, 2000; Parkinson, 1817; Spacey and Wood, 1999). By the time the disease is diagnosed, generally 80% of these neurons are lost as between 50% and 60% of the nigral neurons can be lost with no obvious clinical consequence (Lansbury and Brice, 2002). Although the majority of PD cases are apparently sporadic, approximately 5 to 15% have been determined to have an inherited basis (de Silva *et al.*, 2000; Mizuno *et al.*, 2001). Recently, mutations in a number of genes have been identified as causes of PD, and many of these genes are associated with the ubiquitin/proteasome protein degradation pathway.

One of the first identified genetic causes of PD was mutations in α -synuclein (Polymeropoulos et al., 1996; Polymeropoulos et al., 1997). The α -synuclein protein is found at the pre-synaptic region of neurons (Clayton and George, 1999; Jakes et al., 1994; Kahle et al., 2000) and appears to be involved in the biosynthesis of dopamine (Baptista et al., 2003; Perez et al., 2002). Three independent non-synonymous point mutations in α -synuclein, have been identified as causes of PD (Kruger et al., 1998; Polymeropoulos et al., 1996; Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Zarranz et al., 2004). Alteration of the primary structure of the α -synuclein protein may enhance oligomerization and fibril formation (Conway et al., 1998). Whether these fibrils are a cause of toxicity or act in a mechanism to sequester toxic oligomers of α -synuclein is an unresolved question. As triplication of the α -synuclein locus has been shown

to lead to the development of the disease (Singleton *et al.*, 2003), both the composition and the dosage of α -synuclein appear to play roles in the development of PD.

A number of point mutations and deletions of the *parkin* gene cause Autosomal Recessive Juvenile Parkinson's disease (ARJP) (Kitada *et al.*, 1998; Nisipeanu *et al.*, 1999). The *parkin* gene encodes a 465 amino acid protein (Kitada *et al.*, 1998), which functions as one of a number of E3 ubiquitin protein ligases (Shimura *et al.*, 2000). Ubiquitin protein ligases mediate ubiquitination, the sequential attachment of a number of ubiquitin monomers, of damaged, misfolded and short-lived proteins, which are subsequently targeted to the proteasome for degradation (Hershko and Ciechanover, 1998; Pickart, 2001). *In vitro* ubiquitination assays demonstrate that the parkin protein can ubiquitinate a glycosylated form of α -synuclein (Shimura *et al.*, 2001). Elevated expression of *parkin* protects neuronal explants from the toxicity associated with expression of mutant α -synuclein (Petrucelli *et al.*, 2002). The loss of *parkin* may lead to an accumulation of its protein substrates and endoplasmic reticulum stress (Imai *et al.*, 2000; Imai *et al.*, 2001), which then may trigger the activation of cellular suicide mechanisms (Rao *et al.*, 2002). The role of parkin appears to be the protection of cells from the toxic effects of inappropriate protein behaviour.

The conditional expression of human α -synuclein in transgenic Drosophila melanogaster provides an excellent model of PD (Feany and Bender, 2000). Pan-neuronal expression of both wild type and mutant α -synuclein leads to premature loss of climbing ability, a feature that control flies retain into old age (Feany and Bender, 2000). In addition, the expression of α -synuclein in the developing eye results in precocious degeneration of the retina. Expression

of *Drosophila melanogaster parkin* can suppress the PD-like phenotypes caused by directed expression of wild type α -synuclein (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). These features recapitulate the main behavioural and pathological phenotypes of PD and provide an excellent model system to study the biological basis of the disease.

The A30P mutant form of α -synuclein, that substitutes the alanine at position 30 with a proline, causes Autosomal Dominant PD in humans (Kruger et al., 1998). In Drosophila melanogaster, expression of A30P α -synuclein in a pan-neuronal fashion has a deleterious effect on climbing ability without affecting lifespan (Feany and Bender, 2000). Recently, we have demonstrated that co-expression of *parkin* with wild type α -synuclein counteracts the Parkinson's-like effects of α -synuclein expression (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). From the literature it is unclear as to whether alterations in α -synuclein inhibit its ability to be targeted for degradation by parkin in vivo. Should the A30P amino acid substitution prevent parkin from mediating α -synuclein ubiquitination then the loss of climbing ability and retinal degeneration caused by altered α -synuclein will not be inhibited by co-expression of *parkin*. To determine if *parkin* has the ability to suppress the deleterious effects of mutant α synuclein, we have co-expressed parkin with $A30P\alpha$ -synuclein and compared the flies climbing ability and retinal degeneration with flies that express mutant α -synuclein alone. We demonstrate that *parkin* can counteract the effects of mutant α -synuclein-induced retinal degeneration and improve the flies climbing activity. This is the first demonstration that a directed increase in *parkin* expression can counteract the effects of mutant α -synuclein in an experimental organism.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Fly stocks and culture

Dr. M. Feany (Harvard Medical School) generously provided the UAS-A30P α -synuclein flies (Feany and Bender, 2000) and, similarly, Dr. J. Hirsh (University of Virginia) provided the Ddc-Gal4^{4.36} stock (Li et al., 2000). The GMR-Gal4 flies (Freeman, 1996) were obtained from the Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center of Indiana University at Bloomington. The two lines, UAS-parkin^{1.1}/TM3 and UAS-parkin^{2.1}, were independently derived through standard Drosophila transgenic techniques as previously reported (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). These lines were used to generate double transgenic lines of the genotypes

 $UAS-A30P\alpha$ -synuclein/CyO;UAS-parkin^{1.1}/TM3 and

 $UAS-A30P\alpha$ -synuclein/CyO;UAS-parkin^{2.1}/TM3 using standard techniques. To drive expression of the transgenes, Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}$ (for expression in the dopaminergic neurons) or GMR-Gal4 (for expression in the eye) homozygous females of these lines were crossed to UAS- $A30P\alpha$ -synuclein males with or without UAS-parkin^{1.1} or UAS-parkin^{2.1}. All flies were cultured on standard cornmeal/yeast/molasses/agar media at 25°C.

3.2.2 Climbing ability assay

Flies were assayed for their ability to climb as by a standard method (Feany and Bender, 2000). Every five days, eighty male flies from a cohort were assayed for their ability to climb six centimetres in eighteen seconds in a sterile plastic vial. Twenty trials were carried out for each time point. Flies were tested for up to ninety days. This experiment was repeated and the results compiled and statistically analysed through Prism 4.02 software. Initially the data

was graphed with the standard errors of the mean and subjected to a one-way ANOVA, this was followed up by linear regression curve fit analysis with 95% confidence intervals.

3.2.3 Aging analysis

Adult males were aged in small groups (n ≤ 20 individuals) in vials upon standard media at 25°C and scored for viability every two to three days as described previously (Staveley *et al.*, 1990). The total numbers of individuals aged were: w^{1118} ; Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}/+ = 180$, UAS- $A30P\alpha$ -synuclein/+; Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}/+ = 218$,

 $UAS-A30P\alpha$ -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36} = 182$,

 $UAS-A30P\alpha$ -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{2.1}/Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36} = 245$. The data was subjected to a log rank test and the mean life spans were also compared using Prism 4.02 software.

3.2.4 Histological examination of adult Drosophila melanogaster retinas

Nine adult flies of each genotype were aged (one or thirty days after eclosion), fixed in Karnovsky's fixative and embedded in epon as previously described (Feany and Bender, 2000). Tangential retinal sections were prepared at a thickness of 0.5 µm and stained with toluidine blue, examined by light microscopy and photographed at magnification of 800 times. Eight eye slices from separate 30-day-old flies were analysed by counting the number of ommatidia in that slice. These numbers were collated and an average percentage of disrupted ommatidia calculated and statistically analysed through Prism 4.02 software.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Directed expression of *parkin* increases the climbing ability of flies that express mutant α -synuclein

Aging assays were carried out in tandem with the climbing assays described above in order to account for changes in climbing ability as a result of premature senescence. Comparison of survival curves indicates that there is no difference between the longevity of flies that express $A30P \alpha$ -synuclein with and without the UAS-parkin^{1.1} transgene (Figure 3-1A). A Logrank test shows the two curves are not significantly different. The survival curve of flies that express $A30P \alpha$ -synuclein and UAS-parkin^{2.1} show a slight and significant decrease in median survival age compared with flies that express $A30P \alpha$ -synuclein alone (Figure 3-1A).

Flies that express mutant α -synuclein with and without parkin in their dopaminergic neurons were assayed for climbing ability. Flies that express both A30P α -synuclein and parkin transgenes, specifically in the dopaminergic neurons under the control of Gal4, show an extention of climbing ability at later ages compared with flies that express mutant α -synuclein alone (Table 3-1 and Figure 3-1B). This suggests that parkin can act to prevent any deleterious effects mutant α -synuclein expression may have and certainly acts to improve the climbing ability of these flies over their lifespan. On the basis of the aging assay, apparently the improved climbing ability in later life is not due to increased mean lifespan.



Figure 3-1: Expression of *parkin* **increases climbing ability of flies expressing** α -synuclein A - The life spans of flies that express $A30P \alpha$ -synuclein with and without *parkin* are shown. Genotypes are w^{1118} ; UAS-A30P α -synuclein/+; Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/+ (square); w^{1118} ; UAS-A30P α -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/Ddc-Gal4^{4.36} (triangle); w^{1118} ; UAS-A30P α -synuclein/+; UAS-parkin^{2.1}/Ddc-Gal4^{4.36} (circle). Logrank test comparison of flies that express mutant α -synuclein with and without parkin^{1.1} are not significantly different, p = 0.1106. However comparison flies that express mutant α -synuclein with and without parkin^{2.1} are significantly different, p = 0.0001. B – Aged flies that express parkin and mutant α -synuclein climb significantly better than flies that express mutant α -synuclein. The percentage of flies that climbed successfully was subtracted from 100. The genotypes are marked the same as in A. The error bars show the standard error of the mean of twenty trials at each point. Note the error bars are mostly within the symbols.

Table 3-1: Comparison of the non-linear fitted curves for climbing ability showing slopes (K), standard error (SE), and confidence intervals (CI).

The slope of the fitted curve for the flies that express mutant α -synuclein with and without parkin are 0.05 and 0.08 or 0.07 and do not overlap within a 95% confidence interval.

Genotype	Slope (K)	Standard error (SE)	95% Confidence intervals (CI)
UAS-A30Pα-synuclein/+; Ddc-Gal4/+	0.05	0.0009	0.050 to 0.054
$UAS-A30P\alpha$ -synuclein/+; Ddc-Gal4/UAS-parkin ^{1.1}	0.08	0.0012	0.074 to 0.078
UAS-A30Pα-synuclein/+; Ddc-Gal4/ UAS-parkin ^{2.1}	0.07	0.0016	0.070 to 0.076

3.3.2 Directed expression of *parkin* suppresses mutant α -synuclein-induced degeneration of the ommatidial array

Ectopic expression of *parkin* prevents premature wild type α -synuclein-induced degeneration in the Drosophila melanogaster eye (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). To determine if parkin has a similar ability to suppress mutant α -synuclein-induced premature degeneration, A30P α synuclein and parkin were co-expressed in the Drosophila eye. Cross-sections of the retinas of one-day-old flies that express A30P α -synuclein or both mutant α -synuclein and parkin appear intact and normal (Figure 3-2A and B). As previously described, the retinas of thirty-day-old flies that express *mutant* α -synuclein show signs of premature degeneration (Feany and Bender, 2000), such as disintegration of the outer ring of the ommatidia and distortion of the normally close arrangement of rhabdomeres (Figure 3-2C, black arrows). On average approximately 40 percent of ommatidia had a defect including degeneration of the outer ring of the ommatidia or separation of the normally close arrangement of rhabdomeres (Figure 3-2E). In contrast thirty-day-old flies that express both $A30P\alpha$ -synuclein and parkin appear to maintain an intact ommatidial array (Figure 3-2D), with only 5% of ommatidia having any defect (Figure 3-2E). Retinal deterioration can be observed by examining an optical effect termed the pseudo-pupil, which is lost in aged flies that express mutant α -synuclein (Feany and Bender, 2000). When 20-day-old flies that co-express mutant α -synuclein and parkin were examined, there appeared to be retention of this optical effect compared with flies that express mutant α -synuclein alone (data not shown). Overall, expression of *parkin* suppresses degeneration of the ommatidial array caused by the expression of mutant α -synuclein.



Figure 3-2: Expression of parkin suppresses α -synuclein-induced retinal degeneration A and B are 0.5 µm tangential sections from one-day-old flies and C and D are 0.5 µm tangential sections from thirty-day-old flies. The genotypes are (A and C) w^{1118} ; UAS-A30P α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4, (B and D) w^{1118} ; UAS-A30P α -synuclein/GMR-Gal4; UAS-parkin^{1.1}/+. Black arrows indicate degeneration of outer

edges of ommatidia. Scale bar is 15 µm. E - The distorted ommatidia in a single section from eight separate 30-day-old fly eyes were counted and displayed as a percentage of total ommatidia.

3.4 Discussion

Our experiments demonstrate that the directed expression of *parkin* in the developing eye negates the retinal defects resulting from mutant α -synuclein expression. In addition, we demonstrate that increased *parkin* expression in the dopaminergic neurons extend the climbing ability of aged flies that express mutant α -synuclein. This suggests that parkin can suppress the degeneration resulting from the mutant α -synuclein expression in spite of the amino acid substitution present in the mutant form of α -synuclein that is thought to lead to a conformational change in the protein (Conway *et al.*, 1998). While the exact mechanism of phenotype suppression is not clear these result indicate that mutant α -synuclein is likely a target of parkin's ubiquitin ligase activity.

Co-immunoprecipitation studies have suggested that the parkin protein does not interact with or ubiquitinate unmodified α -synuclein (Chung *et al.*, 2001) but will ubiquitinate O-glycosylated α -synuclein (Shimura *et al.*, 2001). We have established the suppression of mutant α -synuclein-induced retinal degeneration by the ectopic expression of *parkin*. Therefore, we believe that mutant α -synuclein protein is modified in *Drosophila melanogaster* in a manner that will enable it to be ubiquitinated by the parkin ubiquitin protein ligase then targeted to the proteasome for degradation.

Transgenic *Drosophila melanogaster* that express either the wild-type or mutant form of α synuclein in their central nervous systems, via the pan-neural *elav-Gal4* transgene, have shown an age-dependent reduction in climbing ability when compared with control flies (Feany and

Bender, 2000). Notably flies that express mutant α -synuclein under the control of elav-Gal4 show a greater reduction in climbing ability. Although flies that express wild-type α synuclein in their dopaminergic neurons show a marked premature loss of climbing ability (Haywood and Staveley, 2004), expression of mutant α -synuclein results in only a slight premature loss of the ability to climb (Auluck *et al.*, 2002). Nevertheless, over-expression by both of the *parkin* transgenes has the effect of extending the climbing ability of flies that express $A30P\alpha$ -synuclein when compared to the controls. Thus the premature loss of climbing ability arising from a mutant form of α -synuclein that is known to cause PD in humans is prevented by the directed expression of *parkin*.

Over-expression of *parkin* suppresses the PD-like symptoms induced in *Drosophila melanogaster* by wild-type (Haywood and Staveley, 2004) and mutant α -synuclein with no apparent adverse consequences. We suggest that the manipulation of the ubiquitin/proteasome degradation pathway in such a specific manner acts to remedy the toxicity of the accumulation of α -synuclein. Activation of *parkin* may be a viable treatment for PD caused by increased levels or mutant forms of α -synuclein and we suggest that the selection of therapeutic strategies should be directed towards this end.

3.5 References

- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Chaperone suppression of alpha-synuclein toxicity in a Drosophila model for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 295, 865-8.
- Baptista, M. J., O'Farrell, C., Daya, S., Ahmad, R., Miller, D. W., Hardy, J., Farrer, M. J., and Cookson, M. R. (2003). Co-ordinate transcriptional regulation of dopamine synthesis genes by alpha-synuclein in human neuroblastoma cell lines. *J Neurochem* 85, 957-68.

- Chung, K. K., Zhang, Y., Lim, K. L., Tanaka, Y., Huang, H., Gao, J., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2001). Parkin ubiquitinates the alpha-synuclein-interacting protein, synphilin- 1: implications for Lewy-body formation in Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* 7, 1144-50.
- Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (1999). Synucleins in synaptic plasticity and neurodegenerative disorders. *J Neurosci Res* 58, 120-9.
- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. (1998). Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* 4, 1318-1320.
- Dawson, T. M. (2000). New Animal Models for Parkinson's Disease. Cell 101, 115-118.
- de Silva, H. R., Khan, N. L., and Wood, N. W. (2000). The genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Genet Dev 10, 292-8.
- Feany, M. B., and Bender, W. W. (2000). A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* **404**, 394-398.
- Freeman, M. (1996). Reiterative use of the EGF receptor triggers differentiation of all cell types in the Drosophila eye. *Cell* 87, 651-60.
- Haywood, A. F., and Staveley, B. E. (2004). parkin counteracts symptoms in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *BMC Neurosci* 5, 14.
- Hershko, A., and Ciechanover, A. (1998). The Ubiquitin System. Ann Rev Biochem 67, 425-479.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., and Takahashi, R. (2000). Parkin Suppresses Unfolded Protein Stressinduced Cell Death through Its E3 Ubiquitin-protein Ligase Activity. J Biol Chem 275, 35661-35664.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., Inoue, H., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., and Takahashi, R. (2001). An unfolded putative transmembrane polypeptide, which can lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress, is a substrate of Parkin. *Cell* **105**, 891-902.
- Jakes, R., Spillantini, M. G., and Goedert, M. (1994). Identification of two distinct synucleins from human brain. *FEBS Letters* **345**, 27-32.
- Kahle, P. J., Neumann, M., Ozmen, L., Muller, V., Jacobsen, H., Schindzielorz, A., Okochi, M., Leimer, U., van Der Putten, H., Probst, A., Kremmer, E., Kretzschmar, H. A., and Haass, C. (2000). Subcellular localization of wild-type and Parkinson's disease-associated mutant alpha -synuclein in human and transgenic mouse brain. *J Neurosci* 20, 6365-73.
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., Yokochi, M., Mizuno, Y., and Shimizu, N. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* 392, 605-8.
- Kruger, R., Kuhn, W., Muller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kosel, S., Przuntek, H., Epplen, J. T., Schols, L., and Riess, O. (1998). Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alphasynuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Gen* 18, 106-108.
- Lansbury, P. T., Jr., and Brice, A. (2002). Genetics of Parkinson's disease and biochemical studies of implicated gene products. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 14, 653-60.
- Li, H., Chaney, S., Roberts, I. J., Forte, M., and Hirsh, J. (2000). Ectopic G-protein expression in dopamine and serotonin neurons blocks cocaine sensitization in Drosophila melanogaster. *Curr Biol* **10**, 211-214.
- Mizuno, Y., Hattori, N., Mori, H., Suzuki, T., and Tanaka, K. (2001). Parkin and Parkinson's disease. *Curr Opin Neurol* 14, 477-82.

Nisipeanu, P., Inzelberg, R., Blumen, S. C., Carasso, R. L., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., and Mizuno, Y. (1999). Autosomal-recessive juvenile parkinsonism in a Jewish Yemenite kindred: mutation of Parkin gene. *Neurology* 53, 1602-1604.

- Parkinson, J. (1817). An essay on the Shaking Palsy. *In* "A Manual of Diseases of the Nervous System" (W. R. Gowers, Ed.), pp. 6366-6657. Blakiston, Philadelphia.
- Perez, R. G., Waymire, J. C., Lin, E., Liu, J. J., Guo, F., and Zigmond, M. J. (2002). A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J Neurosci* 22, 3090-9.

Petrucelli, L., O'Farrell, C., Lockhart, P. J., Baptista, M., Kehoe, K., Vink, L., Choi, P., Wolozin, B., Farrer, M., Hardy, J., and Cookson, M. R. (2002). Parkin protects against the toxicity associated with mutant alpha- synuclein: proteasome dysfunction selectively affects catecholaminergic neurons. *Neuron* 36, 1007-19.

Pickart, C. M. (2001). Mechanisms underlying ubiquitination. Annu Rev Biochem 70, 503-33.

- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Higgins, J. J., Golbe, L. I., and Nussbaum, R. L. (1996). Mapping of a gene for Parkinson's disease to chromosome 4q21-q23. *Science* 274, 1197-1198.
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, R., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E. S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A., Papapetropulos, T., Johnson, W. G., Lazzarini, A. M., Duvoisin, R. C., Di Ioria, G., Golbe, L. I., and Nussbaum, R. L. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-Synuclein Gene Identified in Families with Parkinson's Disease. *Science* 276, 2045-2047.
- Rao, R. V., Peel, A., Logvinova, A., del Rio, G., Hermel, E., Yokota, T., Goldsmith, P. C., Ellerby, L. M., Ellerby, H. M., and Bredesen, D. E. (2002). Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program: role of the ER chaperone GRP78. *FEBS Lett* 514, 122-8.
- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Iwai, K., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., and Suzuki, T. (2000). Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat Gen* 25, 302-305.
- Shimura, H., Schlossmacher, M. G., Hattori, N., Frosch, M. P., Trockenbacher, A., Schneider, R., Mizuno, Y., Kosik, K. S., and Selkoe, D. J. (2001). Ubiquitination of a new form of alpha-synuclein by parkin from human brain: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Science* **293**, 263-9.
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., Hulihan, M., Peuralinna, T., Dutra, A., Nussbaum, R., Lincoln, S., Crawley, A., Hanson, M., Maraganore, D., Adler, C., Cookson, M. R., Muenter, M., Baptista, M., Miller, D., Blancato, J., Hardy, J., and Gwinn-Hardy, K. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* **302**, 841.
- Spacey, S. D., and Wood, N. W. (1999). The genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 12, 427-432.
- Staveley, B. E., Phillips, J. P., and Hilliker, A. J. (1990). Phenotypic consequences of copperzinc superoxide dismutase overexpression in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genome* 33, 867-72.
- Zarranz, J. J., Alegre, J., Gomez-Esteban, J. C., Lezcano, E., Ros, R., Ampuero, I., Vidal, L., Hoenicka, J., Rodriguez, O., Atares, B., Llorens, V., Gomez Tortosa, E., del Ser, T., Munoz, D. G., and de Yebenes, J. G. (2004). The new mutation, E46K, of alphasynuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. *Ann Neurol* 55, 164-73.

Chapter 4: Analysis of *parkin* expression in the

developing adult eye and wing

This chapter has not been published and is supplemental to Chapters 2 and 3.

4.1 Introduction

Autosomal Recessive Juvenile Parkinson's (ARJP) disease arises from mutations in *parkin* (Kitada *et al.*, 1998). The parkin protein functions as an E3 ubiquitin protein ligase that acts to mediate the ubiquitination of a number of target proteins (Chung *et al.*, 2001; Imai *et al.*, 2001; Shimura *et al.*, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2000), to be subsequently degraded by the proteasome. The mutations in the *parkin* gene associated with ARJP are believed to lead to either a non-functioning protein or complete lack of protein. The predicted consequence of little or no parkin protein ubiquitin ligase activity should be the accumulation of the proteins that parkin that would normally target for proteasomal degradation. In turn, the abnormal elevated levels of these proteins may cause an ER stress-induced cell death response (Imai *et al.*, 2000; Imai *et al.*, 2001; Rao *et al.*, 2002). The role of *parkin* is clearly important in neuronal survival.

The *Drosophila parkin* mutant model of PD exhibits a premature loss of climbing and flying ability (Greene *et al.*, 2003). These mutants display a dropped-wing phenotype that is the result of premature apoptotic muscle degeneration induced by mitochondrial dysfunction. Other features of these flies are decreased mass and cell size along with decreased longevity. These phenotypes are not typically observed in humans (Pesah *et al.*, 2004). In addition, the male *parkin* mutant flies are sterile and surprisingly there is a distinct lack of dopaminergic degeneration in both male and female flies (Greene *et al.*, 2003; Pesah *et al.*, 2004). As the expression of human *parkin* in *Drosophila* can suppress these phenotypes, the similarity of the human and *Drosophila* form of *parkin* is evident (Greene *et al.*, 2003). The non-neuronal phenotypic consequences of parkin loss appear

to be much more severe in flies than those observed in human PD, which may suggest that *parkin* plays a greater role in non-neuronal *Drosophila*. To examine the effect of *parkin* expression at different developmental stages and tissues expression of *parkin* was directed to the developing eye and wings.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Fly stocks and culture

The *GMR-Gal4* flies (Freeman, 1996), *eyeless-Gal4³⁻⁸* (w[*];{w[+m*]=Gal4-ey.H}3-8) and *apterous-Gal4* (y¹ w¹¹¹⁸; P{GawB}ap^{md544}/CyO) (Calleja *et al.*, 1996) flies were obtained from the Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center at the University of Indiana, Bloomington. The *C5-Gal4* flies were a kind gift from G. Boulianne, University of Toronto (Gustafson and Boulianne, 1996). The *UAS-parkin^{2.2}* transgenic flies were generated by standard injection techniques into w^{1118} embryos of the pUAST-*parkin* transgene (a *BgIII/XhoI* fragment containing the *parkin* cDNA (SD01679), sub-cloned into the *pUAST* vector) such that the full-length *parkin* cDNA is located on the second chromosome. To drive expression of the transgene, *ap-Gal4* and *C5-Gal4* (for expression in the wing) and *ey-Gal4* and *GMR-Gal4* (for expression in the eye) females were crossed to w^{1118} (control), *UAS-parkin^{2.2}* males. All flies were cultured on standard cornmeal/yeast/molasses/agar media at 25°C.

4.2.2 Wing mounts and wing length analysis

Flies of the genotypes 1) w^{1118} ; C5-Gal4; 2) w^{1118} ; UAS-parkin^{2.2}/+; C5-Gal4/+; 3) w^{1118} ; ap-Gal4, and 4) w^{1118} ; UAS-parkin^{2.2}/ap-Gal4 were aged for at least one day but not more than five days, collected and then quick-frozen in an ethanol bath at -70° C. Flies were dissected in 95% ethanol so that the whole dorsal region was intact (wings and upper thorax). These were incubated in 1M NaOH for 20 minutes to remove excess tissue and then washed in 50:50 glycerol:ethanol and mounted in this medium. The tissue was arranged to look at the wings from an overhead or dorsal view and covered with a cover slip and allowed to dry for several hours before the cover slips were sealed with clear nail varnish. The left wing from three males and three females of each genotype were examined by light microscopy and photographed at 10X magnification. The photograph negatives of the wings were scanned and the wing lengths measured from the wing tip to the intersection of wing veins L4 and L5 using Image J software. Wing lengths differences were analysed statistically by a two way ANOVA using Prism 4.02 software.

4.2.3 Scanning electron microscopy of the *Drosophila* eye

Flies of each genotype 1) w^{1118} ; *GMR-Gal4*, 2) w^{1118} ; *UAS-parkin*^{2.2}/*GMR-Gal4*, 3) w^{1118} ; *ey-Gal4*/+, and 4) w^{1118} ; *UAS-parkin*^{2.2}/*ey-Gal4* were collected within 24 hours of eclosion, aged for one day and frozen in a -70°C ethanol bath. Whole flies were mounted, desiccated overnight, coated in gold and then photographed at 150X magnification with a Hitachi S-570 SEM as per standard methods. For each genotype at least six male flies were observed.

4.3 Results

The *Drosophila* eye is a highly regular structure, composed of some 800 individual units, such that any disruption of the structure is markedly apparent. As previously shown, expression of *parkin* in the developing eye disc, via the *GMR-Gal4* transgene, does not alter the normal phenotype of either male or female adult eye (Figure 4-1) (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). This result is not unexpected as parkin functions as a ubiquitin ligase one would expect that it would only mediate the ubiquitination of its specific target proteins and not mediate the promiscuous ubiquitination of proteins simply because those protein are in excess. Actually, parkin can target itself for ubiquitination in a self-regulating loop to prevent too much of the protein from being in the cell (Imai *et al.*, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2000). The expression of *parkin* under the control of the *adult* eye (Figure 4-2). However both male and female flies that express *parkin* have eyes that appear slightly smaller than controls (Figure 4-2).

Expression of parkin in the developing eye has no effect on the gross morphology of the eye nor does there appear to be any effect on climbing or longevity when *parkin* is ectopically expressed in the dopaminergic neurons (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). To assess the effect of ectopic expression of *parkin* in other tissue types *parkin* expression was directed to the developing wing under the control of the *C5-Gal4* transgene. No variation in the normal architecture of the adult wing was observed with *parkin*


Figure 4-1: Expression of *parkin* in the morphogenetic furrows does not affect the adult eye.

Scanning electron microscopy of one day old fly eyes that express *parkin* appear the same as control fly eyes. Panels A and B are male fly eyes and panels C and D are female fly eyes. The genotypes are (A, C) w^{1118} ; *GMR-Gal4/+*, (B, D) w^{1118} ; *UAS-parkin*^{2.2}/*GMR-Gal4/*.



Figure 4-2: Expression of *parkin* early in the developing eye results in slightly smaller adult eyes.

Scanning electron microscopy of adult male *Drosophila* eyes that express *parkin* appear slightly smaller than control. Panels A,B are male fly eyes and panels C, D are female fly eyes. The genotypes are (A, C) w^{1118} ; *ey-Gal4*, (B, D) w^{1118} ; *UAS-parkin*^{2.2}/*ey-Gal4*.

expression (Figure 4-3 panel A), nor was there a change in the average wing length of male or female flies (Figure 4-3 panel B, Table 4-1). Conversely, when *parkin* was expressed in the presumptive dorsal region of the wing imaginal disc via the *ap-Gal4* transgene, a reduction in the wing size was observed for both the male and female flies that was not accompanied by gross morphological variations in the layout and structure of the wing (Figure 4-4 panel A). A 17% reduction in the wing length of the adult male flies and a 7% reduction in the wing length of the female flies was measured (Table 4-1, Figure 4-4 panel B).

4.4 Discussion

The directed expression of *parkin* in the differentiating eye disc and the dopamine producing neurons has been shown to have no obvious deleterious effects (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). However, differences in wing length when *parkin* is expressed in the dorsal wing disc via the *ap-Gal4* transgene cannot be discounted. Other than this there is no evidence to suggest that the expression of *parkin* results in any other adverse effects. The phenomenon revealed by the genetic combination of *ap-Gal4* and *UAS-parkin* may provide valuable insight in the biological role of parkin. The *ap-Gal4/UAS-parkin* phenotype can also be exploited in order to genetically screen for modifiers of the *parkin* gene.





Genotype

w¹¹¹⁸;parkin^{2.2}/C5-Gal4

w¹¹¹⁸;C5-Gal4/+

0.5

0.0

Panel A: Left wings of two-day-old adult Drosophila were removed, mounted and photographed. A, B are male and C, D are female. The genotypes are (A, C) w^{1118} ; C5-Gal4; (B, D) w^{1118} ; UAS-parkin^{2.2}/C5-Gal4. Scale bar indicates 0.5 mm. Panel B: The average wing length of three wings of each genotype and gender shows there is no significant difference in the wing lengths.





Figure 4-4: Expression of *parkin* in the dorsal wing margin reduces the size of the wing.

Panel A: Left wings of two-day-old adult *Drosophila* were removed, mounted and photographed. A, B are male and C, D are female. The genotypes are $(A, C) w^{1118}$; *ap-Gal4*; $(B, D) w^{1118}$; *UAS-parkin^{2.2}/ap-Gal4*. Scale bar indicates 0.5 mm. Panel B: The average wing length of three wings of each genotype and gender shows there is a significant difference in the wing lengths of flies that express *parkin* compared with control.

Table 4-1: Wing length of flies that express *parkin* in the developing wing pouch via the C5-Gal4 wing transgene

Ganatuna	Males			Females			
Genotype	Length	SEM	N	Length	SEM	N	
w ¹¹¹⁸ ;C5-Gal4/+	1.623	0.053	3	1.785	0.045	3	
w ¹¹¹⁸ ;parkin ^{2.2} /C5- Gal4	1.565	0.034	3	1.801	0.066	3	

Table 4-2: Wing length of flies that express *parkin* in the presumptive dorsal region of the wing imaginal disc via the *ap-Gal4* transgene.

Ganatime	Males			Females			
Genotype	Length	SEM	N	Length	SEM	N	
w ¹¹¹⁸ ;ap-Gal4/+	1.645	0.035	3	1.848	0.038	3	
w ¹¹¹⁸ ;parkin ^{2.2} /ap- Gal4	1.377	0.004	3	1.730	0.023	3	

4.5 References

- Calleja, M., Moreno, E., Pelaz, S., and Morata, G. (1996). Visualization of gene expression in living adult Drosophila. *Science* **274**, 252-5.
- Chung, K. K., Zhang, Y., Lim, K. L., Tanaka, Y., Huang, H., Gao, J., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2001). Parkin ubiquitinates the alphasynuclein-interacting protein, synphilin- 1: implications for Lewy-body formation in Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* 7, 1144-50.
- Freeman, M. (1996). Reiterative use of the EGF receptor triggers differentiation of all cell types in the Drosophila eye. *Cell* 87, 651-60.
- Greene, J. C., Whitworth, A. J., Kuo, I., Andrews, L. A., Feany, M. B., and Pallanck, L. J. (2003). Mitochondrial pathology and apoptotic muscle degeneration in Drosophila parkin mutants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **100**, 4078-4083.
- Gustafson, K., and Boulianne, G. L. (1996). Distinct expression patterns detected within individual tissues by the GAL4 enhancer trap technique. *Genome* **39**, 174-82.
- Haywood, A. F., and Staveley, B. E. (2004). parkin counteracts symptoms in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *BMC Neurosci* 5, 14.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., and Takahashi, R. (2000). Parkin Suppresses Unfolded Protein Stress-induced Cell Death through Its E3 Ubiquitin-protein Ligase Activity. J Biol Chem 275, 35661-35664.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., Inoue, H., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., and Takahashi, R. (2001). An unfolded putative transmembrane polypeptide, which can lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress, is a substrate of Parkin. *Cell* **105**, 891-902.
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., Yokochi, M., Mizuno, Y., and Shimizu, N. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* **392**, 605-8.
- Pesah, Y., Pham, T., Burgess, H., Middlebrooks, B., Verstreken, P., Zhou, Y., Harding, M., Bellen, H., and Mardon, G. (2004). Drosophila parkin mutants have decreased mass and cell size and increased sensitivity to oxygen radical stress. *Development* 131, 2183-94.
- Rao, R. V., Peel, A., Logvinova, A., del Rio, G., Hermel, E., Yokota, T., Goldsmith, P. C., Ellerby, L. M., Ellerby, H. M., and Bredesen, D. E. (2002). Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program: role of the ER chaperone GRP78. *FEBS Lett* **514**, 122-8.
- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Iwai, K., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., and Suzuki, T. (2000). Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat Gen* 25, 302-305.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, J., Chung, K. K., Huang, H., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2000). Parkin functions as an E2-dependent ubiquitin- protein ligase and promotes the degradation of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 13354-9.

Chapter 5: A method to generate truncated parkin transgene

This chapter has not been published and is supplemental to Chapters 2 and 3.

5.1 Introduction

In order to understand the function of *parkin* and its target proteins, an alternative genetic model of PD is desirable than the ones currently available. The parkin protein can be divided into two main domains; the <u>Ub</u>iquitin-<u>like</u> Domain/<u>U</u>nique <u>Parkin</u> <u>D</u>omain (UBL/UPD) region, which binds target proteins, and the RING-box (RING1-IBR-RING2) region, which recruits specific E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes that act to attach ubiquitin monomers to the target protein (Tanaka *et al.*, 2001). Expression of a truncated form of *parkin* that includes only the E2 binding domain could act in a dominant negative fashion by binding the specific E2 enzymes that full-length parkin would normally bind, which would prevent normal parkin from mediating the attachment of ubiquitin molecules to proteins that need to be destroyed. This in turn could lead to a build of toxic proteins. Over-expression of *ringbox (RB) parkin* will be used to determine if such inhibitory effects exist and if truncation mutations in *parkin* lead to stress induced apoptosis.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Generation of plasmid with a truncated form of parkin

Utilizing the *parkin* cDNA (SD01679) (Haywood and Staveley, 2004; Stapleton *et al.*, 2002) from Research Genetics as a template the RING-BOX region of *parkin* was generated by PCR. The primers were designed to generate a *Bgl*II restriction enzyme site at the 5' end and to adjust the sequence to generate a *Drosophila* Kozak consensus

translation initiation sequence (C/A)AA(A/C)ATG) (Cavener, 1987). The sequence selected for redesign is located just prior to the segment of the gene encoding the RING BOX. This particular sequence was:

GAA AGT CTG GAG GTG GCC TGC GTG GAC and the changes made were: GAA T CT AA T GCC TGC GTG GAC to generate the *dparkCtermBglII* primer that included a stretch of 12 nucleotides of perfect match towards the 3' end of the primer, to facilitate specific annealing. The commonly used PM001 primer (CGT TAG AAC GCG GCT ACA AT) was selected for the 3' end, which encompasses the remainder of the multiple cloning site of the vector for flexibility of cloning. The PCR cycle was designed to create maximal product with little non-specific product, several reactions were set up with varying salt and template concentrations. The best result was obtained with a final concentration of 1x PCR buffer, 2.75 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM dGTP, 0.1 mM dTTP, 0.1 mM dATP, 0.1 mM dCTP, 0.1 µM PM001 primer, 0.1 µM dparkCtermBglII primer, 10 units of Taq DNA polymerase, 0.01 µg of template and the cycle parameters of 1x 95°C for 3 minutes, then 20 x 95°C for 1 minute, 50°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 1.5 minutes followed by a final extension time of 4 minutes at 72°C before being cooled to 5°C. The resulting PCR reactions were run on a 1% agarose gel with a standard 1 kb ladder to confirm that the resulting product was of the expected size. The single resulting band at 900 base pairs was cut from the gel and the DNA extracted using the Qiagen Gel Extraction kit. A 1 µl aliquot of the extracted sample was electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel to confirm the product was retrieved. The remaining sample was digested with Bg/II/XhoI, subjected to a phenol/chloroform extraction to remove proteins and ligated into a BglII/XhoI cut pUAST vector with DNA

ligase enzyme in a slow melt bath (cup of ice left at room temperature) overnight. This ligated vector was transformed into *E. coli* and small-scale preparations checked for correct insert orientation before a large-scale preparation was performed. The insert will then be sequenced to check if the correct portion of the *parkin* gene has been amplified and cloned.

5.3 References

- Cavener, D. R. (1987). Comparison of the consensus sequence flanking translational start sites in Drosophila and vertebrates. *Nucleic Acids Res* 15, 1353-61.
- Haywood, A. F., and Staveley, B. E. (2004). parkin counteracts symptoms in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *BMC Neurosci* 5, 14.
- Stapleton, M., Carlson, J., Brokstein, P., Yu, C., Champe, M., George, R., Guarin, H., Kronmiller, B., Pacleb, J., Park, S., Wan, K., Rubin, G. M., and Celniker, S. E. (2002). A Drosophila full-length cDNA resource. *Genome Biol* 3, RESEARCH0080.
- Tanaka, K., Suzuki, T., Chiba, T., Shimura, H., Hattori, N., and Mizuno, Y. (2001). Parkin is linked to the ubiquitin pathway. *J Mol Med* **79**, 482-94.

Chapter 6: Dopa decarboxylase (Ddc)-Gal4

dramatically reduces life span

A version of this chapter has been published in Drosophila Information Service (Haywood *et al.*, 2002).

6.1 Introduction

The UAS/Gal4 ectopic expression system (Brand and Perrimon, 1993; Phelps and Brand, 1998) has become an extremely useful approach for the study of specific genes in *Drosophila melanogaster*. This expression system relies upon Gal4 to bind the upstream activation sequence (UAS) in order to activate transcription of the target gene. A variety of transgenic *Drosophila* lines are readily available that express *Gal4* in specific tissues or cell types. Our laboratory is interested in models of neurodegenerative diseases and we have initiated work with the *Dopa decarboxylase (Ddc)-Gal4* transgenic expression lines to model Parkinson's disease in *Drosophila* by expressing genes in dopaminergic neurons.

The first *Drosophila melanogaster* model of Parkinson's disease was developed by the generation of transgenic lines bearing wild-type and mutant forms of the human α -*synuclein* gene cloned downstream of the UAS yeast promoter (Feany and Bender, 2000). There is no apparent *Drosophila* homologue of α -synuclein but expression of the human α synuclein protein in the *Drosophila* nervous system recapitulated some features of Parkinson's disease. Expression of α -synuclein in the dopaminergic neurons (Feany and Bender, 2000) was driven by a transgene comprised of the *Ddc* gene promoter cloned upstream of *Gal4*. Originally, this transgene was developed to examine a *Drosophila* model of cocaine addiction (Li *et al.*, 2000). The Parkinsonian flies, apparently normal at a young age, demonstrated a premature loss of locomotor (climbing) ability, loss of dopaminergic neurons and accumulation of α -synuclein-containing inclusions. In

addition, *GMR-Gal4* driven expression in the developing eye resulted in age-dependent retinal neurodegeneration. Subsequent treatment of the transgenic α -synuclein expressing flies with a number of pharmacological agents such as the dopamine precursor L-DOPA, dopamine receptor agonists (bromocriptine, pergolide and SK&F38393) and the anticholinergic atropine, all restored or partially restored the age-dependent loss ofclimbing ability (Pendleton *et al.*, 2002). Further, this model has been used to examine the suppression of the α -synuclein toxicity by the molecular chaperone, HSP70 (Auluck *et al.*, 2002).

A good understanding of the effects of *Ddc-Gal4* expression in *Drosophila melanogaster* is essential to properly interpreting this model system. As a prelude to our exploration of models of Parkinson's disease in *Drosophila*, we began to investigate the biological properties of the *Ddc-Gal4* driver lines. We have shown that *Ddc-Gal4* causes reduced viability and is therefore not inactive in *D. melanogaster*.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Fly stocks and culture

Ddc- $Gal4^{4.3D}$ and Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}$ flies (Li *et al.*, 2000) were obtained from Jay Hirsh at the Department of Biology, University of Virginia and w^{1118} flies were obtained from Dr. Howard Lipshitz at the Hospital for Sick Children in Toronto. To obtain heterozygotes, Ddc-Gal4 homozygous males were crossed to w^{1118} females. All flies were cultured on standard cornmeal/yeast/molasses/agar media at 25°C.

6.2.2 Aging analysis

Adult males were aged in small groups upon standard media at 25°C and scored for viability every two to three days as described previously (Staveley *et al.*, 1990). The number of individuals aged were as follows: Ddc- $Gal4^{4.3D}$ homozygotes n = 102; Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}$ homozygotes n = 133; Ddc- $Gal4^{4.3D}$ heterozygotes n = 280; Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}$ heterozygotes n = 119; w^{1118} n = 83).

6.2.3 Locomotion assay

The flies were assayed for their ability to climb in a manner similar to that described by Feany and Bender (2000). Every 4 to 5 days, 10 male flies of a cohort of aged flies were assayed for their ability to climb to the top of a vial within a period of 18 seconds. Twenty trials were carried out for each time point.

6.3 Results and Discussion

An investigation of the baseline biological consequences of *Gal4* expression as directed by the *Ddc* promoter is essential to our studies of Parkinson's disease models in *Drosophila*. We began by crossing the *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}* and *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}* driver lines to w^{1118} to conduct climbing assays. It quickly became apparent that the stocks of both *Ddc-Gal4* insertion lines required extra care to maintain and that the flies were apparently short-lived in both cases. As a result we decided to conduct longevity trials. Homozygotes of both insertions of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene display a greatly reduced life span (Figure 6-1). For example only 43% and 44% of homozygous males for *Ddc-Gal4*^{4.3D} and *Ddc-Gal4*^{4.36} respectively were alive by Day 6 after eclosion. While 50% of *Ddc-Gal4*^{4.3D} male heterozygotes survive past the age of 88 days and *Ddc-Gal4*^{4.36} male heterozygotes past 70 days of age. We assigned w^{1118} as the control strain in these experiments, 50% of which survived between 58 and 60 days. The shorter median life span of the control may reflect an insufficiency of the w^{1118} stock rather than an increase in viability of the heterozygotes. It is important to note that the very similar longevity profiles of the two independent insertions of *Ddc-Gal4* suggest that the reduction in life span is due to the expression of the transgene and not the site of insertion.

The reduced viability of the *Ddc-Gal4* homozygotes forced us to examine the locomotor activity of the *Ddc-Gal4* heterozygotes (Figure 6-2). However, the *Ddc-Gal4*^{4.3D} and *Ddc-Gal4*^{4.36} heterozygotes retain their ability to climb with age in a manner similar to the w^{1118} controls. Due to greatly reduced viability, the locomotion of homozygotes was not measured.



Figure 6-1: *Ddc-Gal4* reduces life span.

Male homozygotes of the independent insertions of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene, *Ddc-Gal4* $^{4.3D}$ (large triangles) and *Ddc-Gal4* $^{4.3D}$ (small triangles) both display a greatly reduced life span. The heterozygotes of *Ddc-Gal4* $^{4.3D}$ (solid circles) and *Ddc-Gal4* $^{4.36}$ (solid diamonds), however display a normal, if not extended life span when compared to the control w^{1118} (solid squares) individuals.



Figure 6-2: *Ddc-Gal4* heterozygotes have normal locomotor (climbing) activity. The heterozygotes of *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}* (solid circles) and *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}* (solid diamonds) display a normal level of climbing ability when compared to the control w^{1118} (solid squares) flies. The locomotion of homozygotes was not measured due to poor viability.

The UAS/Gal4 ectopic expression system has made it possible to express genes and test the effects of overexpression in a variety of tissues. The *Ddc-Gal4* driver has been used for expression of transgenes in the dopaminergic neurons including expressing the α synuclein gene to model Parkinson's disease (Feany and Bender, 2000). Although no UAS (cggagtactgtcctcc) promoter sequences are naturally found in *D. melanogaster* (Berkeley Drosophila Genome Project, pers. comm.), our laboratory has demonstrated that expression of *Gal4* in the eye with the *GMR-Gal4* transgene leads to increased levels of apoptosis and morphological defects (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). Although the mechanism by which Gal4 induces cell death is unclear, death of the dopaminergic neurons could certainly result in premature lethality in these flies.

6.4 References

- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Chaperone suppression of alpha-synuclein toxicity in a Drosophila model for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 295, 865-8.
- Brand, A. H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development* **118**, 401-415.
- Feany, M. B., and Bender, W. W. (2000). A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* **404**, 394-398.
- Kramer, J. M., and Staveley, B. E. (2003). GAL4 cause developmental defects and apoptosis when expressed in the developing eye of Drosophila melanogaster. *Gen Mol Res* **2**, 43-47.
- Li, H., Chaney, S., Roberts, I. J., Forte, M., and Hirsh, J. (2000). Ectopic G-protein expression in dopamine and serotonin neurons blocks cocaine sensitization in Drosophila melanogaster. *Curr Biol* **10**, 211-214.
- Pendleton, R. G., Parvez, F., Sayed, M., and Hillman, R. (2002). Effects of pharmacological agents upon a transgenic model of Parkinson's disease in Drosophila melanogaster. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 300, 91-6.
- Phelps, C. B., and Brand, A. H. (1998). Ectopic gene expression in Drosophila using GAL4 system. *Methods* 14, 367-79.
- Staveley, B. E., Phillips, J. P., and Hilliker, A. J. (1990). Phenotypic consequences of copper-zinc superoxide dismutase overexpression in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genome* 33, 867-72.

Chapter 7: Analysis of apoptosis in *Drosophila melanogaster* with multiple inserts of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene

This chapter is supplemental to Chapter 6 and is part of a paper in preparation.

7.1 Introduction

The *UAS/Gal4* ectopic expression system (Brand and Perrimon, 1993; Phelps and Brand, 1998) is widely used in the study of the effects of directed ectopic expression of specific genes in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Gal4* expression is believed to be benign as there are no upstream activation sequence (UAS) sites or sequences in the *Drosophila* genome. Contrary to this belief expression of *Gal4* appears to have negative consequences particularly when multiple copies of the transgene are present (Kramer and Staveley, 2003, Sheppard, Haywood, Saunders and Staveley, in preparation). Expression of *Gal4* in the dopaminergic neurons leads to a shorter lifespan (Haywood *et al.*, 2002) and expression of *Gal4* in the developing eye causes a rough eye phenotype and appears to lead to excessive cell death (Kramer and Staveley, 2003).

As I use the *Ddc-Gal4 Drosophila* line, which expresses *Gal4* in the dopaminergic neurons, a further understanding of the effects of *Ddc-Gal4* expression was required in order to accurately interpret data generated from the progeny of these flies. Here, I specifically looked in the third instar larval brain to see where *Gal4* is expressed through directed expression of Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP). Third instar brains of flies that have multiple copies of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene were then analysed for their level of apoptosis using the vital dye Acridine Orange.

7.2 Materials and Methods

7.2.1 Fly stocks and culture

UAS-GFP lines were obtained from the Bloomington Stock Center. Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D} and Ddc-Gal4^{4.36} flies (Li et al., 2000) were obtained from Dr.Jay Hirsh at the Department of Biology, University of Virginia and w^{1118} line was obtained from Dr. Howard Lipshitz at the Hospital for Sick Children in Toronto. Ddc-Gal4^{4.36} and Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D} transgenic lines were combined using standard genetic techniques as follows. They were stably balanced onto a multiple balanced line w^{1118} ; L/CyO; Ki ftz/TM3, Sb e or w^{1118} ; L/CyO; *Ki ftz²⁰/TM6B*. *Tb Hu e* by an initial cross and a then backcross to obtain lines that were: w^{1118} ; L/CyO; Ddc-Gal4³⁶ /TM6B and w^{1118} ; Ddc-Gal4^{3D} /CyO; Ki ftz/TM6B. These were then crossed together to obtain a stable line that had at least one insert of Ddc-Gal4 transgene on both the second and third chromosome. Initially these lines were very weak and were difficult to maintain however over time they became stronger and more viable, possibly due to selection of beneficial quantitative modifiers. All flies were cultured on standard commeal/yeast/molasses/agar media at 25°C. To obtain the various genotype combinations in the adults, specific parents were crossed such that the chromosome could be followed to ensure that the offspring had the correct genotype. For larval analysis a separate mating scheme was developed to ensure that 100% of offspring had the appropriate genotype for subsequent brain analysis. These mating schemes are shown in Table 7.1.

Table 7-1: Mating s	scheme to	o obtain	larval	Drosophila	with	multiple	copies	of	the
Ddc-Gal4 transgene									

Male Female	w ¹¹¹⁸ ;+/+;+/+	w ¹¹¹⁸ ; Ddc-Gal4/Ddc- Gal4; +/+
w ¹¹¹⁸ ; +/+;+/+	w ¹¹¹⁸ ; +/+;+/+	
w ¹¹¹⁸ ; Ddc-Gal4/Ddc- Gal4; Ddc-Gal4/Ddc-Gal4		w ¹¹¹⁸ ; Ddc-Gal4/Ddc- Gal4; Ddc-Gal4/+

7.2.2 Acridine Orange staining of Drosophila larval brains

This protocol was adapted from Bonini (2000). Third instar larvae that were crawling up the sides of vials were dissected in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) with 0.1% Tween20 (PBT) to prevent the carcasses from sticking to the plastic of the 1.5 ml microfuge tubes and pipette tips. The carcasses were incubated in 0.5μ g/ml Acridine Orange solution for 5 minutes. The carcasses were rinsed in PBT and further dissected before being wetmounted in PBS (Bonini, 2000). The brains were visualized by fluorescent optics and photographed.

7.2.3 Visualisation of GFP in *Drosophila* larval brains

*Ddc-Gal4*³⁶ homozygous females were crossed to *UAS-GFP* males and raised at 25°C on standard cornneal/yeast/agar. Crawling third instar larvae were dissected in PBT and wet mounted in PBS. The brains were visualized by fluorescent optics and photographed.

7.3 **Results and Discussion**

The double *Ddc-Gal4* lines produce progeny that had 2, 3 or 4 copies of the insert, notably homozygotes were viable albeit weak. Flies homozygous for the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene on the second chromosome that had at least one more copy of the transgene on the third chromosome were sterile, which combined with the fact that I did not have a larval marker for the second chromosome made it impossible to obtain larva with four copies of *Ddc-Gal4* transgene. Other combinations were attempted unsuccessfully.

To determine the expression pattern of *Gal4* by the *Ddc-Gal4* transgenes GFP expression was directed under the control of the UAS via the *Ddc-Gal4³⁶* transgene and third instar larval brains were dissected and examined. The predominant staining pattern is observed in the base of the larval brain in two distinct spots on each side of the larval brain (Figure 7-1A and B). Based on an atlas of the *Drosophila* brain, this region appears to be the noduli, which are two ball-like neuropils that receive connections from protocerebral bridge neurons that, en route, provide collaterals to the staves of the fore brain (Hansen, 1995-2000). There is further staining in the central nervous system (CNS) in distinct places that appear to be the cell bodies of serotonergic nerves (Figure 7-1A). This staining was not in the expected regions of the brain that are annotated in Figure 7-1C.

Previous studies have shown that overexpression of *Gal4* can cause apoptosis and developmental defects when expressed in the eye imaginal disc (Kramer and Staveley, 2003, Kramer, Haywood, Sheppard and Staveley submitted). To determine if overexpression of *Gal4* in the dopaminergic neurons causes apoptosis we expressed *Gal4* through three copies of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene and examined the brains of crawling third instar larvae for apoptosis. Apoptotic cells were observed ubiquitously in the lobes of both the control and triple insert *Ddc-Gal4* flies (Figure 7-2). However excessive apoptosis was observed in the two brain lobes of the triple insert *Ddc-Gal4* flies compared with the control fly brain with no *Ddc-Gal4* transgene (Figure 7-2).





Figure 7-1: Dopaminergic specific expression of GFP shows staining in the dopaminergic neurons and seroteroneurgic neurons.

The brain and central nervous system (CNS) of w¹¹¹⁸;UAS-GFP/+; Ddc-Gal4³⁶/+ third instar larvae visualized by fluorescent optics show staining in distinct regions of the brain and CNS. Both figures A and B are the same genotype but from a different angle. C - a schematic diagram of the dopaminergic neurons in a larval brain. Six clusters in the brain and several in the ventral ganglion. DM - dorsoposterior region of the superior protocerebrum near midline, DL1 – Dorsal region fo brain lobes, more latereal and more posterior than DM, DL2 – Posteromedial region of brain lobes, Sb – Subesophageal ganglion, posterior. Th – Prothoracic segment, medials, ThL – Thoracic segments, laterals, AbU – Abdominal segments, medials, AbL – abdominal segments, laterals.



and the second second

Figure 7-2: Expression from multiple copies of a transgene of Gal4 in dopaminergic neurons shows increased apoptosis in the brain lobes.

The brain and CNS was dissected, incubated in Acridine Orange and visualized by fluorescent optics. An increased number of Acridine Orange reactive cells, which stain cells undergoing apoptosis are in panel B. The genotypes are A – w¹¹¹⁸, B-w¹¹¹⁸; Ddc-Gal4/Ddc-Gal4; Ddc-Gal4/+.

To reconcile the ubiquitous staining for apoptotic cells we speculate that the expression

of Gal4 in the dopaminergic neurons has already caused the death of these neurons and

downstream of their demise other cells, that they would normally signal to keep alive, are

dying.

7.4 References

- Bonini, N. M. (2000). Methods to detect patterns of cell death in Drosophila. *Methods Mol Biol* **136**, 115-21.
- Brand, A. H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development* **118**, 401-415.
- Hansen, L. (1995-2000). Flybrain: An online atlas and database of the *Drosophila* nervous system.
- Haywood, A. F. M., Saunders, L., and Staveley, B. E. (2002). *Dopa decarboxylase(Ddc)-GAL4* dramatically reduces life span. *Drosphila Information Service* **85**, 42-45.
- Kramer, J. M., and Staveley, B. E. (2003). GAL4 causes developmental defects and apoptosis when expressed in the developing eye of Drosophila melanogaster. *Genet Mol Res* **2**, 43-7.
- Li, H., Chaney, S., Roberts, I. J., Forte, M., and Hirsh, J. (2000). Ectopic G-protein expression in dopamine and serotonin neurons blocks cocaine sensitization in Drosophila melanogaster. *Curr Biol* **10**, 211-214.
- Phelps, C. B., and Brand, A. H. (1998). Ectopic gene expression in Drosophila using GAL4 system. *Methods* 14, 367-79.

Chapter 8: Gal4-induced cell death is suppressed by *parkin*

A version of this chapter has been submitted to BMC Biology (Haywood, Kramer, Sheppard and Staveley, 2006).

8.1 Introduction

Drosophila melanogaster have emerged as one of the most successful models for the analysis of human disease genes in neurological disorders (Bier, 2005). The UAS/Gal4 ectopic expression system is widely used in D. melanogaster to carry out studies of gene function and regulation (Brand and Perrimon, 1993; Phelps and Brand, 1998). This bipartite expression system utilizes the yeast transcription factor Gal4 and its target sequence, UAS (Upstream Activation Sequence), to which Gal4 binds in order to activate gene transcription. Gal4 can be expressed under the control of Drosophila-specific promoters with little effect on the organism. However, in certain tissues, expression of Gal4 can have adverse effects (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). For example, expression of Gal4 in the developing eye using the glass multiple reporter (GMR)-Gal4 transgene leads to a disorganised ommatidial array in the adult. This phenotype had been previously described (Freeman, 1996; Helms et al., 1999; Hiesinger et al., 1999; White and Jarman, 2000), however, no biological basis had been determined. As neurodegenerative diseases are often characterised by the accumulation of toxic proteins (Taylor et al., 2002), the ectopic expression of Gal4 could provide a system to examine components that could act to counter toxic protein accumulation.

PD is a highly prevalent neurodegenerative disease with symptoms that include stationary muscle tremors, difficulty initiating movement and muscle rigidity (Spacey and Wood, 1999). Loss of dopamine and dopamine-producing neurons is at the root of these symptoms. The loss of dopaminergic neurons, likely apoptotic in nature, may be activated through the accumulation of toxic proteins leading to stress of the endoplasmic

reticulum (ER) (Takahashi et al., 2003). Inherited forms of PD account for approximately 5-10% of all PD patients (Mizuno et al., 2001) and many of these genes are linked to the ubiquitin/proteasome protein degradation system (UPS) (Betarbet et al., 2005). The accumulation of toxic proteins due to the failure of the ubiquitin-dependent process of protein degradation has been proposed as a major factor in the destruction of neurons in sporadic and familial PD (Cookson, 2005; McNaught and Jenner, 2001; McNaught et al., 2001). Mutations in the parkin gene are the leading cause of earlyonset PD accounting for 49% of familial and 19% of sporadic cases with a mean age of onset less than 45 years old (Kruger, 2004; Lucking et al., 2000). The parkin protein functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Shimura et al., 2000), which mediates ubiquitination of specific target proteins (Chung et al., 2001; Imai et al., 2001; Shimura et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2000). Ubiquitin-tagged proteins are subsequently digested by the proteasome. Recently, we have shown that *parkin* expression in *Drosophila* prevents the toxic effects of both wild type and mutant human α -synuclein (Haywood and Staveley, 2004; Haywood and Staveley, 2006). The role of toxic protein accumulation in PD may become clear as more targets of parkin ubiquitination are identified.

To address concerns about the effects of *Gal4* expression, I showed that the rough eye phenotype caused by *GMR-Gal4* is largely a result of Gal4-induced apoptosis during development and can be suppressed by inhibition of caspase activity. Furthermore, I addressed the possibility that *parkin* expression could suppress the consequences of high levels of Gal4, in the developing eye. I found that parkin can suppress developmental defects and apoptosis caused by Gal4. The ability of *parkin* to counter the toxicity of

exogenous and endogenous proteins may provide great insight into our understanding of neurodegenerative disease.

8.2 Materials and Methods

8.2.1 Fly stocks and culture

The *GMR-Gal4* (Freeman, 1996) and *UAS-p35* flies were obtained from the Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center, Indiana University at Bloomington. The *GMR-DIAP2* fly line was obtained from Dr. John Nambu (Wing *et al.*, 1998). *UAS-parkin^{2.1}* flies were generated as previously described (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). Dr. Howard Lipshitz provided the w^{1118} flies. Stable double transgenic lines *GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4*; *UAS-parkin^{2.1}/UAS-parkin^{2.1}* and *GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4;GMR-DIAP2/*+ genotypes were generated using standard techniques. All flies were cultured on standard cornmeal/yeast/molasses/agar media at 25°C.

8.2.2 Scanning electron microscopy of the Drosophila eye

Flies were collected and aged for two days after eclosion before being frozen at -70°C. Whole flies were mounted, desiccated overnight and coated in gold before photography at 150X magnification with a Hitachi S-570 scanning electron microscope as previously described (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). For each condition at least six flies were analysed.

8.2.3 Histological examination of Drosophila adult retinas

Nine adult flies of each genotype were collected two days after eclosion, fixed in Karnovsky's fixative and embedded in epon as described in Feany and Bender (2000). Tangential retinal sections were prepared at a thickness of $0.5 \ \mu m$ and stained with toludine blue, examined by light microscopy and photographed.

8.2.4 Acridine Orange staining of imaginal discs

Crawling third instar larvae were dissected in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.5 and the carcass, with attached discs, was incubated in 0.5 μ g/ml Acridine Orange solution for five minutes according to standard methods (Bonini, 2000). The carcass was then rinsed in PBS; dissection was completed and the imaginal discs wet-mounted in PBS. The imaginal discs were viewed by fluorescent optics using a Nikon Eclipse fluorescent microscope and photographed immediately using a Nikon 35 mm camera attached to the microscope.

8.3 Results

8.3.1 High levels of *Gal4* expression cause apoptosis

The *GMR-Gal4* transgene produces a high level of Gal4 in the eye imaginal discs in cells posterior to the morphogenetic furrow (Freeman, 1996). This expression causes pronounced developmental defects in the adult eye (Figure 8-1B) when compared to



Figure 8-1: Expression of *p35* inhibits developmental defects and apoptosis in *GMR-Gal4* homozygotes.

SEM (A-D) reveals the rough eye phenotype seen in *GMR-Gal4* homozygotes (B) as compared to a control (A). The rough eye phenotype is inhibited in the presence of one (C) or two (D) copies of the *UAS-p35* transgene. Acridine Orange staining reveals apoptotic cells in the eye imaginal discs of third instar larvae. The amount of apoptosis is greater in *GMR-Gal4* homozygotes (F) than in control larvae (E). The presence of one (G) or two (H) copies of *UAS-p35* essentially eliminates all apoptosis from the eye imaginal discs. Genotypes are w¹¹¹⁸ (A, E), w;*GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4* (B, F), w;*GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4*;*UAS-p35/*+ (C, G), w;*GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4*;*UAS-p35/*UAS-p35 (D, H). The scale bar is 88 μm. control flies (Figure 8-1A) that do not contain the *GMR-Gal4* transgene. Flies that are homozygous for the *GMR-Gal4* transgene also show a high level of apoptosis in the eye imaginal disc in the area posterior to the morphogenetic furrow (Figure 8-1F) (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). In contrast, control flies show some, but much less, apoptosis in the eye imaginal discs (Figure 8-1E). This suggests that the presence of Gal4 in the *GMR-Gal4* homozygotes induces excessive apoptosis during development.

To further examine this possibility, we co-expressed the caspase inhibitor p35 along with *Gal4* in the eye imaginal discs. Flies that are homozygous for the *GMR-Gal4* transgene and either one (Figure 8-1G) or two (Figure 8-1H) copies of the *UAS-p35* transgene show a nearly complete elimination of apoptosis during eye development. The disorganization of the ommatidial array observed with *GMR-Gal4* homozygotes (Figure 8-1B) is reduced in the presence of one (Figure 8-1C) and two (Figure 8-1D) copies of *UAS-p35*. This strongly suggests that Gal4 can cause caspase-mediated apoptosis in the developing eye to result in developmental defects.

8.3.2 Expression of *parkin* prevents Gal4-induced ommatidial disarray

As the expression of *Gal4* acts to cause cell death, bought on by the accumulation of toxic proteins, we tested if expression of *parkin* could prevent Gal4-induced phenotypes in the developing eye. Co-expression of *parkin* almost completely ameliorates the Gal4-induced rough eye ultra-structure (Figure 8-2C compared to B). While the overall size of the eye is still slightly smaller than the control, the structure is very similar to that of the control flies eye (Figure 8-2A).



Figure 8-2: Expression of *parkin* prevents Gal4-induced ultra-structure disarray Scanning electron micrograph of adult male flies show the rough eye phenotype caused by *Gal4* expression is suppressed in a dose-dependant fashion by expression of *parkin*. The genotypes are A - $w^{1/18}$; B - *GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4*; C - *GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4*; *UAS-parkin*^{2.1}/*UAS-parkin*^{2.1} and D - *GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4*;*GMR-DIAP2/TM3*. The scale bar is 88 µm.
8.3.3 Expression of DIAP2 does not prevent Gal4-induced defects

As parkin appears to prevent the disrupted ommatidial array caused by Gal4 and it is known to function as an ubiquitin ligase, we tested if the anti-apoptotic ubiquitin ligase, *Drosophila* inhibitor of apoptosis 2 (DIAP2) could repress the *Gal4*-induced rough eye phenotype. The *GMR-DIAP2* transgene was used to express the anti-apoptotic E3 ubiquitin ligase directly in the developing eye along with *Gal4*. Analysis of these eyes showed no variation of phenotype compared with the *Drosophila* eyes that expressed *Gal4* alone (Figure 8-2D), which indicates that DIAP2 has no effect on Gal4 induced developmental defects. To test the functionality of *GMR-DIAP2*, we determined that this transgene retained the ability to suppress the rough eye and teardrop shape that results in flies that express *GMR-rpr* (White *et al.*, 1996; Wing *et al.*, 1998) (data not shown). The ability to prevent phenotypes produced by excessive Gal4 is specific to the parkin E3 ubiquitin ligase.

8.3.4 Parkin mildly suppresses Gal4-induced disorganisation of the ommatidial array

Tangential sections of adult *Drosophila GMR-Gal4* eyes were found to have a vastly different structure compared to control flies (Figure 8-3B and A). Overall, the typical crystalline array of ommatidia was not present and large gaps and areas of indistinct tissue were present. On closer examination, the normal circular structure of each ommatidial region with seven of the eight photoreceptors visible within each circle was completely disrupted (Figure 8-3E vs D). Co-expression of *parkin* with *Gal4* appears to mildly suppress the disorganisation of the ommatidial array (Figure 8-3C and F).



Figure 8-3: Expression of *parkin* prevents *Gal4*-induced apoptosis in the developing eye imaginal disc but only mildly suppresses retinal disarray

Light microscopy of toludine blue stained 0.5 µm sections of epon embedded one-dayold adult female *Drosophila* retinas. Whole slices are shown (A-C) with an enlarged image of a portion of the slice below (D-F). The size marker is 80 µm for D-F. Acridine Orange staining of 3rd instar larval eye imaginal discs (G-I) showing the level of apoptosis caused by *Gal4* is diminished in the eye imaginal disc in a dose dependant fashion by *parkin*. The genotypes are w¹¹¹⁸ - (A, D, G), w¹¹¹⁸; *GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4* (B, E, H) and w¹¹¹⁸; *GMR-Gal4/GMR-Gal4*; UAS-parkin^{2.1}/UAS-parkin^{2.1} (C, F, I).

8.3.5 Expression of *parkin* prevents Gal4-induced apoptosis

The *GMR-gal4* rough eye phenotype is caused by excessive apoptosis in the developing eye disc (Figure 8-3H) (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). As expression of *parkin* can alter the phenotype caused in the adult eye by excessive *Gal4*, the influence of *parkin* upon apoptosis in the developing eye disc was examined. Co-expression of two copies of the *parkin* transgene dramatically reduced the level of apoptosis (Figure 8-3I), though not quite to the control levels (Figure 8-3G).

8.4 Discussion

When *Gal4* is expressed at a low level, little evidence of abnormal phenotypes is apparent. Adverse phenotypes arise when the *Gal4* gene is expressed from a highly active promoter region or multiple copies of the transgene are present or when incubation temperatures are increased (Brand *et al.*, 1994; Kramer and Staveley, 2003). How does Gal4 cause apoptosis? One possibility is that elevated levels of Gal4 may cause transcription of genes involved in apoptosis. This seems unlikely, as there are no UAS sequences (cggagtactgtcctcc) in the *D. melanogaster* genome (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). Alternatively, Gal4 may act as a toxic protein that can activate an apoptotic cascade. As Gal4 mediated apoptosis is inhibited by the caspase inhibitor p35, we suggest that Gal4 may act as a toxic protein that activates the cell suicide machinery.

A potential mechanism by which high levels of Gal4 protein may activate the cell suicide machinery is through the unfolded-protein response (UPR). Accumulation of misfolded

or excessive levels of proteins in the ER leads to 'ER stress', which initiates the UPR, in addition to other responses (Forman *et al.*, 2003; Lindholm *et al.*, 2006; Paschen and Mengesdorf, 2005; Rao *et al.*, 2004). This, in turn, may lead to a reduction in protein synthesis followed, in some instances, by the initiation of ER stress-induced cell death. It is likely that the accumulation of Gal4 may induce a similar response to result in the appearance of the apoptotic phenotypes. Expression of *Gal4* in specific region of the body may provide a useful model for elucidating the molecular mechanisms that play a role in toxic protein-induced apoptosis and could act as a model of toxic protein induced degenerative diseases such as PD.

Parkin can prevent ER stress caused by the accumulation of misfolded proteins via its E3 activity (Imai *et al.*, 2000; Mori, 2000). As *parkin* expression does not seem to suppress the expression of other *GMR-Gal4/UAS* transgene phenotypes, such as *GMR-Gal4/UAS-rpr* (data not shown), we believe that parkin selectively suppresses phenotypes that arise from high levels of *Gal4* expression. It is possible that high levels of *Gal4* expression result in a misfolded or misfolded-like protein that can be a substrate for parkin's ubiquitin ligase function, which tags proteins for destruction. Another possibility is that parkin may prevent Gal4 from initiating a toxic protein-induced apoptotic pathway through an indirect means that has not yet been described. It has been shown that parkin protein levels increase in response to ER stress (Imai *et al.*, 2000) and it is likely that the ectopic expression of *parkin* in conjunction with high levels of Gal4 is enough to abrogate the stress inducing properties of Gal4. This is comparable with the ability of parkin to suppress phenotypes caused by mutant and/or excessive α -synuclein.

Expression of *Gal4* at higher levels should provide a unique model of toxic protein induced cell death. Further analysis of the suppression of Gal4-induced phenotypes by *parkin* expression will provide insight into the role of parkin in opposition to toxic proteins that may lead to Parkinson's disease. The UAS/Gal4 expression system, while extremely useful in the study of ectopic expression of genes in *Drosophila*, has its limitations and should be properly controlled, as expression of *Gal4* is not as benign as first thought.

8.5 References

- Betarbet, R., Sherer, T. B., and Greenamyre, J. T. (2005). Ubiquitin-proteasome system and Parkinson's diseases. *Exp Neurol* **191 Suppl 1**, S17-27.
- Bier, E. (2005). Drosophila, the golden bug, emerges as a tool for human genetics. *Nat Rev Genet* **6**, 9-23.
- Bonini, N. M. (2000). Methods to detect patterns of cell death in Drosophila. *Methods Mol Biol* **136**, 115-21.
- Brand, A. H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development* **118**, 401-415.
- Brand, A. H., Manoukian, A. S., and Perrimon, N. (1994). Ectopic expression in Drosophila. *Methods Cell Biol* 44, 635-54.
- Chung, K. K., Zhang, Y., Lim, K. L., Tanaka, Y., Huang, H., Gao, J., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2001). Parkin ubiquitinates the alphasynuclein-interacting protein, synphilin- 1: implications for Lewy-body formation in Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* 7, 1144-50.
- Cookson, M. R. (2005). The biochemistry of Parkinson's disease. Annu Rev Biochem 74, 29-52.
- Forman, M. S., Lee, V. M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2003). 'Unfolding' pathways in neurodegenerative disease. *Trends Neurosci* 26, 407-10.
- Freeman, M. (1996). Reiterative use of the EGF receptor triggers differentiation of all cell types in the Drosophila eye. *Cell* 87, 651-60.
- Haywood, A. F., and Staveley, B. E. (2004). parkin counteracts symptoms in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *BMC Neurosci* 5, 14.
- Haywood, A. F. M., and Staveley, B. E. (2006). parkin negates mutant a-synucleininduced degeneration in a fly model of Parkinson's. *Genome* in press.
- Helms, W., Lee, H., Ammerman, M., Parks, A. L., Muskavitch, M. A., and Yedvobnick, B. (1999). Engineered truncations in the Drosophila mastermind protein disrupt Notch pathway function. *Dev Biol* 215, 358-74.

- Hiesinger, P. R., Reiter, C., Schau, H., and Fischbach, K. F. (1999). Neuropil pattern formation and regulation of cell adhesion molecules in Drosophila optic lobe development depend on synaptobrevin. *J Neurosci* **19**, 7548-56.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., and Takahashi, R. (2000). Parkin suppresses unfolded protein stressinduced cell death through Its E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase activity. J Biol Chem 275, 35661-35664.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., Inoue, H., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., and Takahashi, R. (2001). An unfolded putative transmembrane polypeptide, which can lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress, is a substrate of Parkin. *Cell* **105**, 891-902.
- Kramer, J. M., and Staveley, B. E. (2003). GAL4 causes developmental defects and apoptosis when expressed in the developing eye of Drosophila melanogaster. *Genet Mol Res* **2**, 43-7.
- Kruger, R. (2004). Genes in familial parkinsonism and their role in sporadic Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol* 251 Suppl 6, VI/2-6.
- Lindholm, D., Wootz, H., and Korhonen, L. (2006). ER stress and neurodegenerative diseases. *Cell Death Differ* [Epub ahead of print].
- Lucking, C. B., Durr, A., Bonifati, V., Vaughan, J., De Michele, G., Gasser, T., Harhangi,
 B. S., Meco, G., Denefle, P., Wood, N. W., Agid, Y., and Brice, A. (2000).
 Association between early-onset Parkinson's disease and mutations in the parkin gene. N Engl J Med 342, 1560-7.
- McNaught, K. S., and Jenner, P. (2001). Proteasomal function is impaired in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett* **297**, 191-4.
- McNaught, K. S., Olanow, C. W., Halliwell, B., Isacson, O., and Jenner, P. (2001). Failure of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2, 589-94.
- Mizuno, Y., Hattori, N., Mori, H., Suzuki, T., and Tanaka, K. (2001). Parkin and Parkinson's disease. *Curr Opin Neurol* 14, 477-82.
- Mori, K. (2000). Tripartite management of unfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell* **101**, 451-454.
- Paschen, W., and Mengesdorf, T. (2005). Endoplasmic reticulum stress response and neurodegeneration. *Cell Calcium* **38**, 409-15.
- Phelps, C. B., and Brand, A. H. (1998). Ectopic gene expression in Drosophila using GAL4 system. *Methods* 14, 367-79.
- Rao, R. V., Ellerby, H. M., and Bredesen, D. E. (2004). Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program. *Cell Death Differ* **11**, 372-80.

Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Iwai, K., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., and Suzuki, T. (2000). Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat Gen* 25, 302-305.

- Spacey, S. D., and Wood, N. W. (1999). The genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 12, 427-432.
- Takahashi, R., Imai, Y., Hattori, N., and Mizuno, Y. (2003). Parkin and endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **991**, 101-6.
- Taylor, J. P., Hardy, J., and Fischbeck, K. H. (2002). Toxic proteins in neurodegenerative disease. *Science* 296, 1991-5.
- White, K., Tahaoglu, E., and Steller, H. (1996). Cell killing by the Drosophila gene reaper. *Science* 271, 805-7.

- White, N. M., and Jarman, A. P. (2000). Drosophila atonal controls photoreceptor R8specific properties and modulates both receptor tyrosine kinase and Hedgehog signalling. *Development* **127**, 1681-9.
- Wing, J. P., Zhou, L., Schwartz, L. M., and Nambu, J. R. (1998). Distinct cell killing properties of the Drosophila reaper, head involution defective, and grim genes. *Cell Death Differ* **5**, 930-9.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, J., Chung, K. K., Huang, H., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2000). Parkin functions as an E2-dependent ubiquitin- protein ligase and promotes the degradation of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 13354-9.

Chapter 9: Concluding discussion and future

directions

9.1 How do α-synuclein and parkin interact?

Mutations that lead to amino acid changes in, or the triplication of, the α -synuclein gene are associated with a form of Parkinson's disease designated ADPD. The first *Drosophila* model of this disease was developed by the directed expression of mutant and wild-type forms of human α -synuclein, a gene not native in *Drosophila*, in the *Drosophila* central nervous system (Feany and Bender, 2000). These flies displayed dopaminergic neuronal degeneration coupled with an age-dependent loss of climbing ability. This neuronal degeneration was also demonstrated in the developing eye. The *Drosophila* model of ADPD has been used to examine the effect of various pharmacological agents (Auluck and Bonini, 2002; Pendleton *et al.*, 2002). In studies that comprise this thesis, genetic suppression of this remarkably simple model has been shown by co-expression of *parkin* (see Chapters 2 and 3).

The expression of *parkin* in the dopaminergic neurons (Chapter 2) and developing eye and wing (Chapters 2-4) does not produce any obvious adverse effects. These experiments indicate that *parkin*, when over-expressed, does not seem to randomly target and tag essential proteins for degradation. This is likely due to the high substrate specificity of parkin (Shimura *et al.*, 2001) and its ability to target itself for degradation (Zhang *et al.*, 2000). This apparently represents an excellent fail-safe mechanism cells have developed to balance the levels of both parkin and its substrates.

The age-dependent loss of dopaminergic neurons caused by expression of α -synuclein in Drosophila has been shown to be suppressed by the expression of parkin (Yang et al.,

2003). In addition, our research has found that the co-expression of *parkin* with α synuclein suppresses both retinal degeneration and the premature loss of climbinginduced by the latter (Haywood and Staveley, 2004). Co-immunoprecipitation studies show that parkin will only ubiquitinate O-glycosylated α -synuclein *in vitro* (Chung *et al.*, 2001), a recent tissue culture study shows that parkin ubiquitination of α -synuclein is unaffected by PD associated mutations in α -synuclein (Lim *et al.*, 2005b) and we have demonstrated suppression of the mutant α -synuclein-induced phenotype by parkin (Chapter 3). This work suggests that *Drosophila* is able to modify ectopically expressed human α -synuclein. Our experiments indicate that parkin may target α -synuclein for ubiquitination and subsequent degradation *in vivo* in *Drosophila*.

While the wild-type form of α -synuclein appears to undergo O-glycosylation and this allows subsequent ubiquitination by the parkin E3 ubiquitin ligase, it was unclear if the mutant form of α -synuclein could interfere with these processes to result in the disease state. The retinal defects that result from mutant α -synuclein expression originally described by Feany and Bender (2000) are prevented by the co-expression of *parkin* (Chapter 3). Moreover, ectopic *parkin* expression in the dopaminergic neurons augments the climbing ability of aged flies that also express mutant α -synuclein. These data suggest that the amino acid substitution present in the mutant form of α -synuclein does not interfere with the neutralization of its toxic effects by parkin. This suggests that the A30P substitution found in a PD-inducing form of α -synuclein does not impair O-glycosylation of the protein and allows it to continue to be a target of parkin.

In order to select rational potential therapeutic agents, the molecular mechanisms behind disease progression must be characterized. Gene function studies with homologues of disease-causing genes in model organisms have been made practical through the advent of genome projects. The data herein presented shows that over-expression of *Drosophila parkin* has no apparent adverse consequences (Chapters 2 and 4) and that parkin can suppress the PD symptoms in *Drosophila* caused by increased levels of wild type or mutant forms of human α -synuclein (Chapters 2 and 3). If the human homologue of *parkin* has the same abilities as its *Drosophila* counterpart then up-regulation of *parkin* could be a viable treatment for α -synuclein induced PD.

9.2 The Gal4 phenomenon: Can it be used to model toxic protein-induced diseases?

The UAS/Gal4 ectopic expression system has made it possible to express genes and test the effects of over-expression of genes of interest in *Drosophila*. This system has been widely used in the *Drosophila* research community and, of concern, a number of papers about the effects of expression of apoptotic genes have been described. These papers on the whole have been well controlled and the results attributed to the expression of the apoptotic gene. What has not been widely studied nor apparently given much consideration is the effect of Gal4 expression alone.

A precise match to the UAS (cggagtactgtcctcc) enhancer sequence, to which the Gal4 transcription factor would bind to and enhance transcription, does not appear to be

present in the D. melanogaster genome (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). The Drosophila research community has not widely examined the possibility that Gal4 expression has independent effects in *Drosophila*. It has been demonstrated that increased levels of Gal4, either through one versus two GMR-Gal4 transgenes or increased incubation temperatures of 29°C versus 25°C, leads to morphological defects in the adult eye and increased levels of apoptosis in the larval eye imaginal disc during development (Kramer and Staveley, 2003). We have demonstrated that populations of flies that are homozygous for either insert of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene exhibit greatly reduced life spans (Chapter 6). Furthermore flies with multiple copies of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgene show increased levels of apoptosis in the larval brain lobes (Chapter 7). Our laboratory has shown that flies with multiple copies of the Ddc-Gal4 transgene have an inverse relationship between the number of copies of the transgene and life span; also male flies are sterile with three or more copies of the transgene, a phenotype also shown in the parkin mutant flies (Sheppard, 2003). The Ddc-Gal4 driver has been used to examine the expression of transgenes in the dopaminergic neurons including expression of α synuclein to model PD (Feany and Bender, 2000). As Gal4 transgenes are such an integral part of modern Drosophila research it was prudent to investigate this phenomenon further.

The mechanism by which Gal4 induces cell death is unclear. High levels of Gal4 may cause transcription of genes involved in apoptosis in a direct manner. However, this seems unlikely, as no UAS sequences are found in the *Drosophila melanogaster* genome for the Gal4 transcription factor to bind and activate transcription of components of the

apoptotic machinery. Alternatively, excessive Gal4 may act as a "toxic" protein that can activate the cell suicide machinery through the unfolded-protein response (UPR). In brief, the UPR is believed to be initiated by the accumulation of misfolded or excessive levels of proteins in the ER that in turn leads to 'ER stress' (reviewed in Forman *et al.*, 2003, and Rao *et al.*, 2004). Following the initiation of the UPR there is an overall reduction in protein synthesis; if this does not resolve the stressful situation then ER stress-induced cell death is initiated. Accumulation of excessive Gal4 may lead to ER-stress induced cell death. Furthermore, we have demonstrated that the cell death process acts through the caspase pathway as Gal4-induced apoptosis is inhibited by the caspase inhibitor p35 (Chapter 8; Haywood, Kramer, Sheppard and Staveley, submitted). While the specific mechanism through which toxic proteins activate apoptosis is unknown, over-expression of *Gal4* in *Drosophila* tissues may provide a useful model for elucidating the molecular mechanism that play a central role in toxic protein-induced apoptosis. Expression of *Gal4* in specific tissues at specific stages of development may act as a model of a number of toxic protein-induced degenerative diseases including PD.

9.3 Parkin suppresses toxic protein-induced cell death

Parkin can prevent ER-stress caused by the accumulation of misfolded proteins via its E3 activity (Imai *et al.*, 2000; Mori, 2000). Levels of the parkin protein increase in response to ER stress (Imai *et al.*, 2000). If Gal4-induced cell death is the result of an ER-stress-induced apoptotic pathway, it may be likely that the ectopic expression of parkin can act to abrogate the ER-stress inducing properties of Gal4. We have shown that parkin can prevent Gal4-induced apoptosis in the developing eye (Chapter 8, Haywood, Kramer,

Sheppard and Staveley, submitted). Expression of *parkin* does not appear to suppress the expression of other phenotypes driven by *GMR-Gal4*, in particular cell death genes *reaper* and *hid* (data not shown). Note that in these instances the number of *GMR-Gal4* transgenes is only one and hence the level of Gal4 is not at a "toxic" level. This leads us to believe that parkin can selectively suppress the cell death phenotype that arises from excessive *Gal4* expression.

How does parkin prevent Gal4-induced developmental defects? We speculate that the Gal4 protein may take on a toxic form, such as a misfolded form or a multimeric conglomeration with other proteins, when produced in high levels. As parkin is an ubiquitin ligase, parkin may bind to and mediate the ubiquitination of this form of Gal4 protein to target it for destruction thus preventing Gal4-induced developmental defects. Another possibility is that parkin may prevent Gal4 from initiating a toxic proteininduced apoptotic pathway through an indirect means that has not yet been described. Ouestions remain as to the mechanism by which *parkin* expression is able to prevent the defects caused by Gal4. Is there a specific interaction between the parkin protein and Gal4? Are there other intermediary proteins involved? We demonstrate that the expression of the anti-apoptotic E3 ubiquitin ligase DIAP2 does not prevent Gal4induced disruption of the ommatidial array (Chapter 8), however could other ubiquitin ligases act to prevent Gal4-induced defects? It is possible that high levels of Gal4 expression result in a misfolded protein target that parkin can recognise and subject to its ubiquitin ligase function and, eventually destruction. This is comparable with the ability of parkin to suppress phenotypes caused by mutant and/or excessive α -synuclein

(Chapters 2 and 3 Haywood and Staveley, 2004; Haywood and Staveley, 2006). Analysis of parkin prevention of Gal4 toxicity may lead to a greater understanding of the role of parkin in repression of toxic protein induced diseases.

9.4 Future research

The results from chapters 2 and 3 demonstrate that there are genetic approaches that can be used to prevent phenotypes induced by α -synuclein expression in a *Drosophila* model of PD. Examination of the interaction of parkin with other PD-associated forms of α synuclein, such as A53T and E46K, will provide a greater understanding of the ability of parkin to suppress PD-like phenotypes in *Drosophila*. Analysis of the function of α synuclein phosphorylation and nitrosylation through the generation of transgenic flies with non-phosphorylatable or non-nitrosylatable human α -synuclein could also yield unique alternative PD models. Analysis of proteins that interact with these different forms of α -synuclein through immuno-precipitation experiments or through genetic screens for modifiers of mutant α -synuclein phenotypes will increase our understanding of the function of α -synuclein. Of particular importance will be the analysis of interactions between α -synuclein, parkin and other genes associated with PD or other neurodegenerative disorders.

The *parkin* gene may have a more central role in PD than we currently realise. Certainly parkin can act to ubiquitinate α -synuclein *in vitro* (Shimura *et al.*, 2001) and abrogates α -synuclein-induced phenotypes *in vivo* (Chapters 3 and 4, Haywood and Staveley, 2004;

Yang *et al.*, 2003). Recently, parkin was shown to interact with DJ-1 in varying ways that depended on the aberration in the DJ-1 gene (Moore *et al.*, 2005). Parkin has also been shown to have a novel, proteasomal-independent, catalytic activity that mediates a non-classical, K63-linked ubiquitin multi-chain assembly on synphilin-1 that is distinct from the classical, degradation-associated, K48-linked ubiquitination (Lim *et al.*, 2005a; Lim *et al.*, 2005b). Interestingly, two other PD-linked gene products, α -synuclein and UchL1, have recently also been associated with K63-linked ubiquitination (Lim *et al.*, 2005b). Understanding how parkin interacts with other genes associated with inherited forms of PD I believe may be integral to understanding PD. We still do not understand why dopaminergic neurons are selectively vulnerable in PD patients.

The ability to generate a potential model of toxic protein-induced cell death, through *Gal4* expression in specific parts of the *Drosophila* anatomy, has two resulting points of interest. First of all, it indicates that excessive expression of *Gal4* has consequences. Any genetic analysis/research utilising this system must ensure that it is properly controlled, particularly when using cell death genes under the control of the UAS/Gal4 bipartite system. As the expression of *Gal4* is fundamental in the expression of *Gal4* expression alone. We have shown that expression of *Gal4* is not as benign as was first thought and a solid understanding of the nature of the phenotypes that arise from *Gal4* expression is required (Chapters 6 and 7). Second, that *Gal4* expression could be used to generate a potential model of toxic protein-induced disease is another useful tool in the tool belt of a scientist. While further work needs to be done to examine this potential

model it could be used in genetic screens to find modifiers of the Gal4 phenotype. Expression of genes that modify this phenotype may have a role in toxic protein-induced diseases and could provide further insight into the basic mechanisms that cause such diseases.

As we found that expression of *parkin* can suppress the Gal4 phenotype further examination of this interaction may provide a wealth of information (Chapter 8). Do these two proteins physically interact? Does parkin ubiquitinate Gal4 *in vivo*? By analysing the properties of Gal4, when co-expressed with *parkin*, we should be able to determine if it can be ubiquitinated. Should parkin ubiquitinate Gal4 directly then further analysis, through mutagenesis studies, will yield clues to the substrate specificity function of parkin. In conclusion selective targeting of toxic proteins for degradation appears to be a useful approach to address neurodegenerative conditions such as PD. The use of parkin and its apparent involvement in many aspects of inherited PD could lead to the development of therapeutic strategies.

9.5 References

- Auluck, P. K., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Pharmacological prevention of Parkinson disease in Drosophila. *Nat Med* **8**, 1185-6.
- Chung, K. K., Zhang, Y., Lim, K. L., Tanaka, Y., Huang, H., Gao, J., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2001). Parkin ubiquitinates the alphasynuclein-interacting protein, synphilin- 1: implications for Lewy-body formation in Parkinson disease. *Nat Med* 7, 1144-50.
- Feany, M. B., and Bender, W. W. (2000). A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* **404**, 394-398.
- Forman, M. S., Lee, V. M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2003). 'Unfolding' pathways in neurodegenerative disease. *Trends Neurosci* 26, 407-10.
- Haywood, A. F., and Staveley, B. E. (2004). parkin counteracts symptoms in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *BMC Neurosci* 5, 14.

- Haywood, A. F. M., and Staveley, B. E. (2006). parkin negates mutant a-synucleininduced degeneration in a fly model of Parkinson's. *Genome* in press.
- Imai, Y., Soda, M., and Takahashi, R. (2000). Parkin suppresses unfolded protein stressinduced cell death through Its E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase activity. *J Biol Chem* 275, 35661-35664.
- Kramer, J. M., and Staveley, B. E. (2003). GAL4 causes developmental defects and apoptosis when expressed in the developing eye of Drosophila melanogaster. *Genet Mol Res* **2**, 43-7.
- Lim, K. L., Chew, K. C., Tan, J. M., Wang, C., Chung, K. K., Zhang, Y., Tanaka, Y., Smith, W., Engelender, S., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2005a). Parkin mediates nonclassical, proteasomal-independent ubiquitination of synphilin-1: implications for Lewy body formation. *J Neurosci* 25, 2002-9.
- Lim, K. L., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2005b). Parkin-mediated lysine 63linked polyubiquitination: A link to protein inclusions formation in Parkinson's and other conformational diseases? *Neurobiol Aging*.
- Moore, D. J., Zhang, L., Troncoso, J., Lee, M. K., Hattori, N., Mizuno, Y., Dawson, T. M., and Dawson, V. L. (2005). Association of DJ-1 and parkin mediated by pathogenic DJ-1 mutations and oxidative stress. *Hum Mol Genet* 14, 71-84.
- Mori, K. (2000). Tripartite management of unfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell* **101**, 451-454.
- Pendleton, R. G., Parvez, F., Sayed, M., and Hillman, R. (2002). Effects of pharmacological agents upon a transgenic model of Parkinson's disease in Drosophila melanogaster. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 300, 91-6.
- Rao, R. V., Ellerby, H. M., and Bredesen, D. E. (2004). Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program. *Cell Death Differ* **11**, 372-80.
- Sheppard, G. A. (2003). The toxic effects of Gal4 over-expression in Drosophila melanogaster. *In* "Department of Biochemistry", Vol. B. Sc. Hon. Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador.
- Shimura, H., Schlossmacher, M. G., Hattori, N., Frosch, M. P., Trockenbacher, A., Schneider, R., Mizuno, Y., Kosik, K. S., and Selkoe, D. J. (2001). Ubiquitination of a new form of alpha-synuclein by parkin from human brain: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 293, 263-9.
- Yang, Y., Nishimura, I., Imai, Y., Takahashi, R., and Lu, B. (2003). Parkin suppresses dopaminergic neuron-selective neurotoxicity induced by Pael-R in Drosophila. *Neuron* **37**, 911-24.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, J., Chung, K. K., Huang, H., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2000). Parkin functions as an E2-dependent ubiquitin- protein ligase and promotes the degradation of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 13354-9.

Appendix I - Overexpression of *phosphatidylinositol 3-OH kinase (PI3K)* in dopaminergic neurons dramatically reduces life span and climbing ability in *Drosophila melanogaster*

Lisa D. Saunders, Annika F.M. Haywood, and Brian E. Staveley.

Note this paper was published in the Drosophila Information Service (Saunders et al.,

2003)

Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a prevalent neurodegenerative disease marked by the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons that is accompanied by resting tremors and other symptoms. The study of organismal models of PD, including the well-studied α synucleinopathic model, in *Drosophila melanogaster* has lead to a greater understanding of the biological basis of the disease. In an attempt to establish additional *Drosophila* models of PD via the manipulation of cell survival signaling, the UAS/Gal4 system was used to overexpress two forms of *phosphatidylinositol 3-OH kinase* (*P13K*) in the dopaminergic neurons of flies. The directed expression of *P13K* in this manner dramatically reduces life span and climbing ability while an inhibitory form, a dominant negative version of *P13K*, reduces life span in a far less dramatic way. These novel models should provide the basis for a series of investigations into the role of cell survival signaling in Parkinson's disease.

Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a common, age-related neurodegenerative disease characterized by muscle rigidity, resting tremors, and postural instability (Lansbury and Brice, 2002; Spacey and Wood, 1999). Post-mortem analysis of patients reveals that PD appears to be due to the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons in the *substantia nigra* region of the brain. The underlying cause of this distinctive loss of neurons may be classified as either sporadic or familial in origin. Although the underlying mechanism is not well understood, defects in several genes as well as a number of environmental toxins have been linked to the cause of this neuronal loss. As it is difficult to research the

pathogenesis of PD in living patients, a number of animal models (Dawson, 2000; Hashimoto *et al.*, 2003), including a well-established *Drosophila* model (Feany and Bender, 2000), have been developed to investigate aspects of PD.

A promising series of investigations into the biological basis of PD have been initiated through the generation of a PD model by the conditional expression of human α synuclein in transgenic Drosophila (Feany and Bender, 2000). The expression of α synuclein, in both a pan-neural and dopaminergic neuron-specific manner, produces an age-dependent loss of dopaminergic neurons. The neuronal loss is accompanied with the premature loss of climbing ability and the formation of cytoplasmic inclusions in the dopaminergic neurons. In addition, expression of α -synuclein in the developing eye results in an age-dependent degeneration of the retina. In further experiments, the dopamine precursor levodopa, dopamine receptor agonists, and the anticholinergic agent atropine act to counter the age-dependent loss of climbing ability (Pendleton et al., 2002). Expression of the molecular chaperone gene hsp70 with α -synuclein prevents dopaminergic neuronal degeneration (Auluck et al., 2002). The expression of parkin can suppress the loss of dopaminergic neurons (Yang et al., 2003), the premature loss of climbing ability and the age-dependent degeneration of the retina (Haywood and Staveley, in preparation) induced by α -synuclein in *Drosophila*. In addition, another model has recently been established with the description of mutants in the *parkin* gene (Greene et al., 2003). The Drosophila models of PD are proving to be very effective tools in the investigation of the biological basis of this disease.

Dopaminergic neurons may die as a result of apoptosis in PD (for review Lev et al., 2003). This process may be caused by the accumulation of endogenous toxic proteins or environmental toxins. Exploration of the role of cell survival signaling in the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons in *Drosophila* may provide further insight into the basis of PD. The insulin receptor (InR)/ PI3 kinase/ akt anti-apoptotic signaling pathway is highly conserved between mammals and Drosophila (Datta et al., 1999; Fernandez et al., 1995; Leevers et al., 1996; Oldham et al., 2000; Staveley et al., 1998). To initiate this signal, insulin or insulin-like growth factors bind to receptor tyrosine kinases at the cell membrane and activate the protein phosphatidylinositol 3-OH kinase (PI3K) via phosphorylation (Vanhaesebroeck et al., 2001). In turn, PI3K phosphorylates inositol lipids on the inner membrane of the cell, which leads to the co-localization of akt and phosphoinosotide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK-1) and, as a result, the activation of akt. An anti-apoptotic or cell survival signal results from activated akt. Consequently, manipulation of the InR/PI3K/akt pathway in the dopaminergic neurons of Drosophila melanogaster may produce selective apoptotic death of those cells and produce flies with symptoms similar to other models of PD. As PI3K is an essential component of this pathway, it is a good candidate for manipulating cell survival signaling.

The UAS/Gal4 ectopic expression system (Brand and Perrimon, 1993) was used to overexpress wild type and mutant forms of PI3K in the dopaminergic neurons. Climbing and longevity assays were performed and the results demonstrate that overexpression of PI3K dramatically reduces climbing ability and viability of the flies from the time of eclosion. Overexpression of an inhibitory PI3K also reduces the length of life span when compared to controls but does not prematurely reduce the climbing ability of the flies.

Materials and Methods

Fly stocks and culture: The *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}* and *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}* transgenic lines (Li *et al.*, 2000) were obtained from Dr. Jay Hirsh at the Department of Biology, University of Virginia. The *UAS-PI3K-dp110* and *UAS-PI3K-dp110^{D954A}* flies were obtained from Dr. Sally Leevers at the Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research and the Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University College, London. The w^{1118} strain was provided by Dr. Howard D. Lipshitz of the Hospital for Sick Children and the University of Toronto. All flies were cultured on standard cornmeal/yeast/agar medium at 25°C.

Transgene Expression: The UAS/Gal4 ectopic expression system (Brand and Perrimon, 1993) was used to express wild type and mutant forms *of phosphatidylinositol 3-OH kinase (PI3K*; Leevers *et al.*, 1996) in the dopaminergic neurons using *Ddc-Gal4* transgenes (Li *et al.*, 2000). The progeny of crosses of the *Ddc-Gal4* lines to transgenic *UAS-PI3K-dp110* flies will express the catalytic subunit of PI3K (dp110) in the dopaminergic neurons. The same *Ddc-Gal4* driver lines were crossed to *UAS-PI3K* $dp110^{D954A}$ to induce the expression of an inhibitory form of this subunit of PI3K. The controls were produced by crossing w^{1118} to the *Ddc-Gal4* transgenics.

Aging assay: Adult male flies were collected within 24 hours of eclosion and scored for viability every two to three days to determine the adult life span characteristics as

previously described (Staveley *et al.*, 1990). Flies were maintained under non-crowded conditions of approximately 5 to 15 individuals upon standard cornmeal/yeast/agar medium at 25° C.

Climbing assay: The climbing ability of male flies of the same age were assayed every four days to determine their locomotor abilities throughout their life span as previously described (Feany and Bender, 2000). To be precise, the proportion of a cohort of ten (or fewer) flies to climb a distance of 8 centimetres within a period of 18 seconds was determined. In total, twenty trials were carried out at each time point. From this data, the average number of flies that successfully completed the climb at each time point was calculated.

Data Analysis: Data from the aging and climbing assays were compiled and graphed using Microsoft Excel.

Results and Discussion

Transgenic flies expressing one of the two forms of *PI3K* in the dopaminergic neurons were tested for viability with an aging assay (Figure AI-1). Overexpression of *PI3K*dp110 with both of the *Ddc-Gal4* transgenes greatly decreased the life span of the flies. The median age of survival (50%) for flies expressing *PI3K-dp110* was between 18 and 20 days when expressed by *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}* and between 12 and 14 days when expressed by *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}*. Expression of the dominant negative form of *PI3K* (*PI3K-dp110^{D954A}*) produced a small decrease in survival. The median age of survival (50%) was between



Figure AI- 1: Survival of flies expressing wild type (*PI3K*) and dominant negative PI3K (*PI3K*^{DN}) in the dopaminergic neurons.

Adult males that express the wild type version of *PI3K* in the dopaminergic neurons *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/UAS-PI3K-dp110* (large solid triangles) and *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/UAS-PI3K-dp110* (large solid squares) have a greatly reduced life span when compared to controls. Expression of the dominant negative *PI3K* transgene under the same circumstances, *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/UAS-PI3K-dp110*^{D954A} (small solid triangles) and *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/UAS-PI3K-dp110*^{D954A} (small solid squares), leads to a slightly reduced life span, when compared to the *Gal4*-expressing controls, *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/+*: (small open triangles) and *Ddc-Gal4^{4.30}/UAS-PI3K-dp110*, n = 122; *Ddc-Gal4^{4.30}/UAS-PI3K-dp110*, n = 129; *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/UAS-PI3K-dp110*^{D954A}, n = 107; *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/UAS-PI3K-dp110*^{D954A}, n = 195; *Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/+*, n = 119; *Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/+*, n = 280.

58 and 60 days under the control of the Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}$ driver and between 68 and 70 days with the Ddc- $Gal4^{4.3D}$ transgene. The Gal4 heterozygotes, Ddc- $Gal4^{4.3D}$ and Ddc- $Gal4^{4.36}$, were tested and the results show a median age of survival between 70 and 72 days for the former and between 82 and 84 for the latter. The expression of PI3K- $dp110^{D954A}$ resulted in a decrease in median survival of approximately 14 days when compared to the Ddc-Gal4heterozygote controls while the expression of PI3K-dp110 resulted in a major decrease in life span by between 50 and 70 days.

To monitor the effects upon locomotion, the climbing ability of these transgenic flies were tested (Figure AI-2). Flies that express the wild type version PI3K-dp110 under the control of *Ddc-Gal4* climb poorly while those expressing PI3K- $dp110^{D954A}$ appear to climb as well as the controls throughout the duration of the experiment.

In addition to the defects in climbing ability and the greatly reduced life span, flies overexpressing *PI3K-dp110* exhibit a blistered wing phenotype shortly after emerging from the pupae cases (data not shown). Within a day or so, most adult *Ddc-Gal4/UAS-PI3K-dp110* flies have shriveled wings. This defect may be indirectly caused by neuronal loss.



Figure AI- 2: The measurement of climbing ability of flies expressing wild type (*PI3K*) and dominant negative *PI3K* (*PI3K*^{DN}) in the dopaminergic neurons. Adult males that express the wild type version of *PI3K* in the dopaminergic neurons Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/UAS-PI3K-dp110 (large solid triangles) and Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/UAS-PI3K-dp110 (large solid squares) have a poor ability to climb when compared to controls. Expression of the dominant negative PI3K transgene under the same circumstances, Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/UAS-PI3K-dp110^{D954A} (small solid triangles) and Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/UAS-PI3K-dp110^{D954A} (small solid triangles) and Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/UAS-PI3K-dp110^{D954A} (small solid squares), maintain the ability to climb in a manner similar to the controls, Ddc-Gal4^{4.36}/+ (small open triangles) and Ddc-Gal4^{4.3D}/+ (small open squares). The climbing experiments were discontinued when death reduced the number significantly.

Overexpression of *PI3K* in the dopaminergic neuron during development may lead to selective apoptotic death of these neurons. Contrary to the common role of *PI3K* in supporting cell survival, overexpression of *PI3K* has been shown to cause apoptosis. In cultured rat embryo fibroblasts, prolonged activation of *PI3K* in the absence of other stimuli (serum) results in apoptosis (Klippel *et al.*, 1998). Prolonged overexpression of *PI3K* increases in the proportion of cells in G2/M and induces apoptosis in *Drosophila* (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2001). This may be due to deregulation of the cell cycle or the induction of an apoptotic feedback program by the hyperactivation of many signaling pathways. The selective loss of the dopaminergic neurons via a cell death mechanism could be responsible for the observed poor climbing ability and reduced life span of adult *Ddc-Gal4/UAS-PI3K-dp110* flies.

Although active PI3K acts to prevent apoptosis of cells, larvae survive for twenty days without PI3K (Weinkove *et al.*, 1999). In contrast, the inhibitory form of *PI3K* has been shown to cause cell death when expressed in embryos (Scanga *et al.*, 2000). In our experiments, the expression level of *PI3K-dp110*^{D954A} may have been sufficient to induce neuronal loss only in late life. The small decrease in life span may have resulted from this late loss in neurons in the *Ddc-Gal4/UAS-PI3K- dp110*^{D954A} flies.

In conclusion, this experiment analyzed the viability and climbing ability of flies expressing two forms of *PI3K* in an attempt to model characteristics of Parkinson's disease. Unexpectedly, the ectopic expression of *PI3K* showed dramatically reduced life span coupled with poor climbing ability. Unlike Parkinson disease patients, the locomotor dysfunction begins early, rather than arising in a gradual manner, which may be due to the larval expression of *P13K*, and subsequent loss of dopaminergic neurons at that stage. The dominant negative version of *P13K* reduced life span by a modest amount but did not seem to influence the ability of these flies to climb. In summary, our experiments show that the overexpression of *P13K* in dopaminergic neurons can produce defects that may recapitulate some aspects of Parkinson's disease *in Drosophila melanogaster*.

References

- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Chaperone suppression of alpha-synuclein toxicity in a Drosophila model for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 295, 865-8.
- Brand, A. H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development* **118**, 401-415.
- Datta, S. R., Brunet, A., and Greenberg, M. E. (1999). Cellular survival: a play in three Akts. *Genes Dev* 13, 2905-27.
- Dawson, T. M. (2000). New Animal Models for Parkinson's Disease. Cell 101, 115-118.
- Feany, M. B., and Bender, W. W. (2000). A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* **404**, 394-398.
- Fernandez, R., Tabarini, D., Azpiazu, N., Frasch, M., and Schlessinger, J. (1995). The Drosophila insulin receptor homolog: a gene essential for embryonic development encodes two receptor isoforms with different signaling potential. *EMBO J* 14, 3373-84.
- Greene, J. C., Whitworth, A. J., Kuo, I., Andrews, L. A., Feany, M. B., and Pallanck, L. J. (2003). Mitochondrial pathology and apoptotic muscle degeneration in Drosophila parkin mutants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **100**, 4078-4083.
- Hashimoto, M., Rockenstein, E., Crews, L., and Masliah, E. (2003). Role of protein aggregation in mitochondrial dysfunction and neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. *Neuromolecular Med* **4**, 21-36.
- Klippel, A., Escobedo, M. A., Wachowicz, M. S., Apell, G., Brown, T. W., Giedlin, M. A., Kavanaugh, W. M., and Williams, L. T. (1998). Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase is sufficient for cell cycle entry and promotes cellular changes characteristic of oncogenic transformation. *Mol Cell Biol* 18, 5699-711.
- Lansbury, P. T., Jr., and Brice, A. (2002). Genetics of Parkinson's disease and biochemical studies of implicated gene products. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 14, 653-60.

- Leevers, S. J., Weinkove, D., MacDougall, L. K., Hafen, E., and Waterfield, M. D. (1996). The Drosophila phosphoinositide 3-kinase Dp110 promotes cell growth. *EMBO J* **15**, 6584-94.
- Lev, N., Melamed, E., and Offen, D. (2003). Apoptosis and Parkinson's disease. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* 27, 245-50.
- Li, H., Chaney, S., Roberts, I. J., Forte, M., and Hirsh, J. (2000). Ectopic G-protein expression in dopamine and serotonin neurons blocks cocaine sensitization in Drosophila melanogaster. *Curr Biol* **10**, 211-214.
- Oldham, S., Bohni, R., Stocker, H., Brogiolo, W., and Hafen, E. (2000). Genetic control of size in Drosophila. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **355**, 945-52.
- Pendleton, R. G., Rasheed, A., Sardina, T., Tully, T., and Hillman, R. (2002). Effects of tyrosine hydroxylase mutants on locomotor activity in Drosophila: a study in functional genomics. *Behav Genet* 32, 89-94.
- Scanga, S. E., Ruel, L., Binari, R. C., Snow, B., Stambolic, V., Bouchard, D., Peters, M., Calvieri, B., Mak, T. W., Woodgett, J. R., and Manoukian, A. S. (2000). The conserved PI3'K/PTEN/Akt signaling pathway regulates both cell size and survival in Drosophila. *Oncogene* 19, 3971-7.
- Spacey, S. D., and Wood, N. W. (1999). The genetics of Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 12, 427-432.
- Staveley, B. E., Phillips, J. P., and Hilliker, A. J. (1990). Phenotypic consequences of copper-zinc superoxide dismutase overexpression in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genome* 33, 867-72.
- Staveley, B. E., Ruel, L., Jin, J., Stambolic, V., Mastronardi, F. G., Heitzler, P., Woodgett, J. R., and Manoukian, A. S. (1998). Genetic analysis of protein kinase B (AKT) in Drosophila. *Current Biology* 8, 599-602.
- Vanhaesebroeck, B., Leevers, S. J., Ahmadi, K., Timms, J., Katso, R., Driscoll, P. C., Woscholski, R., Parker, P. J., and Waterfield, M. D. (2001). Synthesis and function of 3-phosphorylated inositol lipids. *Annu Rev Biochem* 70, 535-602.
- Weinkove, D., Neufeld, T. P., Twardzik, T., Waterfield, M. D., and Leevers, S. J. (1999). Regulation of imaginal disc cell size, cell number and organ size by Drosophila class I(A) phosphoinositide 3-kinase and its adaptor. *Curr Biol* 9, 1019-29.
- Yang, Y., Nishimura, I., Imai, Y., Takahashi, R., and Lu, B. (2003). Parkin suppresses dopaminergic neuron-selective neurotoxicity induced by Pael-R in Drosophila. *Neuron* 37, 911-24.